BOSTON COLLEGE Lynch School of Education and Human Development

Department of Counseling, Developmental, and Educational Psychology

Counseling Psychology

"THEY'RE OUT TO TAKE AWAY YOUR SANITY": AN ECOLOGICAL INVESTIGATION OF GASLIGHTING IN INTIMATE PARTNER VIOLENCE

Dissertation

By

HELEN PAULA HAILES

submitted in partial fulfillment
of the requirements for the degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
May 2022

Abstract

"THEY'RE OUT TO TAKE AWAY YOUR SANITY":

AN ECOLOGICAL INVESTIGATION OF GASLIGHTING

IN INTIMATE PARTNER VIOLENCE

Helen Paula Hailes

Dissertation Chair: Dr. Lisa A. Goodman

The term "gaslighting" has become increasingly ubiquitous in popular media, from self-help literature to political analysis (Carpenter, 2018; Sarkis, 2018; Stern, 2018). It is also beginning to gain traction in the medical and mental health establishment. For instance, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) now includes gaslighting under its definition of psychological aggression (Breiding, Basile, Smith, Black, & Mahendra, 2015). However, empirical research on this topic lags behind popular discourse. There is desperate need for definition clarity and empirical evidence of this uniquely epistemic form of harm, otherwise the term gaslighting runs the risk of becoming vague, diffuse, and almost meaninglessness.

Gaslighting in intimate partner violence (IPV) is the original and paradigmatic case of gaslighting (Cukor, 1944; Hamilton, 2015). A small handful of recent studies have investigated gaslighting in this context, and more general psychological abuse literature has hinted at it by other names (e.g. Bhatti et al., 2021; Ferraro, 2006; Sweet, 2019; Tolman, 1992). However, the present study represents the first systematic, empirical, psychological investigation of gaslighting in IPV. Study aims were to illuminate the tactics, effects, and long-term implications of gaslighting in IPV, as well as ecological factors that may influence survivor experiences.

Fifteen IPV survivors were interviewed about their gaslighting experiences, and data were analyzed using qualitative descriptive methods. Three clusters of findings emerged:

Survivors described (1) the gaslighting process, (2) their long-term responses to gaslighting, and (3) the influence of ecological factors on self-trust. This study represents a substantial advancement in the literature on gaslighting in IPV, demonstrating the validity of a new two-part model of gaslighting, describing survivors' subjective experiences of self-doubt, and illuminating how gaslighting fits into broader patterns of power and control in IPV. It also provides the first account of what survivor resistance to gaslighting might look like, and how other factors in survivors' lives may hinder or promote resistance. Implications for research and practice are discussed in the context of study limitations.

Acknowledgments

I am immeasurably grateful to all of the people who have directly and indirectly touched this dissertation. First and foremost, I would like to thank each of the survivors who shared their stories with me, for this study. You are all Cassandras—courageous and wise truth-tellers. This research belongs to you, far more than it does to me. Countless other people have also shared their experiences of gaslighting with me, throughout this process, and I am grateful to each and everyone one of them.

I have received support and guidance on this project from some of the smartest, kindest people I know, beginning with my mentor and dissertation chair, Dr. Lisa Goodman. I am constantly amazed by your sharpness of thought and energizer-bunny work-ethic. You are the embodiment of what it means to be an advocate: For domestic violence survivors, for your students and mentees, and for everyone who is lucky enough to have you in their life. I promise you never gaslit me once.

So many others have contributed their time, energy, and ideas to this project. I would like to thank the members of my dissertation committee: Dr. Usha Tummala-Narra, who has been one of my most important research and clinical mentors; Dr. Claire Donohue, whose interdisciplinary insights have sharpened my understanding of gaslighting; and Dr. Jim Mahalik, who so graciously joined my committee at the eleventh hour. This project has also been shaped by the members of my advisory board: Erin Miller, Oona Metz, and Dr. Leslie Lebowitz, you are like the council of wise women who I call on, when I am lost in the woods.

My incredible research assistants, Shelby Holmes, Carolina Batlle, Brianne Lee, Carly Fisher, and Colleen Sliney transcribed and coded interviews with me. This study simply would not have existed without your hard work, enthusiasm, and intellectual curiosity. Emily Zhang

and Ally Slocum, the other members of Lisa's research team, have spent hours on zoom thinking and talking about gaslighting with me and have cheered me on throughout this whole process.

Dr. Jacqui Lerner, Dr. Jon Wargo, and the members of my dissertation seminar and advanced qualitative methods class nurtured my dissertation preproposal and proposal, when they were only tiny seeds of ideas.

Colleagues from the Brookline Center, CAC, and DVPERC generously took the time to help me recruit participants for my study, even as the world around us was on fire. Your work is the inspiration and motivation for this research. The Melissa Institute for Violence Prevention and Treatment, APA Division 35, and the Lynch School of Education provided generous grantfunding for this study, allowing me to expand the scope of my research even more than I had ever imagined. Thank you for believing in this project.

More people than I can name have mentored me throughout my doctoral training, and made me the researcher and clinician I am today. It has been an honor to go through this program alongside the members of my doctoral cohort: Laura Gonzalez, Lianzhe Zheng, Lily Konowitz, and Whitney Erby. I have learned so much from each of you, and field of psychology is better because you are part of it. I have had the privilege to train under phenomenal clinicians at the Brookline Center, particularly Dr. Larry Abrams and Frances Lang. I cannot image better role models of clinical wisdom, attunement, and intuition. My therapy clients have also been some of my greatest teachers. I am awed and humbled that you entrusted me with your stories. Thank you also to the wildly talented and kind-hearted Counseling Psychology faculty at Boston College who have mentored me throughout my doctoral training, including Dr. Belle Liang, Dr. Nettie Greenstein, and Dr. Paul Poteat.

None of my research would be possible without the undying support of friends who are really family: Melissa Bellah, Hannah McGinty, and Steven Lauterwasser. Thank you, in particular, to Stephen Marrone, my personal philosophy consultant, and all of the other friends who I have roped into talking about gaslighting with me over the past few years. Special shout out to the Oxford crew, and, of course, my pandemic pod-mates, Ariana Nedelman and Ben Paul. When you moved into the neighborhood, a ray of light broke through the clouds. Cosmo, my sweet kitten, has been constantly by my side throughout this project, curled up asleep beside me even as I write this.

I am so grateful for the unconditional and unrelenting support of my family. Mum and Dad, you have made every risk and opportunity possible. There are no words to thank you enough. To my sister, Amy, with whom I share everything: I grow closer to you every year and learn more about myself through you.

Finally, I would like to thank my fiancé Daan: Liefje, you are a fount of endless patience and mirth. You make clear everything that feels murky and light everything that feels heavy. I look forward to a lifetime of special projects with you.

Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
Epistemic Injustice	2
History of Gaslighting	3
Defining Gaslighting.	5
Ecological Approach	6
Current Study	7
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	8
Gaslighting in IPV	8
Psychological Abuse	9
Coercive Control	12
Part A of Gaslighting: Tactics	13
Part B of Gaslighting: Self-Doubt	17
The Ecology of Gaslighting	21
Individual Ecological Factors	22
Interpersonal Ecological Factors	23
Ideological Ecological Factors	24
Institutional Ecological Factors	27
Sensitizing Theory: Relational Cultural Theory	29
Study Aims in the Context of Literature	30
CHAPTER 3: METHODS	32
Study Design	32
Participants	33
Recruitment	35
The Domestic Violence Program Evaluation and Research Collaborative	35
The Custody Awareness Collaborative	36
The Brookline Center for Community Mental Health	37
Other Recruitment and Sampling Methods	37
Procedures	38

Participant Screening	38
Interview Process	38
Analysis	40
Coding	40
Saturation	41
Dissemination	41
Trustworthiness	42
Data	42
Interpretation	43
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS	49
Cluster I: The Gaslighting Process	49
Harming Partners Used a Range of Gaslighting Tactics	49
Gaslighting Tactics Targeted Multiple Domains	52
Survivors Experienced Self-Doubt in One Or More Domains	57
Survivors Experienced Varying Degrees of Self-Doubt	63
Survivors' Self-Doubt Led to Harmful Corollaries	66
Cluster II: Long-Term Responses to Gaslighting	70
Survivors Experienced Lingering Self-Doubt	70
Survivors Regained Self-Trust	73
Cluster III: Ecological Influences on Survivor Self-Doubt	75
Individual Factors	75
Interpersonal Factors: Harming Partners	80
Interpersonal Factors: Social Supports	84
Interpersonal/Institutional Factors: System Players	87
Ideological Factors	89
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION	92
Cluster I: The Mechanisms and Processes of Gaslighting	94
Part A: Gaslighting Tactics	94
Part B: Degrees of Doubt and Resistance	96
Harmful Impacts of Gaslighting	100

Cluster II: Long-Term Responses.	100
Lingering Self-Doubt	101
Regaining Self-Trust	101
Cluster III: Impacts of Ecological Factors	102
Individual Ecology	103
Interpersonal Ecology: Harming Partners	104
Interpersonal Ecology: Social Support	105
Interpersonal/Institutional Ecology: System Players	107
Ideological Ecology	108
Summary of Key Findings	110
Gaslighting In the Context of Relational Cultural Theory	111
How RCT Illuminates Gaslighting	111
How Gaslighting Illuminates RCT: Epistemic Mutuality	114
Limitations	116
Implications	119
Implications for Practice	119
Implications for Research	121
Conclusion	124
REFERENCES	126
APPENDICES	147
Appendix A: Screening Protocol	147
Appendix B: Interview Protocol	148
Appendix C: Table of Clusters, Categories, and Codes	152

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

We live in a unique moment in U.S. history, where fresh epistemic issues are in the news every day: Sexual assault survivors are coming forward to describe stories of being unheard or disbelieved, sometimes causing them to doubt their own experience (e.g. Kitchener, 2018); Subtle, everyday forms of racial oppression (microaggressions) are regularly denied and dismissed (e.g. DeAngelis, 2009); "Fake news" and "deep fakes" undermine our ability to trust news media and even our own eyes (e.g. Toews, 2020); World leaders lie with impunity about undeniable truths, eroding our sense of what it is to "know" something (e.g. Garber, 2019).

In this particular historical moment, when the question of whose stories are trustworthy is at the forefront, it is no wonder that the term "gaslighting" has become a popular buzzword in self-help books and popular culture (Carpenter, 2018; Churchwell, 2018; Fett, 2015; Sarkis, 2018; Waldman, 2016) or that the Oxford Dictionaries recently named it a contender for word of the year (Stanley-Becker, 2018). Gaslighting refers to a specific form of abuse where one person manipulates another person – often, though not always verbally – causing them to doubt their own fundamental memories, perceptions, or beliefs (Spear, 2019). Gaslighting has been anecdotally documented within families (Westover, 2018), in the context of therapy (Elise, 2015), and even in the political sphere (Carpenter, 2018).

Perhaps the clearest and most dramatic form of gaslighting occurs in the context of intimate partner violence (IPV). Over 80% of IPV survivors have been called "crazy" by their partners (Warshaw, Lyon, Philips, Bland, & Hooper, 2014), and there is some evidence that the experience of being made to feel "crazy" or to doubt oneself is central to a harming partner's ability to maintain power and control over an IPV survivor (Loring, 1994; Tolman, 1992). While the term gaslighting arises occasionally in IPV scholarly literature or is alluded to by other

names (e.g. Burnett, 2020; Ferraro, 2006; Hightower, 2017; Lammers, Ritchie, & Robertson, 2005; Sweet, 2019), no psychological study to-date has systematically and rigorously studied its dynamics. Through interviews with IPV survivors, this study aims to illuminate the mechanisms and impacts of gaslighting in the context of partner violence, described further below. The following introductory chapter provides a framework by introducing gaslighting as a case study of epistemic injustice, reviewing a brief history and definition of gaslighting, and situating it within the context of ecological systems theory.

Epistemic Injustice

Philosopher Miranda Fricker, who coined the term epistemic injustice and remains the most prominent theorist on the subject, defines it as a specific kind of injustice, "in which someone is wronged specifically in her capacity as a knower" (Fricker, 2007, p. 20). Fricker outlines two primary forms of epistemic injustice: Testimonial injustice and hermeneutic injustice (Fricker, 2007). Testimonial injustice occurs when a listener unfairly disbelieves or discredits a speaker, perhaps due to harmful stereotypes or preconceptions they may hold about the speaker. Testimonial injustice is often the product of prejudice and inequitable power dynamics, such that people with certain social identities are more likely to be believed than others. Hermeneutic injustice, on the other hand, occurs when someone finds themselves unable to fully understand or describe their experience because society's collective conceptual frameworks fail to provide adequate concepts or language. For instance, before the concept of domestic violence entered popular discourse, women who were beaten up by their husbands may have experienced not only the physical harm of the assault but also the hermeneutic harm of being unable to conceptualize or communicate their experiences (Fricker, 2007).

Because gaslighting targets an individual's trust in their own memories, perceptions, and core beliefs – their ability to know– it can be considered a form of epistemic injustice (Abramson, 2014; Spear, 2019). Abramson (2014) argues that gaslighting, though similar to testimonial injustice, goes beyond it: While testimonial injustice involves discrediting or disbelief, gaslighting obliterates even the possibility of testimonial injustice by rendering the gaslightee incapable of even mounting a discreditable challenge or disagreement, such that "Successful gaslighting... might aptly be thought of as a kind of existential silencing" (Abramson, 2014, pp. 17-18). Andrew Spear (2019) refers to the fundamental belief that one's mental abilities are functioning and generally able to make accurate inferences about the world as "epistemic self-trust," and, this paper will refer to its absence as "epistemic self-doubt" (or "self-trust" and "self-doubt," for short.) These philosophical accounts suggest that gaslighting is a particularly grave form of epistemic injustice, whereby the gaslightee is not only discredited by others but fundamentally loses the ability to credit their *own* experiences of the world. To better understand gaslighting, we turn now to the origins and history of the concept.

History of Gaslighting

The term gaslighting can be traced back to the 1938 play *Gaslight* by British dramatist Patrick Hamilton, which was later adapted into the popular 1944 film by the same name, starring Ingrid Bergman and Charles Boyer (Cukor, 1944; Hamilton, 2015). In the film, Boyer plays an international criminal who tricks Bergman into marrying him and gradually convinces her that she is losing her mind as a tactic for controlling her, so he can search undisturbed for (and ultimately inherit) the family jewels hidden in her attic. He slowly chips away at her sense of self-trust by hiding things and convincing her that she lost them and by telling others that she is unstable and unwell, so that they unwittingly collude in his manipulation. Every night, when

Boyer's character sneaks to the attic to search for the jewels, the gaslights in the house flicker, as he turns on the attic lights. Unaware of his deception, Bergman' character begins to believe that she is imagining the flicker of the gaslights because her basic sensory perception has become unreliable. Thus, the concept of gaslighting came into being: "A match struck; a metaphor flickered to life. *Gas Light* reminded viewers how uniquely terrifying it can be to mistrust the evidence of your senses" (Waldman, 2016).

The concept of gaslighting has appeared occasionally in psychological case studies since the mid-20th century but did not gain traction in the popular lexicon until the early 21st century. In the early case studies, gaslighting primarily referred to instances where a woman was hospitalized for mental illness by her husband, only for it to be later revealed that the husband had deliberately and wrongly convinced her that she was mentally ill (Barton & Whitehead, 1969; Gass & Nichols, 1988; C. G. Smith & Sinanan, 1972). Case studies also described gaslighting in the context of elderly care homes and within psychotherapy and psychoanalysis (Dorpat, 1994; Lund & Gardiner, 1977). Psychoanalysts conceptualized gaslighting as a form of projective identification, in which the gaslighter seeks to avoid their own anxiety and lost sense of reality by projecting these onto the gaslightee, who internalizes or introjects them (Calef & Weinshel, 1981).

Robin Stern's popular (2007) self-help book, *The Gaslight Effect: How to Spot and Survive the Hidden Manipulation Others Use to Control Your Life* brought the term gaslighting out of psychotherapy journals and into popular discourse. In the second edition of the book, Stern refers to gaslighting as "an idea whose time has come" (Stern, 2018, p. XIX) and explains that gaslighting "results from a relationship between two people: a gaslighter, who needs to be right in order to preserve his own sense of self and his sense of having power in the world; and a

gaslightee, who allows the gaslighter to define her sense of reality because she idealizes him and seeks his approval" (Stern, 2018, p. 3). Since then, gaslighting has been the subject of further self-help and pop-psychology literature (e.g. Fett, 2015; Sarkis, 2018), popular memoirs (Leve, 2017; Machado, 2019; Westover, 2018), and Trump-era political discourse (Carpenter, 2018; Waldman, 2016). While they have popularized the concept of gaslighting, these genres of literature are not grounded in rigorous empirical research and sometimes suffer from lack of precision and clarity around what gaslighting *actually is*. Despite the growing proliferation of popular gaslighting literature, scholarly work on the subject remains thin.

Defining Gaslighting

One of the shortcomings of the non-academic gaslighting literature has been the relatively loose definition of gaslighting, for instance conflating it with derision or discrediting (e.g. Churchwell, 2018) or defining it broadly enough to include most forms of psychological abuse (e.g. Sarkis, 2018; Stern, 2018). To distinguish gaslighting from other forms of testimonial injustice or other forms of abuse, and consistent with conceptualizations of the broader construct of psychological abuse, which has previously been defined in terms of a combination of *both* behavior and impact (Chang, 1996; Lammers et al., 2005; Loring, 1994; O'Leary, 1999; Tolman, 1992), this study proposes a two-part model of gaslighting: (a) The harming partner directly and repeatedly, either by word or action, challenges the survivor's perceptions, memories, and/or core narratives and beliefs, such that (b) the survivor experiences self-doubt about what they perceive, remember, or believe. A third stage follows but is not definitional to gaslighting, in which the gaslightee either does or does not regain self-trust. It is worth noting that, while the second part (self-doubt) is necessary for a given dynamic to constitute as gaslighting, it is not an inevitable outcome of the first part (challenging tactics). One could imagine a whole range of

other responses, such as incredulity, anger, or distress in the face of the very same tactics that might lead another person (or the same person in a different context) to experience self-doubt. *Lack* of self-doubt in the face of gaslighting tactics—unwillingness to concede to another person's attempts to override one's perceptions of reality—might be thought of as a form of "resistance."

Ecological Approach

This study approaches gaslighting from an ecological systems framework for human development and psychology, which understands that individuals exist within many levels of dynamic, transactional systems, from intimate partnerships and families, to neighborhoods, schools, and workplaces, to whole nations, cultures, and societies (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). Trauma scholars have adapted this model to frame survivors' experiences of trauma, resilience, and recovery within complex multicultural and ecological systems (Harvey, 1996, 2007; Tummala-Narra, 2007). According to this ecological approach, trauma, resilience, and recovery all occur through reciprocal interactions between individuals and their contexts at the individual, interpersonal, ideological, and institutional levels. In this view, an person's history and background, experiences of social connection or isolation, family system, cultural values and identities, and experiences of systemic oppression are all central to understanding the processes by which trauma, resilience, and recovery—and, in this case, specifically gaslighting—unfold. While the current study focuses particularly on gaslighting as a phenomenon that occurs in intimate relationships, various ecological factors shape these relationships. Therefore, this study will attend to contextual factors insofar as they contribute to gaslighting in IPV.

Current Study

The current study aims to understand the dynamic process of gaslighting in the context of IPV, as a case study of gaslighting and of epistemic injustice, more broadly. Through qualitative interviews with IPV survivors, this study develops a rich and nuanced account of their experiences of gaslighting tactics in intimate relationships and ensuing self-doubt (or resistance to self-doubt.) Survivors further described the long-term implications of gaslighting on their self-trust and well-being. Finally, this study investigates the influence of various ecological factors, including individual, interpersonal, ideological, and institutional factors, on the gaslighting process. The findings of this study may contribute to advocacy for and development of needed supports and services for survivors of gaslighting.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

The following chapter consists of three main sections: The first provides an overview of the existing empirical literature on gaslighting in IPV, including the broader context of psychological abuse and coercive control and more specific literature on the tactics of gaslighting (part A) and impact on epistemic self-trust (part B). The second section reviews literature on the role of ecological factors in gaslighting at the individual, interpersonal, ideological, and institutional levels. The third section introduces Relational Cultural Theory (RCT) as a sensitizing theory for this study. Finally, study aims are reviewed in the context of the literature.

Gaslighting in IPV

IPV is defined as "physical violence, sexual violence, stalking and psychological aggression (including coercive tactics) by a current or former partner (i.e. spouse, boyfriend/girlfriend, dating partner, or ongoing sexual partner)" (Breiding et al., 2015), and it has reached epidemic proportions, both in the United States and around the world (Alhabib, Nur, & Jones, 2010; Carney & Barner, 2012; Devries et al., 2013). In the United States, 37.3% of women report having experienced physical violence, sexual violence or stalking by an intimate partner (S. Smith et al., 2017), and IPV survivors experience a range of harmful sequelae, including profound emotional distress and mental illness (e.g. Lagdon, Armour, & Stringer, 2014), physical health problems (e.g. Plichta, 2004), social isolation (e.g. Goodman, Smyth, Borges, & Singer, 2009), financial hardship (e.g. Tolman, 2011), and mortality due to suicide and homicide (e.g. McLaughlin, O'Carroll, & O'Connor, 2012; Stöckl et al., 2013).

While, until recently, the term gaslighting has appeared sparsely in the IPV literature, survivors and scholars have documented its presence under various other names, referring to the

"mind games," "unreality," "surreality," and "crazy-making" of abuse (Eisenberg, 2011; Ferraro, 2006; Hayes & Jeffries, 2016; Loring, 1994; Williamson, 2010). The following sections discuss the distinct but related constructs of psychological abuse and coercive control, and where gaslighting fits into them. A review is then provided of the existing literature on gaslighting abuse tactics (part A) and the impact of these tactics on survivors' epistemic self-trust (part B). (No literature to-date has explored what follows these two parts, that is, the extent to which survivors are able to re-establish epistemic self-trust.) This body of literature is sparse and fragmented, but, taken together, it begins to sketch a picture of gaslighting as a common and destructive phenomenon in many abusive relationships.

Psychological Abuse

Psychological abuse, along with physical, sexual, and economic abuse, is one of the major forms of IPV. It is so prevalent, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) estimates that almost half of all men and women in the United States have experienced at least one form of it (Breiding, Chen, & Black, 2014). Psychological abuse also often co-occurs with other forms of IPV. For instance, one study of over 3000 IPV survivors found that 93% of relationships involving physical abuse also include psychological abuse (Henning & Klesges, 2003).

From the early days of the domestic violence (DV)¹ movement, the negative effects of psychological abuse have been clear: In Lenore Walker's influential (1979) book, *The Battered Woman*, survivors described verbal harassment and psychological humiliation as the worst parts of their IPV experience. Since then, psychological abuse has been associated with a range of

¹ The term IPV is more commonly used in academic literature, while the term DV is typically favored by practice communities. The two will be used synonymously and interchangeably throughout this study.

negative sequalae including posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD; Dutton, Goodman, & Bennett, 1999; Mechanic, Weaver, & Resick, 2008; Street & Arias, 2001), depression (Coker et al., 2002; Dutton et al., 1999; Mechanic et al., 2008; Orava, McLeod, & Sharpe, 1996; Sackett & Saunders, 1999; Taft et al., 2006), anxiety (Taft et al., 2006), substance abuse (Coker et al., 2002; Straight, Harper, & Arias, 2003), low self-esteem (Aguilar & Nightingale, 1994; Sackett & Saunders, 1999), and negative health outcomes, such as chronic pain, arthritis, stomach ulcers, and gastrointestinal issues (Coker et al., 2002; Coker, Smith, Bethea, King, & McKeown, 2000; Straight et al., 2003). Some studies suggest that psychological abuse is at least, if not more, strongly associated with negative outcomes than physical or sexual abuse (e.g. Marshall, 1999; O'Leary, 1999).

Risk and protective factors that contribute to the likelihood of psychological abuse in intimate partnerships have been less clearly documented than for physical and sexual abuse, perhaps, at least in part, because its intangible nature makes it harder to identify and predict (Schumacher, Smith Slep, & Heyman, 2001). However, some research does suggest that a range of individual, relationship, and social factors can contribute to risk of experiencing psychological abuse: One meta-analysis found that women's drug use was associated with experiencing psychological aggression (Moore et al., 2008), and a systematic review of longitudinal studies found that harming partners' histories of adolescent physical abuse, as well as both partners' histories of behavioral problems and substance use in adolescence predicted psychological abuse (Costa et al., 2015). One large population-based phone survey found that women who had experienced physical abuse as children or witnessed violence between their parents were three-to-four times more likely to experience psychological abuse from a partner (Bensley, Van Eenwyk, & Wynkoop Simmons, 2003). Relational factors, such as communication patterns and

attachment styles, have also been associated with psychological abuse (Schumacher et al., 2001), and low socioeconomic status (SES) in a survivor's family of origin has also been associated with later risk of experiencing psychological abuse (Costa et al., 2015).

Psychological abuse exists within a network of other similar and overlapping constructs, such as emotional abuse, psychological maltreatment, and psychological aggression (Breiding et al., 2014; Follingstad & DeHart, 2000; Loring, 1994; Tolman, 1989). In his early and influential work on psychological abuse, Richard Tolman identified challenges to defining and assessing its boundaries, pointing out, for instance, that a single abusive behavior may have multiple overlapping impacts on a survivor and that abusive intent can be difficult to assess (Tolman, 1992). For these reasons, he suggested that psychological abuse be assessed through a combination of the "topography" of the act *and* the harm that it causes (Tolman, 1992). He also noted that, broadly construed, psychological abuse can include any behavior that intends to or causes harm, but that such behavior is almost inevitable in all human relationships. Thus a more clinically useful definition of psychological abuse recognizes a continuum of abuse and seeks to identify patterns of maltreatment (Lammers et al., 2005; Loring, 1994; Tolman, 1992). Loring has also provided the following helpful definition of emotional abuse:

Emotional abuse is an ongoing process in which one individual systematically diminishes and destroys the inner self of another. The essential ideas, feelings, perceptions and personality characteristics of the victim are constantly belittled. Eventually the victim begins to experience these aspects of the self as seriously eroded or absent. (Loring, 1994, p.1)

The diminishment of self, identified here as a key characteristic of psychological abuse, aligns with the epistemic self-doubt and "existential silencing" of gaslighting, described above

(Abramson, 2014). This suggests that gaslighting fits into the broader construct of IPV as an aspect of psychological abuse.

Coercive Control

According to a coercive control model of IPV, which developed out of the Duluth model (Pence & Paymar, 1986, 1993), abusive relationships are best understood as a pervasive pattern of power and control, accomplished through actual or threatened violence, along with a variety of other tactics, including isolation, intimidation, and withholding resources (Dutton & Goodman, 2005; E. Stark, 2007). While psychological abuse, as described above, specifically concerns those aspects of abuse that inflict psychological (as opposed to, e.g. physical) harm, coercive control can encompass physical, sexual, and psychological abuse tactics (Dutton & Goodman, 2005; E. Stark, 2007). Furthermore, all instances of psychological abuse do not necessarily fall under the umbrella of coercive control. For example, a harming partner may scream insults at a survivor that feel harmful but which may or may not fit into a broader pattern of controlling dynamics.

Based on a review of these related constructs, it seems that gaslighting in IPV would always constitute a form of psychological abuse, but it may not *always* constitute a form of coercive control. It is possible to imagine a situation in which one person undermines another's memories, perceptions, or beliefs for reasons other than control, for instance, just out of a vindictive desire to cause harm. However, in most cases, gaslighting is likely to fit into a larger pattern of power and control. In particular, coercive and controlling partners may employ gaslighting as an effective tool for "wearing down" a survivor's resistance and resolve, as suggested by Dutton and Goodman (2005), thereby rendering the survivor more susceptible to other forms of

manipulation and control. Similarly, other tactics of coercive control may wear down a survivor's *epistemic* resolve, making them more vulnerable to gaslighting.

Part A of Gaslighting: Tactics

In one early and influential book chapter on psychological abuse, Richard Tolman (1992) identified psychological destabilization as one of the primary categories of psychological abuse and described it in the following way:

Psychological destabilization denotes acts that leave the victim unclear as to the validity of her own perceptions. This feeling may be brought about by the abuser's lying, manipulation, or other deliberate attempts to confuse the victim. An abuser may deny his actions or blame his partner for his abusive behavior or angry moods. He may lie about his whereabouts or activities and then accuse her of overreacting when she confronts him. He may hide her possessions and deny any knowledge of their whereabouts. (Tolman, 1992, p. 297)

This description of manipulative abuse tactics that cause the survivor to question the validity of their own perceptions maps clearly onto the conceptualization of gaslighting advanced in this paper. It speaks to both the tactics of gaslighting (denying, lying, hiding things, accusing of overreacting, etc.) and the survivor's resulting loss of trust in their own perceptions. Each is explored in more detail below.

Identifying Gaslighting Tactics. Gaslighting abuse tactics may be challenging to identify because the same tactic may lead to different – and sometimes even multiple – outcomes (Tolman, 1992). For instance, in the quotation above, the tactics of lying, blaming, and denying actions could be abusive for reasons other than that they make a survivor experience epistemic

self-doubt. A survivor who has been lied to may feel angry, trapped, or powerless, without feeling like they are losing their mind, in which case, the abuse is not gaslighting. Because of this, examples of gaslighting tactics in the literature only become evident when accompanied by a description of lost self-trust. Marti Tamm Loring's (1994) book, Emotional Abuse, provided multiple such examples: In one, a husband repeatedly told his wife, "You don't think that" or, "You don't feel that way" (p. 5). However, it only becomes clear that this was gaslighting because the wife, in response, began to question what she really thought and felt. In another example, a harming partner insulted a survivor's intelligence, and she started to believe him: "When Albert called her 'stupid,' 'worthless,' and 'the brain-dead one,' Terry felt as if she were 'coming apart': 'I come apart and lose touch with parts of myself—my ideas, values, and my style of behaving. I don't know myself anymore" (Loring, 1994, p. 5). Other examples include a story of man denying his partner's recollection of events until she began to doubt her own sanity, from a book on IPV (Jacobson & Gottman, 1998), and a survivor's recollection, "I felt I was nuts... He would always say, you are wrong, it did not happen, you said this... I would try to explain, but he would keep saying I was wrong, over and over, until I could not work out whether I had said it or not" (Lammers et al., 2005, p. 46), from a qualitative study on emotional abuse. In all of these instances, the harming partner's lies, denials, and accusations only became gaslighting when the survivor began to doubt themselves.

Assessment of Tactics. While abuse tactics can only truly be identified as gaslighting based on a survivor's response to them, some measures of psychological abuse have included items about tactics that hint at its presence. The commonly used Psychological Maltreatment of Women Inventory (PMWI) was developed using a six-item conceptual framework, one of which was, "Defining her reality, getting her to question her own perceptions, judgments" (Tolman,

1989). This suggests that the concept of gaslighting was central to this measure from its inception, and, indeed measure items such as, "Told me my feelings were crazy" and "Tried to make me feel crazy" (Tolman, 1989) would at least be likely to contribute to epistemic self-doubt. A validation study of the PMWI found significant differences in these items that referenced crazy-making tactics between participants who had been "battered" versus those who were merely in "distressed" relationships (that participants found dissatisfactory but not abusive; Tolman, 1999), making these clear tactics of abuse.

Other psychological abuse measures also include items related to gaslighting, particularly in reference to crazy-making. The Profile of Psychological Abuse identifies four factors of psychological abuse: jealous control, ignore, ridicule traits, and criticize behavior (Sackett & Saunders, 1999). One of the items loading on the ridicule traits factor is, "Suggest you're crazy or stupid", and this ridicule factor has been found to be the most strongly associated with the severity of psychological abuse (Sackett & Saunders, 1999). The Emotional Abuse Questionnaire (EAQ) includes similar items such as, "Tries to convince other people that I am crazy", "Tells other people that there's something wrong with me", and "Questions my sanity" Jacobson & Gottman, 1998). The Questionnaire on Psychological Abuse (QPA), a measure that directly names gaslighting as a subfactor of blaming behaviors, includes under the gaslighting subfactor items such as, "My partner denied having told me things that he really had told me," and, "My partner accused me of constantly imagining things that hadn't happened" (Moreno-Manso, Blázquez-Alonso, García-Baamonde, Guerrero-Barona, & Pozueco-Romero, 2014). Finally, The Subtle and Overt Psychological Abuse of Women Scale (SOPAS) assesses not only the harming partner's behavior but also the survivor's response, including the item, "Say something that makes you worry about whether you're going crazy" (Marshall, 1999). While

imperfect metrics of the presence of gaslighting, these measures suggest that at least gaslightinglike behaviors and consequences have been documented and assessed by researchers seeking to quantify the experience of psychological abuse.

Prevalence of Tactics. While no research to date has explicitly assessed the prevalence of gaslighting among IPV survivors or the general population, a small number of studies begin to indicate just how common it might be, though only through the measurement of potential tactics, without data on survivor responses. A 2014 report by the National Domestic Violence Hotline (NDVH) and the National Center on Domestic Violence, Trauma, and Mental Health (NCDVTMH) assessed the prevalence of mental health coercion among callers to the NDVH (Warshaw et al., 2014). The authors defined mental health coercion as using mental health treatment or diagnoses as a means to control a partner (Warshaw et al., 2014), and a follow up toolkit on screening, assessing and counseling for mental health coercion explicitly listed gaslighting as a form of mental health coercion (Warshaw & Tinnon, 2018). The NDVH survey included a sample of 2,875 callers, and three of the five mental health coercion questions that participants responded to pertained to the crazy-making dynamics of gaslighting: The first question asked, "Has your partner or ex-partner ever called you 'crazy' or accused you of being 'crazy'?" (Warshaw et al., 2014, p. 5), and 85.7% of respondents replied "yes". For the second question, 50.2% of participants responded affirmatively to, "Has your partner or ex-partner ever threatened to report to authorities that you are 'crazy' to keep you from getting something you want or need (e.g. custody of children, medication, protective order?)" (Warshaw et al., 2014, p. 5), and, for the third question, 73.8% responded affirmatively to, "Do you think your partner or ex-partner has ever deliberately done things to make you feel like you are going crazy or losing your mind?" (Warshaw et al., 2014, p. 5). A smaller quantitative study of 82 Norwegian women

seeking help for IPV produced similar findings: 76.3% endorsed the question, "Told me my feelings were irrational or crazy" and 73.8% endorsed the question, "Tried to make me feel crazy" (Alsaker, Moen, Morken, & Baste, 2018, p. 3). While the questions in these studies do not directly assess the presence of gaslighting, since they do not reference survivor responses to the abuse tactics, they do tentatively suggest the high prevalence of gaslighting in abusive relationships, as well as the use gaslighting tactics to limit survivor access to critical resources.

Part B of Gaslighting: Self-Doubt

The second part of gaslighting, as described above, involves the survivor's loss of epistemic self-trust, in response to gaslighting tactics. While loss of self-trust is not an inevitable consequence of these tactics, it is a necessary component of the definition of gaslighting. One study on self-trust defined it as, "an unquestioned acceptance of one's thoughts, feelings, and emotions as valid indicators of the individual's subjective experience" (Pasveer, 1997, p. 10), or, simply put, "a leap of faith that 'I am who I am and I feel what I feel'" (Pasveer, 1997, p. 11). This definition aligns with the concept of *epistemic* self-trust employed in this paper, that is, trusting oneself as a knower- which may be distinct from, e.g. trusting oneself to have good taste or to be a morally good person. More fundamental than these other forms of self-trust, epistemic self-trust is concerned with a person's core ability to make valid or accurate assessments about themselves and the world. The following sections review different ways that the epistemic self-doubt of gaslighting has been described in existing literature, include a sense of surreality, self-questioning, feeling crazy, and total destruction of sense of self.

Surreality. Gaslighting by another name becomes evident in the literature when survivors describe a loss of epistemic self-trust. In some cases, this self-doubt may be described as a sense of losing touch with reality or warped reality. In her (2006) book *Neither Angels Nor*

Demons, on IPV survivors who have committed crimes, Kathleen Ferraro dedicated an entire chapter to the ways that survivors negotiate "surreality" in abusive relationships. The book presented findings from interviews with 45 survivors, who described the way that harming partners played "mind games" that challenged their memories and perceptions and undermined their confidence in their ability to know what was real (Ferraro, 2006). They described gradually starting to doubt their sensory perceptions and other sources of knowledge about the world, questioning assumptions that once seemed certain and safe, and experiencing feelings of confusion and betrayal. In these interviews, survivors began to sketch out poignant and terrifying descriptions of what gaslighting can do to a person's grasp on reality, described as the "violent imposition of one person's perception on the other," a sense that their "basic view of the world [has been] turned upside down," or simply feeling that they are living in a "twilight zone" (Ferraro, 2006, pp. 73-74). Similar to Ferraro's depiction of "surreality," another study, presenting findings from oral history interviews with IPV survivors, described an experience of "unreality" (Williamson, 2010). In this study, survivors recounted the ways that their harming partners' reality came to define their own, as well as the ways they manipulated survivors into appearing crazy in public, in front of other people (Williamson, 2010).

Questioning. Along with experiencing distorted reality, gaslighting survivors also describe generally doubting themselves as thinkers and actors. For instance, survivors describe losing the ability to trust their own judgments and perform simple tasks. In one example, a survivor began to feel incompetent even to make simple decisions like choosing the right kind of bread or candy bar at the store (P. H. Smith, Tessaro, & Earp, 1995). In another paper on gender, power dynamics, and appraisal distortions in IPV, which mentioned gaslighting by name, participants described grappling with distorted thoughts about themselves and noticing persistent

ramifications both inside and outside of their relationships (Whiting, Oka, & Fife, 2012). As one survivor simply described it, "He caused me to question a lot of what I believe" (Whiting, Oka, & Fife, 2012, p. 142). A dissertation, which also explicitly used the term gaslighting, described the implications of this form of abuse for adults who experienced gaslighting as children:

The results of this study suggest that an individual whose knowledge and feelings have been repeatedly "gaslighted" may come to devalue her own sense-making. She may develop a disposition or stance of self-doubt and disbelief in her ability to know, feel or need which is then brought into adulthood (Portnow, 1996, p. 262)

A survivor's sense that they are an unreliable thinker, perceiver, or knower, as in these examples, may ultimately translate into a feeling of overall madness or craziness, described in the following section.

Crazy-Making. Survivors frequently describe feeling crazy or insane, as a result of gaslighting. A review of qualitative literature on psychological abuse from the 1990s found that psychological abuse survivors would often report feeling confused and brainwashed, doubting their own sanity (Sleutel, 1998). "It's striking," the author remarked, "that statements from women in multiple studies... used identical terminology of brainwashing, going crazy, and being a prisoner" (Sleutel, 1998, p. 527). This notion of feeling crazy due of abuse has emerged in other places as well: In one mixed-methods dissertation, which referred to gaslighting by name as a form of covert abuse, ten out of ten interview participants endorsed chronic gaslighting and described questioning their sanity both within and outside of the abusive relationship (Burnett, 2020). In another dissertation on survivors' experiences of leaving emotionally abusive relationships, one participant used similar language, describing their abuse as "crazy-making" (Eisenberg, 2011). In a recent auto-ethnographic account of IPV as a form of domestic terrorism,

two survivor-scholars also used the term "crazy-making" to describe the way their harming partners questioned their perceptions until they felt like they were losing their minds, explaining, "Above all else, this tactic undermines a woman's sense of self, her mental health, and her confidence in both her memory and her reasoning powers" (Hayes & Jeffries, 2016, p. 47). The authors agreed that, of all of the forms of abuse they experienced, this "crazy-making" was the most destructive to their autonomy and sense of self (Hayes & Jeffries, 2016).

Destruction of Self. The "existential silencing" of gaslighting, theorized by Abramson (2014), also emerges in empirical literature when survivors describe losing their identity or sense of self due to gaslighting. One qualitative study depicted the ways that survivors' identities were fundamentally altered by the negative images of themselves that harming partners reflected (P. H. Smith et al., 1995). One survivor described being broken down by the negative things the harming partner said to her, until she began to doubt whether she could do anything right or whether she was any good at all (P. H. Smith et al., 1995). Another survivor in this study became so confused by the abuse tactics that she found herself wondering, "God, maybe I am a slut; maybe I am a whore" (Smith et al., 1995, p. 177). One study of overt and subtle forms of psychological abuse among low-income women illustrated the way that subtle forms of abuse (such as undermining and discrediting) can lead survivors to question their perceptions. The study found that this kind of subtle psychological undermining – which closely mirrored gaslighting – was the most consistent, strong predictor of negative mental health, physical health, and relationship outcomes (e.g. reported relationship quality and duration) (Marshall, 1999). Discussing these findings, the author noted:

Apparently, having one's sense of self weakened results in the broadest effects. A sense of self is central to factors associated with personal well-being and is important for

judgments about one's relationship. It is likely that most aspects of life could be affected if a woman did not believe in herself or trust her own perceptions. (Marshall, 1999, p. 81)

Another study pointed out the critical distinction between the loss of self-identity and loss of self-esteem. The difference, the authors argued is that self-identity pertains to how well one *knows* oneself, while self-esteem pertains to how much one *values* oneself (Lammers et al., 2005). They argued that self-identity is more fundamental to a person's wellbeing, because one can know oneself without thinking very highly of oneself, but a person who feels confusion about who they are does not even have a foundation upon which to build self-esteem (Lammers et al., 2005).

As described above, it seems that gaslighting has the potential to introduce doubt into all areas of a survivor's life, including their fundamental sense of self. Given this, it is not surprising that, as one book on IPV has suggested, when survivors begin to doubt their own grasp on reality, they also lose autonomy and independence in their relationships, becoming increasingly reliant on harming partners and therefore increasingly under their control (Jacobson & Gottman, 1998). In this way, gaslighting may deepen dynamics of power and control through "wearing down" the survivor, as previously discussed in Dutton and Goodman's (2005) formulation of coercive control.

The Ecology of Gaslighting

Having reviewed the literature on both the tactics and psychological experience of gaslighting, the following section turns to the small body of literature that suggests how ecological factors may impact a survivor's self-doubt or resistance to doubt. It will present ecological factors at the individual level (e.g. aspects of a survivor's personality or experiences), interpersonal level (e.g. relationships with family and friends), ideological level (e.g. stereotypes

or other internalized social beliefs), and institutional level (e.g. interactions with societal systems or institutions.)

Individual Ecological Factors

Although no prior research has investigated individual factors that might contribute to gaslighting dynamics specifically, existing psychological abuse literature suggests potential avenues for exploration. For instance, childhood abuse experiences have been documented as a risk factor for adulthood experiences of psychological abuse, in the context of IPV (Bensley et al., 2003), and one qualitative dissertation on self-doubt in adults found that some people who reported feeling gaslit by their families, as children, later described a disposition towards selfdoubt, which they carried into their adult relationships (Portnow, 1996). Taken together, these findings might suggest that survivors with histories of gaslighting or other similar forms of psychological abuse may be more likely to experience self-doubt when a harming partner attempts to gaslight them. Mental health history may be a related source of vulnerability for selfdoubt: If a harming partner attempts to convince a survivor that they are "crazy" or in some way unreliable or unbelievable, anything from a survivor's history that lends credence to this accusation may exacerbate vulnerability. Instances of harming partners making these kinds of accusations against survivors with histories of severe mental illness, such as dissociative identity disorder (DID) have been documented in the literature (Snyder, 2018), and one can imagine that any experiences of psychosis, dissociation, or "breaking" with reality in any other way might contribute to self-doubt.

Individual factors that contribute to a survivor's ability to resist self-doubt or regain selftrust have not been studied before, but it possible that, rather than exacerbating vulnerability, prior experiences of gaslighting or other psychological abuse may instead help survivors to recognize gaslighting tactics when the occur, strengthening their ability to resist. It may also be the case that a certain degree of underlying self-confidence, whether characterological or grounded in prior experiences, may be valuable for maintaining trust in one's own perceptions, when challenged.

Interpersonal Ecological Factors

In an ecological framework, interpersonal factors are those that pertain to survivors' relationships, social supports, and immediate community. Family ties, experiences of social isolation, and strong neighborhood community are all examples of the kinds of ecological factors that might be relevant to a survivor's development of epistemic self-doubt or resistance in the face of gaslighting tactics. In one article on IPV survivors, the authors asserted, "Depending on the social supports available, and the personality of the battered woman, the man's accusations of inadequacy may assume the status of truth" (Ferraro & Johnson, 1983, p. 330). This quotation speaks to the impacts of social isolation on a survivor's ability to fend off the gaslighter's imposed version of reality. Harming partners may try to deepen survivor isolation by engaging in gaslighting tactics that involve other people. For instance, they may tell others that there is something wrong with the survivor (Jacobson & Gottman, 1998) or try to manipulate the survivor into appearing crazy in front of other people or in public places (Williamson, 2010). These tactics might literally isolate survivors from their friends and family, or they may simply make survivors feel more confused and alone.

While isolation may deepen self-doubt, social supports may help survivors fight against it. Previous research suggests that abusive behaviors may be easier for a survivor to rationalize when they are socially isolated, because other people may provide valuable counter-narratives and conflicting perspectives (Ferraro & Johnson, 1983). Supportive and trusting others have

played a critical role in gaslighting survivors' resistance to self-doubt since the original example of gaslighting: At the end of the film *Gaslight* the main character only begins to believe her own senses again and challenge her husband when a Scotland Yard inspector arrives and corroborates her perceptions, reaffirming her sense of reality for the first time since the gaslighting abuse began (Cukor, 1944). Relational re-establishment of self-trust emerges in the empirical literature as well. One book on emotional abuse argued that survivors who have lost their sense of self may begin to re-establish this through other, non-abusive relationships (Loring, 1994), and group therapy has been suggested to be particularly effective in the aftermath of psychological abuse, because survivors can mutually validate one-another's experiences (Sackett & Saunders, 1999). Survivors may experience relief when they find others who can name, understand, and validate their otherwise "mystifying" experiences of abuse (Tolman, 1992, p. 298). Outside of the realm of IPV, survivors of childhood gaslighting have endorsed, "the extreme importance of having their needs and sense-making validated by significant and respected others as an instrumental and necessary first step to their reclaiming their own sense-making" (Portnow, 1996, p. 270). In two case examples of gaslighting by therapists or psychoanalysts, survivors have described a sense of mistrust pervading and effecting all other relationships, though both also described beginning the process of healing through other relationships as well (Elise, 2015; Tormoen, 2019). Taken together, these examples begin to sketch an image of how social supports (or, conversely, social isolation) may profoundly influence a survivor's gaslighting experience.

Ideological Ecological Factors

The previous section addressed role of relationships, connection, and social support in survivor experiences of self-doubt and self-trust during the gaslighting process. However, one cannot fully understand these kinds of interpersonal factors without also considering ideological

factors – that is, the internalized and socialized beliefs, values, and images, that pervade interpersonal relationships. One sociological interview study with gaslighting survivors documented the way that harming partners employed stereotypes about women as hysterical, aggressive, or "crazy bitches," particularly in the context of motherhood and female sexuality, to subordinate and control them (Sweet, 2019). These tactics were intersectional as well, for instance specifically invoking negative stereotypes about Black women's sexuality or mothering (Sweet, 2019). Research has also documented harming partners' invocation of stereotypes about survivors with mental illness or disabilities as crazy, sick, or unreliable (Bonomi, Nichols, Kammes, & Green, 2017; Snyder, 2018; Warshaw et al., 2014). For instance, in one grounded theory study of IPV survivors with DID, a survivor recalls the harming partner saying, "I can't trust you because you're crazy. You have all these problems, so how do I know that anything you say is true?" (Snyder, 2018, p. 30).

The invocation of harmful stereotypes as a gaslighting tactic has also been documented outside of the context of IPV. For instance, a few articles have referred to the concept of racial gaslighting (Davis & Ernst, 2019; Roberts & Carter Andrews, 2013; Tobias & Joseph, 2018; Young & Young, 2019). Davis and Ernst (2019) describe racial gaslighting as the way that white supremacy is normalized and perpetuated by pathologizing and punishing people of Color who resist it. While these articles describe the ways that institutions dismiss or discredit people of Color, they do not explicitly address any subjective experiences of diminished self-trust as a result of these policies and behaviors. Experiences of heightened self-doubt in response to these kinds of racial gaslighting tactics certainly exist, but further research is needed explore how this process unfolds.

Harmful stereotypes may be weaponized as a gaslighting tactic, but these ideological factors may also, separately, contribute to survivor self-doubt. A number of scholars and researchers have documented women's internalization of lower worth, value, or importance than men, rendering them more susceptible to self-doubt in heterosexual relationships (Lammers et al., 2005; Loring, 1994; Miller, 1986). Conversely, men may also be susceptible to self-doubt when female harming partners invoke traditional gender roles to try to convince both him and others that he must be the real perpetrator (Lien & Lorentzen, 2019). Survivors struggling with substance abuse may also be particularly likely to experience self-doubt (Ferraro, 2006), as may survivors with a range of other marginalized identities and experiences, such as survivors with immigrant backgrounds. For instance, Sweet (2019) provided an example of a survivor who was successfully convinced by the harming partner that she was the source of all the problems in their relationship because, as an immigrant, she simply did not understand how relationships worked in the United States. Finally, one study of childhood gaslighting survivors found that, in general, survivors who identified as "outsiders" or felt "othered" in some way (e.g. race, sexual orientation, nationality) were particularly likely to devalue their own thinking and find it difficult to defend (Portnow, 1996).

No literature to-date has explored the ways that internalized ideologies influence resistance or redevelopment of self-trust. However, Black feminist scholar, Patricia Hill Collins (1986) has spoken to the importance of self-definition in the face of stereotypes, to minimize the negative impacts of internalized oppression on self-esteem (e.g. "I am not just an angry Black woman. I am a woman who is assertive and clear.") This form of self-definition and affirmation, as well as receiving similar messages from one's community and broader culture, may be important to gaslighting resistance.

Institutional Ecological Factors

A survivor's interactions with institutions, such as the law enforcement and legal systems, health and mental healthcare providers, and immigration, child protection, and welfare services may also influence the gaslighting process. The following section explores some of the ways that these systems may exacerbate or mitigate the harms of gaslighting.

Institutional betrayal occurs when, "trusted and powerful institutions (schools, churches, military, government) [act] in ways that visit harm upon those dependent on them for safety and wellbeing" (C. P. Smith & Freyd, 2014, p.575). Institutional betrayal, like other forms of betrayal trauma (Freyd, 1996), can lead to serious harms because survivors often trust and depend on systems and reach out to them for help (C. P. Smith & Freyd, 2014). Consequently, institutional betrayal may be understood as a form of secondary assault and has been associated with increased depression, anxiety, and PTSD symptoms among IPV survivors (Lee, Micol, & Davis, 2019). Credibility discounting, which occurs when institutions and institutional gatekeepers dismiss or disbelieve survivors' stories is a form of institutional betrayal (Epstein & Goodman, 2019), and gaslighters may invoke "institutional vulnerabilities" to discredit survivors as a gaslighting tactic (Sweet, 2019). For instance, they may leverage stereotypes of Black women as "aggressive" in order to convince the police that the gaslightee is actually the one causing harm (Sweet, 2019). Similarly, they may also use a survivor's undocumented status to convince them that they are being surveilled by Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE) or threaten to institutionalize survivors who have mental illness (Sweet, 2019). While these kinds of threats and undermining behaviors do not necessarily constitute gaslighting, they are more likely to succeed in inducing self-doubt when institutional responses appear to confirm them.

Recent research on the legal system has suggested that institutional betrayal may perpetuate survivor self-doubt: In an interview study examining IPV survivors' experiences of litigation abuse in family court, one interviewee described her hunger to be believed and validated by the court system after being discredited for so long by her ex-partner and the devastation she felt when the court system disbelieved her, furthering undermining her experiences and perceptions (Gutowski & Goodman, 2020). Another recent paper discussed the impacts of survivor credibility discounting in court, as illustrated by one of the authors' legal clients:

[My harming partner] found my most vulnerable point, a tiny kernel of insecurity in my soul, and he exploited it to trap me in a painfully confusing state of nearly total self-doubt. I spent more than a year working so hard to regain trust in my own perceptions and my own humanity. But now I find that the legal system doubts me too, even as I share my more painful and personal story. I get hurt again and again. It is painfully confusing and I find that it has caused a significant regression in my overall healing (Epstein & Goodman, 2019, p. 50).

This quotation provides a small window into the ways that institutions may impede the re-establishment of self-trust by colluding with the harming partner's gaslighting tactics.

The opposite of institutional betrayal is the institutional courage of transparent and accountable systems (Freyd, 2014; Freyd & Smidt, 2019). While it has not been studied, institutional courage may serve as a buffer against the harms of gaslighting, as opposed to colluding with it. For instance, while custody litigation can be a retraumatizing experience for many IPV survivors, those who do encounter supportive court actors have reported feeling heard and supported, and experiencing gratitude and relief (Gutowski & Goodman, 2020). These kinds

of positive system interactions may provide survivors with critical validation for re-establishing self-trust. When institutional actors believe survivors, this may increase their confidence that they can believe themselves.

Sensitizing Theory: Relational Cultural Theory

Sensitizing concepts refer to concepts that provide scholars with preliminary guidance or starting points for their empirical research (Blumer, 1954; Bowen, 2006; Charmaz, 2003). Rather than insisting on "prescriptions of what to see, sensitizing concepts merely suggest directions along which to look" (Blumer, 1954, p. 7). Relational Cultural Theory (RCT), the primary sensitizing theory for this study, was initially developed by a group women psychologists in the 1970s and 80s, in response to a sense that most theorists in the mental health field gravely misunderstood women, most notably mistaking their need for and investment in relationships for a weakness, when in fact it is often a source of strength (Jordan, 2017; Miller, 1976). Contrary to previous models of human development, which conceptualize human flourishing through individuation, separation, and self-actualization – e.g. a "separate self" – RCT emphasizes the central role of mutual, growth-fostering relationships in wellbeing across the lifespan – e.g. a "self-in-relation" (Jordan, 2001, 2017; Miller, 1991; Surrey, 1991).

The current study was informed by RCT's emphasis on (a) the importance of relationships for the development of individuals' sense of self and (b) the role of systemic power and marginalization in shaping relationships. According to RCT, people seek connection in relationships, but fleeting moments of disconnection—lapses in empathy or mutual understanding—are inevitable. However, when people experience *chronic* disconnection, they begin to retreat or hide parts of themselves, even attempting to "twist" who they are, to better align with the others around them (Jordan, 2001, 2017). From an RCT lens, gaslighting might be

thought of as a form of chronic disconnection, an *epistemic* disconnection, whereby a person fundamentally "twists" their perceptions of themselves or the world. However, RCT also suggests that "real connection creates healing" (Jordan, 2017, p. 241), and "the fragmentation caused by the violation of human bonds can only be healed by new and healing human bonds" (Birrell & Freyd, 2006, p. 57; Comstock et al., 2008). Therefore, while an individual's trust in their own knowing abilities might be destroyed interpersonally, through gaslighting, perhaps it could also be healed or rebuilt interpersonally, through validation and support from others outside of the gaslighting relationship. This conceptual framework aligns with the literature reviewed above on interpersonal ecological factors in gaslighting.

RCT theorists further describe the ways that controlling images—harmful social stereotypes that are leveraged against marginalized groups in order to control their behavior—may lead people to have a distorted perception of themselves (Collins, 1986, 2000; Comstock et al., 2008; Miller, 2008; M. Walker, 1999; M. Walker & Miller, 2001). This distorted sense of self may heighten a survivor's susceptibility to self-doubt in the face of gaslighting tactics, particularly when harming partners leverage controlling images as part of the abuse. The element of RCT supports the above discussion of ideological ecological factor. As a sensitizing theory, RCT's concepts of controlling images and healing through connection particularly guided this study's attention to and investigation of survivors' interpersonal and ideological ecologies.

Study Aims in the Context of Literature

The above review draws together the existing, sparse empirical literature on gaslighting in interpersonal relationships, along with research on related phenomena within the realm of psychological abuse and relevant theory. Collectively, this literature begins to hint at but does not fully address the following questions: What are the range of tactics that gaslighters employ to

accomplish their ends? How do survivors describe the way that these tactics shake their trust in their own knowing abilities? How and to what extent does their fundament sense of self-trust heal or recover, after gaslighting tactics end? Finally, what elements of a survivor's experiences, communities, and broader sociocultural contexts exacerbate or attenuate self-doubt in response to gaslighting tactics? In particular, within an RCT framework, how might controlling images exacerbate survivor self-doubt and how might connection with others attenuate it? The current study provides the first systematic, empirical, psychological account of gaslighting, with the aim of addressing these questions.

Although gaslighting may occur in any number of relationships and contexts, the current study focuses specifically on IPV survivors who experienced gaslighting as an abuse tactic from an intimate partner. The concept of gaslighting originated in the context of intimate partnerships (Cukor, 1944; Hamilton, 2015), and gaslighting in IPV is arguably the central, paradigmatic case of this epistemic form of harm. Furthermore, by focusing on gaslighting in the context of IPV, the current study aims to illuminate how gaslighting tactics fit into broader abuse dynamics and inform gaslighting-related recommendations for domestic violence practitioners.

CHAPTER 3: METHODS

The following chapter provides an overview of the methodology of this study, including a description of the overall study design, participants, recruitment and data collection procedures, analytic framework and approach, and methodological trustworthiness.

Study Design

Qualitative research methods are particularly valuable for gaining nuanced, in-depth understanding of specific phenomena and for answering "how" and "what" questions, rather than "why" questions (Creswell, 1998; Morrow, 2007). Within qualitative research, this study's methodology aligns specifically with feminist critical-ideological paradigms that recognize multiple contextual and historically situated realities and explicitly values social justice and opposes oppression (Hall & Stevens, 1991; Morrow, 2005, 2007). Feminist research attends to the co-constructed nature of meaning and stories between researchers and participants and to describing participant experiences from their own perspectives (Hall & Stevens, 1991; Morrow, 2005). It understands research as a relational endeavor and aims to empower and give voice to research participants, ultimately leading to tangible impacts that benefit them (Hall & Stevens, 1991; Sokoloff & Dupont, 2005). This approach provides an essential framework for research on gaslighting, where issues of power and oppression manifest in the very questioning of a survivor's authority to name and trust their experience of reality.

Throughout the process of data collection and analysis, this study took a qualitative descriptive approach (Kim, Sefcik, & Bradway, 2017; Sandelowski, 2000, 2010; Vaismoradi, Turunen, & Bondas, 2013; Willis, Sullivan-Bolyai, Knafl, & Cohen, 2016). Along the continuum of qualitative approaches, qualitative descriptive approaches (including qualitative content analysis, thematic analysis, and descriptive phenomenology) are often considered to be among

the least interpretive (e.g. Braun & Clarke, 2006; Sandelowski, 2010; Vaismoradi et al., 2013). All research requires some interpretation, but compared to other approaches, such as grounded theory, qualitative descriptive approaches employ low-inference, or "data-near interpretations," which describe findings in everyday language that participants and other researchers are likely to agree is accurate (Sandelowski, 2000, 2010). Qualitative descriptive research, in its purest form, also maintains no commitment to a particular theory, which is not to suggest that it is wholly atheoretical but rather that theoretical frameworks are held lightly and subject to scrutiny throughout the research process (Sandelowski, 2010). Qualitative descriptive research may also borrow "hues, tones, and texture" from other qualitative approaches and paradigms, such as the critical feminist framework of the present study (Sandelowski, 2000, p. 337).

Participants

Eligibility for participation in this research study was determined according to the following inclusion criteria: (1) participant was a survivor of IPV, determined by screening measures described below; (2) participant was an adult over 18 years of age; (3) participant spoke English; (4) participant had experienced IPV in the past ten years but was not currently experiencing physical abuse and endorsed feeling ready to discuss their experiences of IPV. This final criterion increased the likelihood that participants would be able to speak to the process of healing. It also allowed participants time to begin to form narratives about their experiences of IPV, without being so long that other intervening factors, unrelated to the abuse, would have transformed the narrative too much. Finally it minimized the risk of retraumatizing someone who did not yet feel safe to discuss traumatic events (Campbell, Goodman-Williams, & Javorka, 2019).

Sixteen survivors completed phone or email screenings, and all were eligible to participate in the study, though one did not respond to follow up communications or complete an interview. Nine interviews were conducted by phone and six were conducted by zoom, according to participant preference. All interviews were conducted between April and September of 2021. Participants ranged in age from 19 to 62 years old, with a mean age of 41. Fourteen participants identified as female, and one identified as genderqueer and nonbinary. In terms of sexual orientation, ten participants identified as heterosexual or straight, four as bisexual, and two as pansexual (one participant identified as both bi- and pansexual.) However, all of the harming partners that survivors chose to discussed in this study were male. Nine participants identified their racial identity as White or Caucasian, four as Black or African American, and two as biracial (both identified as Asian and White.) Seven participants were born in New England, four in the Midwest, one in the Mid-Atlantic, and one in the Southwestern United States. Two participants were also born outside of the United Sates, one in Central Europe and one in East Asia. In terms of highest level of education, two participants either had a master's degree or were in graduate school, six had a bachelor's degree, six had an associate degree, had attended trade school, or had taken some college courses, and one participant had a high school diploma. Seven were working full-time, at the time of the interviews, four were currently unemployed or not working, three reported part-time or gig work, and one identified as a housewife. Three participants were full-time undergraduate or graduate students. Ten out of fifteen participants had children. Participants had from one to five children, and they ranged in age from three to 39 years old. None of the participants in this study was still in a relationship with the person who had gaslit them, at the time of the interview. Participants' gaslighting relationships ranged from five months to 40 years long, with an average length of 10 years. Survivors had left those

relationships as recently as one year ago and as long ago as ten years. They were, on average 4.5 years out of these relationships, though a few still reported ongoing contact with the harming partner, due to shared custody or property. Six participants reported that they were currently in a different relationship, eight reported they were currently single, and one said that she was in a "friendship."

Recruitment

Participants were recruited through existing networks of DV and mental health providers. They were provided with recruitment flyers via email and asked them to share the flyers with survivors they knew who might be interested in participating. They were also provided with a google voice number that potential participants could call to express interest in the study. While, at other times, in-person recruitment strategies, such as attending meetings at local DV organizations, might be a valuable tool, recruitment for the current study took place entirely during the COVID-19 pandemic. Decreased options for in-person contact impacted both study recruitment and data collection procedures. The following sections provide a brief overview of virtual "sites" of recruitment.

The Domestic Violence Program Evaluation and Research Collaborative

The Domestic Violence Program Evaluation and Research Collaborative (DVPERC) is an ongoing, regional collaboration for DV researchers and practitioners in a large New England metropolitan area (Thomas et al., 2018). DVPERC initially formed in 2011 to address questions of DV program evaluation, and, since then, it has developed into a group of practitioners and researchers who meet on a quarterly basis to discuss problems of practice and collaborate on research projects (e.g. Goodman et al., 2014). In general, the member organizations are urban DV agencies that provide both shelter and non-residential services to survivors. The survivors

who receive services at these organization are diverse in various ways, though they are predominantly low-income women of Color. The population served by the organizations involved in DVPERC is also heterogeneous in terms of immigration and citizenship status, ethnic and cultural background, and gender and sexual orientation. While membership in DVPERC is fluid, at the time of recruitment, it consisted of representatives from approximately 20 DV organizations and five research institutions.

I have engaged in previous research projects with DVPERC (Goodman, Fauci, Hailes, & Gonzalez, 2019; Hailes, Colgan, Goodman, & Thomas, Under Review) and attended a few meetings. My dissertation chair, Dr. Lisa Goodman, who is one of the of the founding members, shared recruitment materials by email with the DVPERC listserv and encouraged those members who had questions to follow up with me for further information. Interested DVPERC members shared recruitment materials with survivors receiving residential and non-residential services at their organizations.

The Custody Awareness Collaborative

Participants were also recruited through another local organization, the Custody

Awareness Collaborative (CAC), which is comprised of DV survivors, advocates, and lawyers

who advocate for policy changes to improve DV survivors' experiences of custody litigation in

Probate and Family Court. CAC has been involved in research initiatives before (Gutowski &

Goodman, 2020), and I have previously collaborated with this group to develop resources for

survivors beginning the custody litigation process (Hailes, 2018). The present study on

gaslighting represents an extension of these previous projects. As with DVPERC, I sent

recruitment materials to CAC members via email and asked them to share with survivors they

knew who might be interested in participating. I also invited survivor-members of CAC to directly participate in the study, if they were interested and met inclusion criteria.

The Brookline Center for Community Mental Health

I engaged in further recruitment at the community mental health center where I worked. The Brookline Center for Community Mental Health (referred to from here-on-out as the Brookline Center) has approximately 100 clinicians on staff and provides outpatient individual, couples, family and group therapy, psychopharmacology, and case management services for children and adults in the Brookline community, along with coordinating services with other community organizations and institutions including the local public schools, council on aging, and public housing ("The Brookline Center for Community Mental Health," 2020). Clients of the Brookline Center are diverse in age, racial and ethnic identity, gender identity, sexual orientation, and socioeconomic status. I had been working at the Brookline Center for over a year as a part-time unlicensed trainee psychologist at the time of recruitment and emailed recruitment materials to my colleagues, asking them to share them with any therapy clients who might be interested. Colleagues were also encouraged to forward the materials to other colleagues and professional contacts they had outside of the Brookline Center, to draw from a wider pool of therapy clients.

Other Recruitment and Sampling Methods

My research team was concurrently conducting a companion interview study on survivor alternatives to calling the police in moments of crisis, recruiting survivors through DV agencies in multiple urban areas and regions in the United States. Recruitment materials for the current study were shared with the members of the research team conducting these interviews, and when they interviewed survivors who seemed like a good fit for this study, they invited them to

participate and, with the survivor's permission, shared their contact information. Recruitment proceeded through convenience sampling, using word-of-mouth, and snowball methods, asking interview participants if they know any other survivors who would be interested in talking to me.

Procedures

The following section outlines the data collection procedures for this study, including screening and interviewing research participants.

Participant Screening

Participant screening determined history of IPV using the Hurt, Insult, Threaten, and Scream (HITS) screening tool (Sherin, Sinacore, Li, Zitter, & Shakil, 1998). The HITS is a brief, four-item assessment of physical and psychological abuse that has been assessed in a range of healthcare settings with diverse populations (Chen, Rovi, Vega, Jacobs, & Johnson, 2006; Rabin, Jennings, Campbell, & Bair-Merritt, 2009; Shakil, Donald, Sinacore, & Krepcho, 2005). All items on the HITS were modified from present to past tense, as participants were interviewed about past, rather than current, experiences of IPV. Participants then said whether they had had any of these experiences in the past ten years and whether they were currently in a relationship with someone who was physically harming them. Participants were also asked to confirm that they were over 18 years old, felt comfortable participating in a 45-90-minute interview in English, and were ready to discuss their experiences of domestic violence or harm by a romantic partner. See Appendix A for the full screening protocol.

Interview Process

Participants who met inclusion criteria and screened into the study were invited to schedule a 45-90-minute long interview. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, all interviews were

conducted over the phone or Zoom and were audio recorded. Interviews began by obtaining informed consent and taking time to build trust and rapport with the participant (Morse, 2015). The interview format followed an open-ended, semi-structured protocol, to elicit survivor memories and stories about gaslighting and individual, interpersonal, ideological, and institutional factors that contributed to gaslighting experience. Please see Appendix B for the full interview protocol. Survivors were asked to provide aliases for themselves and their harming partners, in order to facilitate the sharing of their stories while maintaining anonymity. I took care to treat participants with the utmost respect, empathy, and supportiveness throughout the interview, recognizing and acknowledging that they were sharing intimate, sensitive, and traumatic experiences (Campbell et al., 2019; Morrow, 2005a). In my position as a counselorresearcher, I was able to use clinical skills to elicit intimate information from participants and provide containment and support if they did feel traumatically triggered during the interview process (Morrow, 2005a). For instance, the interview process brought up strong emotions for one participant, so I stayed on the phone with her for a few extra minutes after the interview and discussed grounding topics, such as her plans for the rest of the day until she felt calmer and ready to end the call. I also helped her think through who she would reach out to if she felt that she needed more support after the call. I was also prepared to share referrals to trauma-informed and culturally appropriate mental health services for participants, as needed (Campbell et al., 2019.) All interview participants also received \$25 by check or Venmo in appreciation of their time and contributions.

A relational approach is central to feminist research methods and entails building rapport with participants, and forming honest and mutual relationships (Hall & Stevens, 1991; Morrow, 2005). Feminist researchers work in collaborative, nonhierarchical ways with participants,

seeking to reduce power dynamics between researcher and participants, and conveying gratitude and respect for participants' time and efforts (Hall & Stevens, 1991). In this study, I approached interactions with research participants from a collaborative and mutual stance, taking time at the beginning of interviews to establish rapport and conveying empathy and respect in my responses throughout the interviews. While some power dynamics are inherent between researchers and participants, I aimed to attend to them critically and minimize them whenever possible.

Analysis

The following section provides an overview of the data analysis process for this study, reviewing the coding strategy and approach to theoretical saturation.

Coding

This study took a qualitative content analysis approach to coding (Downe-Wamboldt, 1992; Elo & Kyngäs, 2008; Hsieh & Shannon, 2005; Sandelowski, 2000, 2010; Vaismoradi et al., 2013). Qualitative content analysis is a coding process that involves condensing and synthesizing data into categories that describe a phenomenon (Elo & Kyngäs, 2008), with a greater emphasis on description than interpretation of the topic of study (Sandelowski, 2000, 2010). An inductive approach to coding was used, generating the codes from the data (as opposed to an *a priori* set of codes.) This inductive approach has been described as most appropriate for research topics that have not been the subject of substantial previous literature, such as gaslighting (Elo & Kyngäs, 2008; Hsieh & Shannon, 2005). The coding process involved three stages: First in open, or line-by-line coding, codes were freely generated in the margins of the transcript, closely mirroring participant wording; Next, codes were refined and grouped into thematic categories; Finally, these categories were used to form higher order clusters and an abstracted formulation and general description of the topic (Elo & Kyngäs, 2008; Graneheim &

Lundman, 2004; Hsieh & Shannon, 2005). Each interview recording was transcribed by an undergraduate student who had been trained in transcription techniques. I served as the primary coder for all transcripts and two undergraduate students and one Mental Health Counseling MA student served as secondary coders, with whom I discuss and checked emerging codes, categories, and themes.

Saturation

Data collection and analysis continued until saturation had been reached. Complete redundancy is not a reasonable goal in qualitative research, because each person's life unique, and more stories may always add richness (Morrow, 2007). Saturation has been accomplished, then, not when new interviews yield no further new insights at all, but when "data account for the complexity of the phenomenon of interest" (Morrow, 2007, p. 217). The number of interviews required to reach saturation varies between studies, but is often in the range of 10-20 interviews. The current study aimed to achieve maximum variation sampling, which entails intentionally seeking to understand both common themes *and* unique experiences among as experientially and demographically diverse a group of participants as possible (Sandelowski, 2000).

Dissemination

A central feature of feminist research is its impact or relevance to address the interests and concerns of research participants and their community (Hall & Stevens, 1991). This has also been referred to as the "consequential validity" of a study, or its success in accomplishing social and political aims (Morrow, 2005). This study aims to validate survivor experiences of a prevalent and harmful yet under-studied form of IPV. It also seeks to provide insights into the mechanisms of gaslighting, to enable advocates who interact professionally with gaslighting

survivors to better understand and support them. Therefore, the aim is to ensure the impact of this research by not only publishing findings in a peer-reviewed journal, but also to enable IPV survivors and advocates to access them, for instance through presentations at IPV agencies or practice-oriented conferences, a survivor-oriented toolkit (e.g. Hailes, 2018), or op-ed pieces.

Trustworthiness

Quality assessment in qualitative research has taken a number of names and forms. "Trustworthiness," for instance, has long been used as a descriptor of qualitative research quality (Creswell, 1998; Graneheim & Lundman, 2004; Guba & Lincoln, 1989; Morrow, 2005; Morse, 2015). In lieu of traditional quantitative categories of internal and external validity, reliability, and objectivity, trustworthiness aims to determine credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Guba & Lincoln, 1989; Morse, 2015). The concept of "rigor" provides another potential framework, and some scholars have even argued for a return to traditional quantitative concepts of validity and reliability (Hall & Stevens, 1991; Morse, 2015; Sandelowski, 1993). Despite differing conceptualizations of quality in qualitative research, many of the suggestions and strategies advocated for under these frameworks are the same. The term trustworthiness will be used for the purposes of this paper, and the following sections review strategies for demonstrating trustworthiness in qualitative data and interpretation.

Data

Data quality can be demonstrated in a number of ways, most notably through sampling strategies, thickness of data, and attention to disconfirming evidence. Purposeful, theoretical sampling contributes to the trustworthiness of data by pursuing the research participants best equipped to deepen understanding, thereby ensuring that data can address research questions as fully and clearly as possible (Morrow, 2005; Morse, 2015). High quality data can also be

demonstrated, at least in part, by the "size and appropriateness" of the data set (Morse, 2015). Sufficiently large data sets provide "thick, rich" accounts of phenomena, which include significant overlap and consensus (Morse, 2015). However, some outliers and variation between individuals can also be expected in most research on human experience, therefore the presence of some discrepant findings is another hallmark of trustworthy data (Morse, 2015). While the necessary sample size for a study cannot be determined in advance, it should at least be large enough to contain both divergent voices and points of substantial consensus (Graneheim & Lundman, 2004; Hall & Stevens, 1991; Morrow, 2005).

The size and appropriateness of data was ensured in the present study by continued data collection until saturation was sufficient to capture the complexity of the phenomenon being studied, that is, the experience of gaslighting in IPV. Along with seeking a thick, rich account of gaslighting with substantial complexity, consensus, and overlap, this study also attended to both the demographic and experiential diversity of survivors.

Interpretation

Once quality of data has been satisfactorily demonstrated, the trustworthiness of the researcher's interpretation of that data must be assessed as well, even in methodological approaches like qualitative content analysis that engage in "data-near" interpretation (Sandelowski, 2010). I read each transcript several times in the early stages of the analytic process, both to ensure accuracy of description, and also to "immerse" myself in the data before beginning the formal coding process (Morrow, 2005). A constant comparative method was employed throughout the analysis, involving an ongoing comparison of new raw data with existing data and refining, condensing, and clarifying concepts and themes along the way (Charmaz, 2006; Glaser & Strauss, 1967). From this place of deep engagement with the data, I

hoped to demonstrate trustworthiness of interpretation by accurately reflecting participant voices and sociocultural contexts in the research findings, holding myself accountable to participants and colleagues, and engaging reflexively with the research process and findings. These strategies are discussed in more detail below.

Reflecting Voices and Contexts. One of the primary ways of assessing the trustworthiness of interpretation is how faithfully it captures and portrays the voices and stories of participants, fairly representing their views without overwhelming researcher bias (Hall & Stevens, 1991; Morrow, 2005). This can be demonstrated, for instance, through supporting research findings with sufficient participant quotations (Hall & Stevens, 1991). Along with accurately representing participant voices in the research findings, high quality interpretation also situates analysis within sociopolitical, historical, and cultural contexts (Graneheim & Lundman, 2004; Hall & Stevens, 1991; Morrow, 2005). This study therefore sought to ground its findings in ample quotations from participant interviews and their sociocultural contexts.

Accountability. Researchers can also demonstrate trustworthy interpretation by holding their analysis accountable to participants and colleagues. One way of remaining accountable to participants is through member checking, which involves asking participants to confirm or corroborate emerging patterns and themes in the data (Hall & Stevens, 1991). While historically member checking has occurred at the end of the data collection process, current best practices suggest engaging in member checking as an ongoing process throughout data collection by asking interviewees to reflect on certain themes as they start to emerge (e.g. "Some other interviewees have said this, what do you think?"; Birt, Scott, Cavers, Campbell, & Walter, 2016; Morse, 2015). Along with member checking, trustworthy interpretation can be ensured through dialogue among co-researchers (Graneheim & Lundman, 2004), or peer debriefing (Morse,

2015). This collaborative approach can aid in both conceptual development and reflexivity, which will be further discussed below (Morse, 2015). I also engaged other colleagues in "critical and sustained discussion" (Rossman & Rallis, 2003, p. 69) throughout the data collection and analytic process (Morrow, 2007). First and foremost, I was in regular contact with my dissertation chair, discussing themes as they emerged in the data. I also engaged in conversation and reflection with other members of my dissertation committee and with trusted colleagues who have deep experience with domestic violence, including a three-person informal advisory board of senior clinicians who have extensive professional experience working with domestic violence, some of whom also identify as survivors. These conversations with colleagues held me accountable for rigorously engaging in the analytic process and attending to my own biases and blind spots, further discussed in the following section.

Reflexivity. Feminist methodologies, along with many other qualitative methodologies, recognize that the elimination of subjectivity is not a realistic goal for researchers, but rather, biases must be acknowledged and accounted for (Hall & Stevens, 1991). Reflexivity, or "self-awareness and agency within that self-awareness" (Rennie, 2004, p. 183) has been identified by various researchers as a critical aspect of trustworthy qualitative research (Hall & Stevens, 1991; Morrow, 2005; Morse, 2015; Strauss & Corbin, 1998). Along with consulting with colleagues, as described above, a researcher may account for personal biases through constant self-reflection and memo-writing (Morrow, 2005). I wrote memos following each interview, addressing my initial reactions, reflections on participant responses, emerging themes, issues associated with reflexivity, and questions that arose for me during and immediately after the interview, and I continued to engage in memo-writing throughout the data analysis and manuscript writing

process (Charmaz, 2006; Strauss & Corbin, 1998). Below, I discuss a few points of reflexivity that were particularly salient in the present study.

As a white person with socioeconomic and educational privilege *and* as a woman who has experienced self-doubt and been disbelieved and called "hysterical," I expect that there were moments when I both saw and did not fully see my participants. I am not an IPV survivor, so I do not know what it feels like to be afraid of or manipulated by a partner. However, I do know what it feels like to have aspects of my judgment and reasoning questioned – particularly by men who hold power over me, and especially invoking my emotionality – and to feel self-doubt in response. I am also aware that my identities may also have limited my findings in ways that I do not even recognize. For instance, there may be aspects of my participants identities and experiences that they chose not to share with me, out of a sense that they could not trust me or that I might not understand. Please see the limitations section in chapter five for a further discussion of this point.

In this study, I was aware of how my motivations as a researcher played a role in the data analysis process. Throughout the analysis phase, I grappled with how broadly to define gaslighting and, among other factors, became aware that one of the motives that inclined me towards maintaining a broader definition was fear of "losing data" (e.g. if examples and stories that survivors had shared during their interviews did not count as gaslighting, they might not be included in the study.) This motive came from both a self-interested place, as an academic interesting in substantive and interesting findings, but also from a place of wanting to honor my research participants by sharing their stories as fully and closely to their own versions as possible. I monitored and wrote memos about this personal bias throughout the process of determining how to define gaslighting and which data to use. To further clarify: The research

process began with a tentative outline of the two-part model of gaslighting, based on literature review and discussion with subject matter experts. Over the course of the study, participants' stories gradually confirmed, deepened, and expanded the definition, as did reflexive discussion among the research team and further consultation of the literature and with my dissertation committee, and advisory board. This iterative and reflexive process resulted in the two-part definition of gaslighting listed in chapter one, which states: (a) The harming partner directly and repeatedly, either by word or action, challenges the survivor's perceptions, memories, and/or core narratives and beliefs, such that (b) the survivor experiences self-doubt about what they perceive, remember, or believe.

My identity as a clinician was also salient and a point of reflexivity throughout this study. Through clinical work, I am practiced in listening, bearing witness, and stewarding trauma, and I hope that many of the interviews in this study provided some therapeutic value to participants. For instance, one survivor explicitly named that just knowing that other people had similar experiences to hers and that I was doing a whole study on it was relieving and validating. There were also moments where it felt appropriate, consistent with feminist research methodologies, to provide validation or psychoeducation to participants. For instance, near the end of one interview, the survivor I was speaking with expressed a fear that she was somehow to blame for continuing to attract abusive partners in her life. I told her that, for what it was worth, it did not seem to me that it was her fault, and I also normalized that this was a common fear among survivors, that I had come across many times before as both a clinician and researcher. Yet, throughout the interview process, I did my best to remain mindful that interviews are not therapy and to notice and manage my instincts to speak as a clinician, as they arose.

express more vulnerability than they might share with a non-clinician. Therefore, it was particularly important for me to reflexively engage with the ways that I used my clinical skills during the interview process (Morrow, 2005a; Haverkamp, 2005). Through memo-writing and consultation with trusted colleagues and my dissertation committee, I have done my best to hold myself accountable for understanding and managing the influence of my various intersectional identities and roles on the research process.

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

Three overarching clusters of findings emerged from the data: Survivors described (1) the gaslighting process itself, (2) their long-term responses to gaslighting, and (3) factors that influenced their self-doubt, during the gaslighting process. Each cluster is listed as a separate heading, with categories in bold and codes italicized. See Appendix C for a table with the full list of clusters, categories, and codes. Throughout, the number of participants who endorsed a particular code is noted as "a few" (less than 4), "many" (4-7), or "most" (8 or more) participants. This way of describing the data can help to illuminate interesting and important patterns in the findings, without suggesting or misinterpreting quantitative generalizability of prevalence beyond this study's sample (Sandelowski, 2001).

Cluster I: The Gaslighting Process

The survivors in this study provided a thick and rich account of the gaslighting process, including (a) the tactics harming partners employed to challenge survivors' core beliefs and perceptions, (b) the various domains that these tactics targeted, (c) the resulting domains of self-doubt that survivors experienced, (d) their varying degrees of self-doubt, and (e) and the harmful corollaries of self-doubt.

Harming Partners Used a Range of Gaslighting Tactics

Survivors in this study discussed the various tactics that their harming partners used to gaslight them. Most survivors said that their partner had *denied or falsely claimed that something had happened*. Survivors described partners insisting that they had never said something that the survivor remembered them saying or claiming that they had not been flirting with someone or cheating on the survivor, even when there was evidence to the contrary. In one instance, Joanne remembered her partner having a number of drinks in front of her at an event. Then, when she

expressed concern about him driving, he said to her "What are you talking about? I didn't drink." Fiona described learning that her husband had turned down a preschool spot for their daughter, even though he told her that she simply had not gotten in. Survivors also described their partners claiming that the survivor had never said something that they remembered saying, or they accused the survivor of behaviors they had not done, such as flirting with other people, cheating, or stealing money. In one case, a harming partner accused the survivor of exactly the same coercive controlling behaviors that he was engaged in.

Most survivors said that their partner had *mischaracterized them* as well, challenging fundamental ways that survivors understood themselves. Partners would belittle or dismiss their abilities and call them names, in many cases using this to deflect from the harming partner's role in a conflict or abusive behaviors (e.g. blaming a survivor by saying "you are crazy" or "you just like being the victim.") Ruth described that way that this barrage of insults wore her down over time:

It's called suffering because when somebody, you know, kinda like beats that into your skull, your brain is kinda like trained to think that way because it's like, wow, you know I'm being thrown this information every single day, to the point where he wants me to hear it, he wants me to know it, and he wants me to feel it.

Many survivors also described abusive partners pairing these other gaslighting behaviors with *coercion to adopt their perspective*. They used terms like "huge anger," "raging," "cruel," and "bully" to describe their harming partners and shared examples of them yelling and threatening or using physical violence to manipulate survivors into acquiescing to their versions of reality. Katie explained how this coercion forced her give up her own beliefs:

My boyfriend was always like threatening to kill himself, or hurt me, or hurt my family. So, it wasn't just like, you know, it was like real threats that were coming at me, where I was like, "Ok you're right, and I'm wrong," and I am going to have to sacrifice my mental stability if it keeps that stuff from happening.

Another tactic that a few survivors described their harming partners using to challenge their perceptions and understanding was *secretly manipulating the physical environment*. This included behaviors such as hiding the survivor's keys from her, unscrewing lightbulbs, unlocking doors, and removing or rearranging objects. Melody, who experienced this tactic particularly acutely in her relationship, even said that she later realized that her husband had staged a breakin in their home, where the glass from the shattered window fell outwards, as if it had been broken from the inside. After their separation, she caught him sneaking into her home to move objects around, and during the divorce process, "He was sending me things that I thought I lost, but he had it. And he was sending me pictures of it," making Melody realize that he had had objects she thought she had misplaced all along.

Most survivors said that their partner's gaslighting tactics even went beyond their relationship, *drawing in other people*. Some partners told survivors' children that they were bad mothers. Others attacked survivors' character or abilities in front of friends and family, accused them of doing things they hadn't done, denied abusive behavior, and told stories in ways that made the survivor sound like they were overreacting or at fault. According to Joanne, her husband would tell "whoever would listen" that she was "crazy" and making up things that weren't true. Many survivors said that their harming partners *drew formal systems* into the gaslighting, as well as friends and family. Some harming partners mischaracterized survivors or tried to make them look bad in front of a couple's therapist. Some made false claims about

survivors' parenting to Child Protective Services (CPS) or in court. Marilyn's husband told her she tripped over the dog, after pushing her down the stairs, and then later repeated this narrative in court, denying that he ever touched her, calling her a klutz and claiming that she falls all the time. Veronica's husband scratched himself up before the police arrived, following an assault where Veronica had had to defend herself, and he managed to convince the police that *she* had been the aggressor. Veronica was arrested for assault and battery, but her husband told the police, "I'm not going to press charges. She is psychotic. She is mentally ill," and tried to get her committed.

Gaslighting Tactics Targeted Multiple Domains

Harming partner challenged survivors' memories, perceptions, core beliefs, or narratives in one or more domains. These domains can be understood as existing along a continuum of subjectivity, from concrete, objective facts like whether or not a specific event occurred on one end, to more subjective beliefs, like what skills or personality traits a person has, at the other end. One of the most pervasive gaslighting domains—also one of the most objective—endorsed by most interviewees, was *survivor's memory*. Harming partners challenged survivors' memory by accusing them of things the survivors knew they had not done, like cheating or stealing. Partners would also deny having done things that survivors saw them do, including drinking or flirting with other people. They claimed that the survivor had said something they didn't remember saying, or, in other cases, harming partners denied having said something that the survivor remembered them saying. This was sometimes used as a tactic to derail an argument or discredit a survivor's grievances, as Sophia described:

I would say, "Hey, you said this and that hurt me," and he would be like, "I never said that. What are you talking about? You're crazy. You are making this up for attention."

You know, all of that which is like, it gets you to basically question your own perception of reality and feel like you are losing your mind.

Some harming partners undermined survivors' trust in their own memory by hiding keys or moving objects around to make the survivor believe they had misplaced them. Marilyn's husband would even deny physical violence. On one occasion, he pushed her down a flight of stairs during a fight. She blacked out, and when she regained consciousness, he told her that she had tripped over the dog, a story that, dazed and confused at the time, she believed. It was only later that Marilyn remembered that he had been chasing her and pushed her.

Most survivors also described incidents where their harming partner did not so concretely challenge their memory of events but rather challenged their *interpretation of harmful or abusive behavior*. In some cases, harming partners pretended that they had not been acting in harmful ways, claiming that the survivor had misunderstood. For instance, Veronica described running away after her partner stood up abruptly and threateningly, but then he said, "Oh, I'm sorry, I'm just going out to get the mail." One harming partner pretended he had not been on Craigslist looking for sex, another claimed that he had meant to send a picture of his penis to the survivor instead of someone else, when, based on context, this clearly was not true, and a third pretended to be in the hospital instead of with the person he was cheating on the survivor with. In other cases, harming partners attempted to rationalize or normalize abusive behavior. For instance, Ari's partner, who surveilled their text messages also made them look at his messages as well. That way, when Ari confronted him about his controlling behavior, he was able to sow confusion by retaliating that they were doing the exact same thing. Fiona described the way her husband rationalized his tendency to cut her out of decision-making for their family:

We would discuss something, and I thought we were on the same page, and then he'd turn around and do the exact opposite, but he wouldn't tell me. I would find out about it later. And then I would confront him, say, "Why did you do that?" And then I would get a lot of anger... and then it was that he was making the decisions and that I didn't know what I was doing.

He ended up convincing her that, because she was a stay at home mother, he could make decisions without her. In other cases, harming partners challenged survivors' interpretation by blaming them for their response to abusive behaviors. They would instigate fights or provoke survivors and then accuse them of overreacting, or they would get angry and blame survivors for having emotional responses or trauma reactions. Addie described this dynamic, explaining, "He would get mad and it would be—my anxiety is to blame... I was often too anxious, or I nitpick or complain too much." Katie described a similar dynamic of blame for her emotional responses: "When we would fight, and he would be verbally abusing me or whatever, just like calling me terrible names and making me feel horrible about myself when I would react. He would be like, 'You are turning this all around trying to make me feel bad." As will be discussed in more detail below, this led survivors to feel confused, apologetic, and to believe that they must be at fault for the fights or abusive behavior.

Along with challenging their interpretation of harmful behaviors, a few harming partners challenged survivors' interpretation or understanding of other experiences. For instance, multiple harming partners accused survivors of flirting with other people, when the survivors could not figure out what they had done that was flirtatious. Another harming partner told a survivor that an experience from a previous relationship that the survivor identified as rape was, in fact, not rape.

Along with challenging survivors' understanding of events and experiences, harming partners also undermined their core beliefs about themselves. For instance, many survivors said that their harming partners *challenged their mental status*. Particularly commonly, harming partners would tell survivors that they were "crazy." They would call survivors "crazy" to other people as well, and one even got friends and family to express concern about the survivor's mental health. One survivor's partner told her she needed to be on a "psych ward" and another told a survivor's friends that she should be on medication and that he "need[ed] to commit her." Marilyn described the way her husband tried to convince her that she had psychosis, saying:

'Of course you are crazy...oh my god, are you serious? Look what you did.' And then he would google it, 'psychotic, that is a psychotic event.' Now, when I have looked into it, when I was a little bit more into [therapy through a DV agency], I would read up on all these different facets of mental illness. Everything he was telling me was him!

Everything that he was saying to me was actually him.

Many harming partners also undermined survivors' fundamental understanding of themselves by challenging their knowledge of their own traits. Some attacked survivors' intelligence or competence, trying to convince them that they were stupid, lazy, ditzy, and naïve. Others insulted survivors' motivations or moral character, calling them spoiled, demanding, manipulative, attention-seeking, and narcissistic. Still others undermined survivors' appearance or sexuality, accusing survivors of being "whores," of being flirtatious or impure, or of being unattractive or ugly.

Harming partners also *challenged survivors' abilities in specific roles*, most commonly their abilities to perform family roles. A number of harming partners accused survivors with kids of being bad mothers. For instance, Ruth was staying in a homeless shelter with one child while

she was also pregnant with twins. She recalled her partner, who was the father but was living with and cheating on her with another woman, telling her, "You can't give your kids a place to stay. You're a failure. You can't support them. You can't provide for them, you're a failure." Another harming partner told the survivor's children that she had abandoned them and didn't care about them, after she divorced him. Survivor's partners also accused them of failing at domestic duties, traditionally associated with wives, such as cooking and keeping the home clean. Marilyn described how her husband's insistence that nothing she did was ever good enough came to dominate her whole life:

I would have his lunch made in a paper bag, like you know it had his name on it and my son's name on it. And I'd be up till two in the morning just like, "Ok, well let me try harder. Let me make the lunch the night before." And then the next day he'd be like, "You shouldn't have put the mustard on the sandwich cause my sandwich was all slimy, and the bread was all mushy cause you put the mustard on last night." ... Even if I prepared it and got it ready the night before and he is like, "Well you should have made it fresh in the morning before you go to work. Well you should've put the mustard on the side in a separate container." ... And the more he said, the more I did more. I just kept doing more and more and worked harder and harder and harder Like it is like running a marathon, and then running it on your knees, and then running it on your hands and like, you know, you are crawling, like you can't run it anymore, and then when you get to the end, they hit you over the head with a hammer, like, "You didn't run the marathon right." Like I was running a marriage marathon.

Similarly, Anna's partner complained about her cooking and her sexual abilities directly to her and also embarrassed her by talking about these topics with friends and family. Melody's partner

acted in controlling ways, would not explain why he was acting that way, and then convinced her that she just did not understand how romantic relationships were supposed to work, because she was younger than him and this was her first long-term relationship.

Harming partners attempted to undermine survivors' relationships with other people as well. Many survivors described their partners *challenging their value to other people*. In some cases, this took the form of general statements that no one else would want the survivor, no one liked them, or that specific people, like the survivor's children, did not love them. In other cases, the harming partner lied to the survivor, telling them that friends or family were talking about them behind their back or saying negative things about them. Fiona described this dynamic in her relationship:

A big problem was with especially friends, he would tell me opposite things that happened. So something would happen, [but] he would tell the story as something so different and opposite, and so it really did make me wonder a lot of times that he would say, "Oh you can't trust that person. They were talking about you. They said this about you," or you know..."They don't want to actually be your friend, they're not your friend."

Survivors Experienced Self-Doubt in One Or More Domains

In response to the gaslighting tactics described above, all of the survivors in this study experienced self-doubt in parallel domains. Many survivors said they *experiencing self-doubt about their memory*. They described feeling confusion when their partners recalled events differently to how they remembered them or when they denied saying something or denied that a survivor had said something. Anna, whose partner accused her of cheating on him, began to wonder if he might be drugging her to make her forgetful and confused (though she knew he

could not actually have done so.) Melody began to feel disorganized and undependable because she thought she kept losing her keys and misplacing other items. Sophia, whose boyfriend did not believe her when she said that his friend had raped her, found herself questioning:

You know, why did I say that? It felt like I was lying... like maybe I'm confused and maybe I'm lying about his best friend assaulting me. And then I was like, "Maybe I'm lying about like this dude Terry like raping me." It really felt like I was like, like I should have not said that because it is not the truth you know.... It started to feel like I made this up for attention because I was angry at Larry and because I was fighting with Larry.

Marilyn even questioned her own memories of her husband yelling at her and physically assaulting her. Though, as time went on, she began to covertly record their fights on her phone, so she could go back and check later what the truth was:

I only remembered small pieces of it and then when I would listen to it a week later when my husband wasn't home. I would hide in the bathroom and I would listen to it, and I'm like, "Oh my god, he called me a pig...or a whore like three of four times." And he would say it over and over again, and then I would say, "Stop saying that, like stop calling me that," and he goes, "I never said that. I never said that." But he just said it.

And I was like am I imagining this? And then the only time I realized it was like I recorded it, and I'm like, "Oh my god he said it three times," or "He said it four times," and I would say, "Stop, like stop," and he goes, "Stop saying the word 'stop'...Now you are being one of those crazy women."

Most survivors in this study also *experienced self-doubt about their interpretation or understanding of harmful or abusive behavior*. A number of survivors described accepting the narrative that they were "the problem" or to blame for all of the conflict or harm in their

relationships. One survivor whose husband was very critical of her described feeling like she could just never do anything right. Melody shared about the way her husband managed to convince her that she simply did not understand how relationships worked and had unrealistic expectations:

I was really confused about what love was. You know what was- what I mean- do I have it wrong?... I honestly thought that maybe, maybe something I put in my head that doesn't really exist. You know because- maybe this is what you do. Like this is how it works. Yeah, I fought with that for a long time, about what love is and how he twisted love.

Other survivors said they often wound up apologizing for things they later realized were not their fault, in their relationship, or accepting that they had provoked a fight because they were looking for attention. Sophia illustrated this experience:

Our fights usually would end with me like apologizing and being like, "You are right. I'm sorry." 'Cause it wasn't even like me apologizing because I wanted the fight to be over with. These fights would last like hours and then at the end of it I would be like I would think like, "Oh he is so right, I'm just making a big deal out of this, and it is not worth fighting for, and sometimes I'm just crazy." I would be like, "Oh, you are right, I forget that I'm crazy." That is what I would say.

Ari would confront their partner about harmful behaviors, only to have him deny them or accuse them of the same behaviors. They explained how this impacted their self-trust:

It would make me feel like really confused with like, if this even bad stuff that I think, like, is this- is this even happening? Like am I like just making it all up? Or am I being

overly dramatic? And so I would really question of like even if it was like, even if it was happening at all let alone, if it was like unhealthy behavior.

As Ari described here, they found themselves questioning both their memory *and* interpretation of abusive behaviors. They shared that, on multiple occasions, they went into a conversation with the intention of breaking up with their partner, only to leave the conversation feeling confused, uncertain, and still in the relationship.

A few survivors also shared examples of *experiencing self-doubt about their interpretation or understanding of other experiences*, including Ari, who questioned whether they had been raped in a previous relationship, after their partner told them that their experience did not count as rape:

It took me a while to kind of label it with that term, and like I had to do like Title IX training when I went to college, and that was kind of when I recognized like, "Oh shit, this like thing happened." And so it felt like really confusing for me [when my partner said it was not rape] because part of me is like, "No, I think that this was real. I think this is what happened." And then the other part of me is like questioning myself and being like, "Am I wrong about this?" And so yeah, it was just really confusing.

Katie said that she did not question her memory, when her partner accused her of cheating on him, but she did begin to question if she was acting in a certain way that made him suspect her of cheating on him. She explained, "Obviously I knew I didn't do anything. I tried to reconcile with that in my mind with like, wow, I'm doing something wrong if he's believing this. So that's how he got me to question my reality, when it got to the point where I would do anything I could to not talk to any guys at all."

Survivors also discussed gaslighting tactics leading them to questioning fundamental beliefs they held about themselves. For instance, many survivors *experienced self-doubt about their mental status*. They described feeling like thy were "crazy" or "losing my mind" when their memories or perception of reality did not align with their partner's. One survivor believed her partner when he told her she was psychotic, and another survivor started going to therapy because her partner convinced her that she was depressed. Addie's partner would tell her that she was too anxious and blamed her anxiety for his physical violence. She explained, "I felt like it was my fault. Like I thought I had made him hit me or made him trash the apartment. Like if I could have been less anxious or if I—yeah, that somehow it felt like very much my fault." Veronica reflected, "They'll have your head. They'll totally, I think they're out to take away your sanity."

Along with mental status, many survivors *experienced self-doubt about their traits*. They described being convinced by their partners that they were a whore, that they were stupid, that they were fake and dishonest, spoiled and attention seeking, or manipulative. Survivors emphasized the role of repetition in inculcating these beliefs. For instance, Marilyn's husband convinced her that he should handle all of the bills in their household, because he was smart, competent, and experienced, while she was naïve and didn't know how to do anything:

When he would say or do something, he would say it like a thousand times. He'd be like, "I handle bills. I handle the bills. I know how to handle the money. You don't." Like he was relentless saying that, so it was like, it was almost like you would believe what he said.

Along with their general personality traits, many survivors also *experienced self-doubt about* their abilities in specific roles. In alignment with the gaslighting tactics described above,

survivors primarily questioned their abilities as wives and mothers. One survivor, whose partner contacted CPS about her, wondered why he would do that if there was not really something bad about her parenting. Another shared how doubting her abilities as a wife and mother led to constant embarrassment, which stopped her from reaching out to other people, because she worried that they would see how much she was failing in these roles.

Finally, in response to harming partners' attempts to convince survivors that other people did not like them, many survivors *experienced self-doubt about their value to others*. One survivor described feeling, at times, like no one liked her. Melody said that, because her husband would lie to her and pretend that other people were saying negative things about her behind her back, "I always feel like I didn't have any friends, I didn't have any support. And maybe, like maybe something's wrong with me that I'm-- if everybody's seeing the same things and I'm the only one. Like maybe it's me." Tilly described the way that her partner's lies about what other people thought of her took advantage of her natural tendency to seriously consider feedback that she receives from other people:

He would say like, "Oh my sister thinks you are—my sister doesn't want you to come on this trip because she is not sure about you." And then I started thinking like, "Oh my god, people don't like me. I've never had--- People usually like me. Someone that has not even met me doesn't like me!" Or he would say like, "My son is scared of you," and I'd start thinking like, "Oh my god," like I started wondering like, "Am I a bad person? I've never heard this or thought this or no one has ever—" It started scaring me because if someone tells you something, you would like— you typically would believe them that they're telling some sort of truth... It was just so insidious. It just creeps up on you and so twisted...If someone said like "hey... everyone is talking about how crazy you are," like

if you are a normal person, you just go along and listen to this and hear this and contemplate this and try to understand this. So that kind of thing was happening constantly toward the end.

Survivors Experienced Varying Degrees of Self-Doubt

As they experienced self-doubt across these different domains, survivors also felt varying degrees of self-doubt, on a continuum from complete self-doubt to complete resistance. Most survivors experienced moments of self-doubt, confusion, *and* resistance at different points over the course of their relationships. For some, this varied by domain. For instance, some survivors resisted more "objective" gaslighting tactics, such as attempts to convince them that they had said or done something that they knew they had not said or done, yet they experienced confusion and doubt in the face of more "subjective" gaslighting tactics, such as attempts to convince them that they were overreacting or misinterpreting a situation. For other survivors, self-doubt varied over time. In general, survivors' resistance increased towards the ends of their harming relationships, as they began to recognize harmful behavior and shift their perspectives on their partner or relationship. The following section provides examples of the range of experiences of self-doubt and resistance that survivors described in their interviews.

Most survivors endorse experiences of *fully adopting their partner's narrative or version of reality*, at some point in the relationship. Some survivors simply described being so deep into the relationship or the abuse that it just did not occur to them to question or challenge their partner. These survivors described not even realizing that they could have their own voice or a separate opinion. Fiona explained, "So it really warped my world to think, to believe-- and at that time, I was believing what he was saying. That, you know, I thought he had my best interest, he would say that you know, he was always going to take care of me, and things like that."

Similarly, Veronica said, "I was just like, I don't know. Like I depended so much, I was so wrapped up in him... I didn't know who I was. I lost myself. I devoted myself to a man that I had no clue really that this is what [harming partners] do." Other survivors described family or friends' attempts to help them see that "what he's saying isn't true," but that they had adopted their harming partner's narrative to such a degree that these counternarratives did not sink in or persuade them. A few survivors even went so far as to say that there was nothing that anyone could have said or done to convince them out of the gaslighting narratives that they had bought into.

Along with these experiences of fully adopting the harming partner's narrative, most survivors also shared examples of *recognizing and resisting their harming partners' narratives*. Some survivors talked about instances when their partner tried to convince them of something that simply was not credible, for instance claiming that they were not cheating on the survivor, when there was too much evidence to the contrary. Of course, these experiences were still distressing in other ways; Joanne, whose partner insisted on driving after she watched him drink, felt powerless and scared, even though she did not doubt her clear and recent memories of seeing him have multiple beers and shots of hard alcohol. Survivors also described the distress of "not standing up for myself" in these kinds of situations. Katie talked about how she would not admit to the lie that she was cheating on her partner, but she gradually began to believe that she must be doing something wrong or somehow be to blame for his suspicion about her cheating:

It was kind of like this twisted sense of someone just saying, "The sky is green, the sky is green, the sky is green," and you are just like, "No it's not," like, "It's not green, its blue!" But they won't stop saying it. You are like, I don't know what to do know. It is blue, but you are not going to stop, and you are really mad at me, and you are threatening

to hurt me, so OK I guess you're right. I don't know, but you're, right, trying to reconcile two realities... like I'm the reason why you think it is green. Like, ok, I'll try to change so then you can see the truth again.

Another survivor described the ways that gaslighting tactics in certain domains did not make her doubt herself because she had tangible accomplishments in those domains. For instance, when her partner would call her stupid, she reminded herself that she had a degree from a prestigious university.

Some survivors pointed to specific turning point moments, when they began to resist.

One said she drew the line when her partner began insulting her to her child, as well directly to her. Similarly, Tilly said that hearing her partner lie about her child to other people was a clarifying experience: "When you hear something about yourself you are like, 'Wait, do I just have a warped perception of myself?" But when you hear something about your child, who you are a step away from, you are like, 'Wait, that is not true." Some survivors described a process of beginning to gather evidence for themselves, writing down what happened, so they could refer back to it later and remind themselves that "you are not crazy." As described above, one survivor even began covertly making audio recordings of her fights with her husband, so that she could go back and check later what actually happened. This was an important turning point in her relationship. Veronica, who was still in contact with her husband, even though they were divorced, simply described the way that she no longer fell for his gaslighting tactics, instead seeing them for what they are now: "I see all the forest and the trees."

In between these moments of complete self-doubt and complete resistance, most survivors also described experiences of *going back and forth about the validity of their partner's narratives* at some point in their relationship. They talked about beginning to apologize for

something their harming partner was blaming them for, only to step back mid-apology and realize that they had nothing to apologize for, or vice versa, moments of initially thinking, "I don't think that's how it happened," but then beginning to wonder if they were misremembering. Anna shared the following example:

He would lose his money, and he would accuse me that I took the money. And he would call his mother, he would call his sister, and he would call his friend, and he would tell them, "I have a thief in my house who stole my money." And they would say, "Who is that?" And he would say me... I was shocked. I was shocked, and then one day I started to like checking in my purse, and maybe I did take his money somehow.

Survivors also talked about repeatedly going back and forth about the same domain of gaslighting over time. For instance, Ari, who tried multiple times to break up with their partner described a cycle where they would start each conversation with clarity about how their partner was acting in harmful ways, but would end up feeling confused and uncertain again by the end of the conversation. Sophia said that she would go back and forth, from week to week, sometimes thinking she was so lucky to have her boyfriend because no one else would "put up with my craziness," and other times thinking angrily, "Why can't I get out of this relationship?" In general, survivors' experiences of self-doubt in response to gaslighting tactics were not singular or monolithic across domains and time, but rather, survivor's susceptibility to self-doubt varied depending on the topic and trajectory of the relationship.

Survivors' Self-Doubt Led to Harmful Corollaries

Regardless of their experiences of resistance, all of the survivors in this study experienced self-doubt at some point, and they reflected in their interviews on the negative effects of their self-doubt. First and foremost, many survivors discussed the *emotional distress*

that their self-doubt caused. Because they believed their partners' narratives about them, survivors described feeling "emotionally distraught" because they could not do anything right, "guilty" about being manipulative, or "angry" about being "crazy" or "born so fucked up and wrong" compared to other people. One survivor, who went back and forth between what she knew to be true and what her partner was trying to convince her, described feeling trapped and powerless throughout this process and like she was "walking on eggshells." Emotional distress took other forms as well: One survivor described "retreating" into herself, because her partner had convinced her that she was spoiled and demanding. Melody, whose husband staged a breakin in their own home, said she felt more afraid to be in their home because she believed his lie about the break-in.

Many survivors specifically pointed to the ways that their experiences of gaslighting and self-doubt led to *mental health problems*. When describing the impact of her harming partner's repeated insults and her corresponding self-doubt, Ruth shared:

It did a lot of damage. It did exactly what it was supposed to, as far as my mental health, and it didn't—you know like, now, my days—I have to relive it. I have to always fight for those good days. You know it's a lot. I have to go through a lot. I suffer. That's like the most real. That's the best way I can put it.

Other survivors specifically described their anxious and traumatic responses to self-doubt. One survivor recalled having a panic attack after their partner denied that their experience of rape was real. Another said that she continued to suffer from "extreme anxiety," associated with a fear that she was "crazy" and making things up. Another survivor said that she thought she was traumatized and had PTSD. A few survivors also described *physical health problems* caused by the gaslighting and self-doubt. Fiona, who continued to have contact with her harming partner

because of shared child custody, said that she would get emails from him, attacking her, and when she did, "Those thoughts stick in my mind of what he's saying about me, and I have to remind myself that that's not real, what he's saying. I have to really push it away, out of my head. I do that a lot." She explained that, because of the distress of these experiences, she is sometimes unable to eat or sleep. Joanne explained the way that gaslighting took a physical toll on her, leading her to "break down:"

When someone tells you that your parents don't like you and that your father abused you because you are an idiot and you are a loser and no one likes you. That was when, you know, every now and again I would you know break down, and had to just kind of—and I'd get chronic daily migraines. They are better now but with him they were awful because I couldn't take it, the trauma, and I would just be bedridden for three days.

As well as migraines and being bedridden, she further described insomnia, caused by her self-doubt.

Along with experiences of emotional distress and health problems, many survivors shared that their experiences of self-doubt in response to gaslighting tactics made them *devalue themselves*. Survivors discussed feelings of worthlessness or "eating away" at their self-confidence. Katie described this devaluing of herself, explaining, "I think the biggest manifestation of all of the gaslighting and emotional manipulation is like shame... Something is wrong with me and I am bad, and anytime that there was any conflict always immediately blaming myself." Anna named an even greater level of existential harm: "Oh, [it] affected me extremely deep, to a level where it is like no—I thought like, I'm no one. I don't have dignity, identity, or like, I'm a bad person. Like I'm a bad person and I'm not—I didn't have a worth or something like that, like I'm not worth it."

Survivors' experiences of self-doubt influenced their relationships as well as their sense of self. A few survivors described the ways that their self-doubt made them *more dependent on others*. Melody, whose partner would hide things and move things around to make her feel disorganized and forgetful, described the way that this increased her sense of dependence on him in the relationship, "like I needed him," and how this even stopped her from pursuing professional goals of her own because she did not feel confident enough and instead relied on him. Leann also described loss of confidence in her ability to independently make decisions:

Well, I used to do so much. I mean, I used to have my own businesses before. I've worked—I used to work at, volunteer at the jail, volunteer at the church. I helped other people, like I—I helped with re-entry. I mean, what you did, helping people that didn't have means. I-- I had a lot of contact with a lot of different resources, and I was really good at pulling my resources together and helping, and, for the most part, I knew how to help myself at that point, and I was happy. And I was good at making decisions. I was a delegator. I mean, with four kids, you have to delegate. So, after being with him—after a while it was, even in my own decision-making was—I don't know how to do this stuff for myself anymore. I know how drive and write a check, but I don't feel confident in my ability to write a check anymore.

Similarly, Fiona said, "Before my relationship with him, I feel like I would make decisions and trust myself more. And now I think I do—I didn't ask people for their opinions on much before. I didn't want other people's opinions, but I think now I do that more. Just to try and validate and say—I think it's just a general not believing in myself or trusting in myself as much."

While some survivors felt more dependent in their relationships, many also talked about *not reaching out for support* because of their self-doubt. Survivors described not reaching out

due to embarrassment, because they believed the gaslighting narratives that they were "crazy" or a bad wife or mother. Others talked about not reaching out because they assumed that other people would also accept the gaslighting narratives. For instance, one survivor said that she feared if she told her family that she was worried about her memory or felt like she was going "crazy" that they would think she was just making things up or was on drugs. Another survivor whose partner blamed them for the problems in their relationship thought that others would blame them in the same way. As demonstrated in the various examples above, the self-doubt caused by gaslighting left survivors feeling confused, anxious, worthless, alone.

Cluster II: Long-Term Responses to Gaslighting

The survivors who participated in this study reflected on their long-term responses to gaslighting after their relationships ended, namely their experiences of (a) lingering self-doubt and (b) regaining self-trust. All of the survivors interviewed for this study had left the relationship with their harming partner at least a year ago, though a few did still have regular contact (e.g. for shared custody or property reasons), and survivors described regaining self-trust to varying degrees, with some feeling a great deal of continued doubt, some articulating how they had regained self-trust, and others falling somewhere in between.

Survivors Experienced Lingering Self-Doubt

While none of the survivors in this study were still in harming relationships at the time of their interviews, they nonetheless described continuing to question or doubt themselves in various domains. A few survivors reported that they *continued to experience self-doubt about their memory*. Marilyn, whose husband pushed her down the stairs, described her hesitance to recount this and other instances of violence in court because her memory still was not "crystal clear" and she felt unsure. Sophia shared that she still lies awake in bed sometimes, replaying the

gaslighting narratives that her boyfriend convinced her of, thinking, "Oh, like I'm lying. I made this up. I'm attention seeking. I like to be the victim." She said she still does not trust her own memory, turning instead to others for validation.

Many survivors also said that they continued to experience self-doubt about their interpretation of events, even after they were no longer in the harming relationship. They described times when, looking back on the harm that they experienced during their relationships, they still questioned their interpretation, wondering, like Tilly did, "Maybe it was me. Maybe it wasn't such a bad thing." Addie explained how hard it was to fully believe that she had not caused or brought the abuse on herself, even though she knew it was not true:

Parts of it feel like—there is a part of me that very much feels like, "Well like this is just like what happens. These are the relationships I have been in. I cause people to harm me, like I am just like—" and I am about to say this, and I know this is like a thing that survivors feel, um but like feeling like a magnet for trauma or feeling like I just get pulled into the vortex. So that part feels hard to always have distance from, like it's not my fault that these things happened.

Other survivors described the way that lingering self-doubt affected their trust of their interpretation in new situations. One described being less decisive and more conflict-averse than she used to be. Another shared that she questioned her interpretation of a recent sexual assault that she had reported to the Title IX office at her university.

Survivors continued to question their beliefs and understanding of themselves as well, following the gaslighting. For instance, a few survivors *continued to experience self-doubt about their mental status*. One survivor said she still felt "crazy" sometimes, particularly in romantic relationships, where she described having a hard time setting boundaries and feeling like her

reactions were "not okay." Sophia said that, when minor conflicts would arise with friends, she would feel intense anxiety and return back to thinking:

I'm not normal, and everyone else is normal, and I'm just crazy. I'm just crazy... it's kind of like 'Oh [participant's name], you forgot that you were this way, and you forgot that you are this type of person.' And so it is like I kind of am like, 'Remember that you are this type of person sometimes, and you, you know, are crazy.' And I'm like, "It is ok that you are crazy. Just remember try to keep it together.'

In the face of these lingering effects of gaslighting, many survivors discussed *developing strategies for managing self-doubt and its impacts*. Some described using external strategies, like one survivor who goes back to reread her notes and remind herself she is not crazy. Marilyn, whose partner would hide keys, said she has a clicker now for finding her keys, because otherwise she would have panic attacks and it would "bring me back to that place" if she ever lost her keys. Other survivors described internal strategies, like self-affirmation, pushing away unwanted thoughts, or reminding themselves that gaslighting narratives are not true. Marilyn described the immense effort and energy involved in managing self-doubt:

It is a struggle. I mean, I feel like a drug addict or like I have an addiction. It is like every day I have to manage this circumstance and the abuse that happened to me, like every day. Almost like—when I hear people that are—everyday they have to—it is a conscious thing to stay clean or lose weight or whatever. It is a conscious thing that I can't let this person invade my space. It is a lot of work, it is exhausting sometimes. But then it is real, and sometimes I have to look at it like, I have to, every now and then, review some of my recordings and like a little check, like this really happened, this

person—this really happened. This was really true. I'm not crazy. Sort of, I have to remember it—remember it enough so that it does not impact my day.

Survivors Regained Self-Trust

While many survivors still experienced self-doubt, even more survivors (and overlapping with those who still doubted) shared experiences of rebuilding their sense of self-trust in various domains. A few survivors said that they had *regained self-trust in their memory*. They described looking back with clarity now on moments where they had previously experienced doubt, for instance knowing with confidence now that a harming partner had been lying. One survivor discussed a sense that, even though she still doubted her memories, they were getting clearer over time. Melody, whose husband would hide and rearrange objects, said she no longer felt forgetful and disorganized, once she realized that he had been hiding things.

Many survivors also said that they had *regained self-trust in their interpretation or understanding of experiences*. They described looking back on their experiences of gaslighting with more clarity now, recognizing that their experiences were real, and they were not to blame for them. Ari said:

So definitely my perspectives have shifted, and I definitely recognize that he was a toxic shitty individual that was being extremely manipulative and controlling, and it wasn't my fault that that was what happened. And also that, yes, these things did happen, and I didn't make it up, and it was really terrible. Yeah, so definitely things have shifted quite a bit since then.

Other survivors described trusting their interpretation of ongoing interactions with their harming partners who, for instance, they still shared custody or property with. Lashay provided a recent

example of a time her harming partner, who had lied throughout their relationship, called her after spending time with their kids and how her perspective on his lying had changed:

He goes to tell me how my daughter told him that she didn't like my new boyfriend, and it was just something about him and these are his words: It's that he knows him and my daughter have been through a lot, him and me, but she misses him and wants him to come home. So, we ended the phone conversation and I called my daughter and said, "Did you say this?" and I'm laughing, because I know she didn't say this, and I talked to her. We talked. So I'm laughing, and when I get done telling her, she's laughing because she's like, "Mama." I'm like, "I know, but I still had to ask." Like, I know he's been lying.

Other survivors talked about doubting themselves less in other situations, outside of the harming relationship. Marilyn shared examples of being more assertive in a range of interactions and standing up for her professional expertise, where she might not have in the past. Anna described the impact of developing greater self-trust in all of her relationships:

I started to believe that I have a right to my opinion, and if this person do not like what I said, then that is okay with me. Before will be to the point where I didn't say anything. It was like emotional abuse with friendships. It was like I can't even name what was before. It was just like such a disaster.

This perspective represented a marked change for Anna, who had described feeling like she had no voice at all, during her harming relationship.

Finally, survivors expressed greater self-trust in their understanding of themselves, since the gaslighting relationship ended. A few said they had *regained self-trust in their mental status*, simply stating that now "I know I'm not crazy." A few also said that they had *regained self-trust in their abilities in specific roles*. They said, where they had questioned their abilities before,

they now knew, "I'm a good cook," or "I'm a good mother." Ruth described the ways her thinking had changed about her parenting:

Now I don't think like that anymore. Now I'm doing my therapy and my self-work and I know that—that I am a good mother and because sometimes I do beat myself up – we are our worst critics, so there are some days where I'm just like damn, and I feel like that but, I've gotten better because now I do feel like I'm a good mother and you know I'm doing everything that I need to be doing up until this point, you know, so.

Ultimately, most of the survivors in this study claimed that they had, to varying degrees, regained self-trust in domains where they had doubted themselves during the gaslighting process.

Cluster III: Ecological Influences on Survivor Self-Doubt

Across interviews, survivors described a range of different ecological factors that influenced the gaslighting process, either contributing to the self-doubt that they felt in the face of gaslighting tactics or contributing to their ability to resist self-doubt. They shared about (a) individual factors, (b) interpersonal factors related to their harming partners, (c) interpersonal factors related to their social support networks, (d) interpersonal/institutional factors related to system players, and (e) ideological factors.

Individual Factors

Survivors talked about the ways that their individual traits and experiences, as well as those of their harming partners, contributed either to their self-doubt or their ability to resist self-doubt. For instance, many survivors said that the *lingering impacts of past trauma* contributed to their susceptibility to self-doubt, in the face of gaslighting tactics. They described abusive relationships from their childhoods that planted seeds of self-doubt in specific domains. As Anna explained:

When I was called certain names, you know, it is like an echo which kind of connects with the childhood, and it is like, I started to believe it—yes this is true... Again, I'm the one who is not good. Again I'm the one who is unresponsible, and I'm the one who is guilty. I have had that before many times, so I started thinking it was normality. I was like, that's normal and that should always be normal at the time.

Addie described a similar history:

I had, I'd say, some emotional abuse growing up in childhood and adolescence, and then the abusive relationship in college, and then I wouldn't call it abusive but I would say toxic relationship at the beginning of graduate school, and then this abusive relationship. So, I think it's like, I already had the foundation laid—like if somebody says it's your fault or you're being anxious or you're reacting in a certain way, it's just like I automatically believe it and kind of shut down. So that's kind of how that happened in that relationship I think.

One survivor said that abuse and neglect she experienced in childhood made particularly vulnerable to self-doubt about her relationships and value to other people, which her harming partner exploited. Ari described the ways their mother would minimize and deny their memories of abusive behavior, which increased their vulnerability to mistrust their memories in romantic relationships too:

Well I think that definitely, like I said, kind of like how my mom would just kind of minimize and deny, so it was so easy to kind of like—to kind of question my own reality and question my own perceptions and be like, "Is this even happening?" And so I think it was pretty easy for that stuff to kind of be evoked and brought back up, like in future

relationships and stuff cause—definitely having a lot of that questioning myself and questioning whether things actually happened or not.

Ari also said that their trauma history generally contributed to dissociation and memory issues that made it harder to trust themselves. Multiple survivors also described traumatizing experiences of psychiatric hospitalization where they had not been fully lucid—either due to psychotic symptoms, medications, or repressing traumatic memories—and the way that these traumatic hospitalizations increased concerns that their memories were fallible or that their perceptions were faulty. Sophia explained how knowing that that she has suppressed traumatic memories around her hospitalization contributed to self-doubt:

So whenever like I'd fight with Larry about stuff, and he would like—and he would be like, "I never said that," or like, "What are you talking about? I never did that"—'cause it was usually like, I would be like, "You said this, and it made me really sad. You did this and made me really sad when you did this." He would be like, "What are you talking about? I never said that. I never did that." And then, so I would be like, "Oh ok, like he might be right 'cause, you know, you like to suppressed things, and you like to like—like, you like to make up memories in your head," so I would be like, "Ok, maybe I'm just making up a memory in my head, and he didn't actually say that or do that, or I misinterpreted it, misremembered what he said or what he did."

A few survivors also named *physical vulnerabilities* as a factor that contributed to self-doubt, in the face of gaslighting tactics. Multiple said that being pregnant made them doubt their memories. Anna recalled, "I thought that, yes, he is right, and probably I don't remember, or maybe I was blaming my hormones because I'm pregnant." Lashay said that earlier in her relationship, she questioned her memory because she thought she had "pregnancy brain," but

later, when she was no longer pregnant, she realized her partner was simply lying to her. Finally, Melody said that her chronic migraines contributed to susceptibility to doubting her own memory, because she knew that she did not always remember things when she had a bad headache.

Harming partners also had individual characteristics that made survivors trust them more, and therefore trust *themselves* less. This was particularly the case for the many survivors who described their *harming partners as charming, charismatic, or well-liked*. For instance, survivors said their partners were involved in their churches and communities, brought plants as gifts to their neighbors, had large social circles, and were well-respected in their workplaces. These factors particularly influenced survivors' self-doubt about their perception or interpretation of harmful behaviors or belief that they were to blame for the abuse. Melody said:

Everybody loves him you know. He's good to his family, he loves his mom. You know, he takes care of his family. What's wrong with me that he can't treat me like that? So, that's where it came from, because he was great to everyone else, that I felt like it was me because why can't he, you know, if he's great with everyone else, I'm the only person he's not treating nicely or loving or caring, then maybe it is me. So for a long time I maybe thought it was me.

Addie echoed this sentiment:

People generally liked him. Like my family really liked him. My friends really liked him. They didn't see any of that fighting stuff. So, I think that has made it a little harder... I was like, well, they like him and like I don't know. Yeah so, I must be wrong, and he must be right, and I am not the one—I am the one who is causing stuff. And it is my fault that things are happening.

While the individual factors described above exacerbated survivors' self-doubt in the face of gaslighting tactics, survivors also named factors that contributed to their ability to resist self-doubt. At the individual level, many survivors shared that, over the course of their relationships, they began to *learn about or identify abusive relationship dynamics*. They described reading, doing research, and joining groups where they learned about DV. Ari explained how this changed their perspective on their relationship:

You know, I've done a lot of kind of research into it, and I've done a lot of work on—you know with the therapist and also now with like the DV advocate, right. I like, I feel like I know a lot—a lot more about it, and I know that it can be like really, you know, that people that are literally—part of the cycle of abuse and the power and control is like kind of minimizing and pretending it didn't happen, or ignoring, or things like that, and so I definitely like now kind of look back on it and I'm like, "Yes, that was a really unhealthy relationship."

Melody said that she began to realize during her divorce that abusive relationships did not necessarily involve punches and black eyes, and Katie described the validation and recognition she felt when she first learned the term "gaslighting:"

I think when "gaslighting" was phrased as a form of manipulation to basically get you under someone's control by doubting your own perception of reality, it was like—it's just like—it's like reading a description of your life, and it's just like, "Oh yeah! Of course! That's me." So, it just feels like, "Ugh, you are describing what happened to me," and it felt very relieving of like, "Oh my god, there is a name to this." And also validating or just kind of vindicating of, "Oh my god this, is a real thing—kind of like a form of brain washing or mind control or something."

Particularly for survivors who had been gaslit into believing that they were misinterpreting harmful behaviors in their relationship, greater education and awareness of abusive relationship dynamics provided a validating perspective.

Interpersonal Factors: Harming Partners

Along with the individual factors that exacerbated vulnerability to self-doubt, survivors described their partners using coercive control strategies, including physical, sexual, and emotional abuse to maintain deepen survivor self-doubt. Most survivors in this study reported threatened or actual physical violence in their harming relationships. The physical violence ranged from slamming doors, throwing, hitting, and breaking objects, and pushing survivors to punching and choking survivors or pushing them down the stairs. Partners threatened to shoot, stab, or kill survivors. Multiple survivors in this study ended up in the hospital at some point, due to injuries sustained from their partners' violence. Anna's partner indirectly physically harmed her by locking her in the basement without food or water, while she was pregnant, and leaving her there for long periods of time, which made her feel "like an animal" – merely focused on survival. He also hit her in head, leading her to wonder if she had sustained concussion or developed memory issues because of the violence. Indeed, multiple survivors described the kinds of violence that could lead to traumatic brain injuries (TBIs.) Addie's partner choked her and pushed her down the stairs during a fight, and she remembers feeling afterwards that it was her fault for making him so angry.

Many survivors also described *sexual violence*, including non-consensual sex and sex that was physically violent. For instance, Addie, who had a prior history of sexual trauma, had a partner who would ignorer her when she tried to set boundaries and then would blame her for being overly sensitive. Riva said, "Like he would hit me during sex. There would be instances of

me saying 'no' over and over again." She had a history of self-injury, and after her partner found this out, he tied her to a chair and cut her during sex. Riva described feeling crazy for "letting" these things happen to her.

Harming partners engaged in a range of abuse tactics to make survivors feel stuck or trapped. For instance, many survivors reported that their partners engaged in *surveillance* tactics. They would read survivors' mail and text messages, listen in on phone calls, try to access email accounts, go through call and texts logs to verify who survivors had been talking with, follow them places, and show up unannounced or call survivors repeatedly to check-up on them.

Melody described the confusion that she felt in response to her husband's surveillance: "And sometimes he would just pop up, and it was him, I guess, not trusting me – thinking somebody was there because I was all the way there by myself... But he could never tell me why he was trying to reach me, and then we would get into these arguments and he would make me feel like I didn't know how to be in a relationship."

Many harming partners also controlled survivors through *financial abuse*, for instance insisting on handling all of the family's finances, sabotaging the survivor's attempts to find or keep a job, or otherwise keeping the survivor completely financially dependent on him. Tilly's partner convinced her to spend all of her savings on a new house, which she later found out only had his name on the title. Joanne, whose husband left her unemployed and with substantial debt, described how trapped she felt: "I felt completely like up to my neck in concrete." Most harming partners also used *isolation* to further control survivors. Sometimes isolation tactics were overt, like hiding a survivor's phone so she could not call her sister, or calling a survivor while she was with her friends and insisting that she talk with him instead. Other times, the isolation was subtle, like telling a survivor that he did not like her friends, so she spent less and less time with them,

or gradually spending more time with his family and less time with hers. Fiona described how her husband convinced her to move to another state, away from all of her friends and family, which she recognized in retrospect was a way of isolating her, though she did not know at the time.

Harming partners further controlled survivors by causing them emotional distress and diminishing their self-esteem. Many harming partners would *demean survivors' worth* by calling them names or humiliating them. This included cursing at survivors and a calling them names, like "bitch", "pig", or "whore." Survivors' partners called them worthless, and Ruth said her partner would tell her that she should kill herself because the world would be better off without her. Her partner would also make fun of her body, particularly after she had children, and she recalled an incident when he demeaned her by buying her a milkshake but then immediately throwing it in the trash. He would also call her and make her watch him perform sexual acts with another woman. Anna, an immigrant, whose partner called her worthless, told her she deserved to be deported. Many harming partners created distress by threatening or actually *harming others*, including survivors' children and families. Ruth's partner threatened to go to her child's school with a gun. Lashay's beat her up and kidnapped her children on multiple occasions. Survivors also shared stories of their partners threatening their families, like Marilyn, who recalled:

Like he would threaten me divorcing him like, "I'm going to get you. I know where you live. I know everything about you. I know your family. I know where everybody lives. I'm going to hurt somebody. You mess with me, you are messing with the wrong guy." He was so intimidating like very intimidating.

Many harming partners confused or distressed survivors by punctuating abusive behaviors with *over-the-top attention or affection*. Some survivors used the term "love-bombing" and described relationships beginning with "intoxicating" flattery and praise, so that the survivor was "hooked." Others described a whiplash push and pull dynamics, where harming partners would reel survivors back in with affection after abusing them. Veronica described this dynamic: "I kept giving him chances... He tries to pull you back in again. And then when they get you, then they want to throw you away again. So, they're like using you as a toy and it's awful." Katie explained that the "love-bombing" at the beginning of her relationship made her more attached to her partner, trusting and believing him more than she might otherwise.

Finally, through various abusive behaviors, many harming partners *triggered extreme*emotional reactions in survivors, which only contributed to their sense of being "crazy."

Survivors described feeling anxious, developing nightmares, paranoia, panic attacks, and wanting to die. Sophia said that the confusion and distress caused by her relationship was so bad that, "it felt [like] my brain was about to crack open and fall apart." Lashay said, "I didn't *think* I was going crazy; I was going crazy!" A number of survivors echoed this sentiment, that their own emotional responses made them feel that were going crazy. Katie described feeling "hysterical" and crying a lot. She remembers believing, "'Oh, I'm unstable.' Like I thought I for sure had bipolar disorder because I was so up and down, and I felt like I couldn't—like something was wrong with me." Addie recalled that her partner would "shut down" during fights, a dynamic which drew her into being more reactive and "acting crazy." While none of the survivors in this study explicitly named the full picture, one can see how all of these different layers of abuse— including head injuries, feeling completely trapped, life-threatening fear, a

sense of worthlessness, and a rollercoaster of extreme emotions—could all contribute to survivor's vulnerability, confusion, and doubt, in the face of gaslighting tactics.

Interpersonal Factors: Social Supports

Along with interpersonal factors between themselves and their partners, survivors also described the ways that social support networks influenced their self-doubt or resistance to gaslighting. Most survivors said that family and friends going along with gaslighting narratives contributed to their self-doubt. Survivors who experienced gaslighting around their interpretation of abusive behaviors doubted themselves even more when friends and family continued to stand by the harming partner. They described how their partners had other people "fooled," how family would continue to support them even when they learned about abusive behavior, and how friends continued spending time with harming partners, after the abusive relationship ended. Lashay's friend even told her "you're tripping," when the survivor described what was happening in her relationship. These kinds of experiences led survivors to think, "It's something about me" or "something was wrong with me." Katie said that, when her parents responded to the realization that she was in a harmful relationship by fighting with and yelling at her, it deepened her sense that "I am the bad person." Family and friends contributed to self-doubt in other domains, as well. Joanne experienced self-doubt in particular about her value to other people, which was only reinforced when family members did not stand up for her when her husband was mean to her in public or when they took his side in the divorce. Another survivor, whose partner convinced her that she was bad mother, also doubted her abilities in this role when her partner's mother echoed the same insults.

At least as often as they contributed to survivors' self-doubt, family and friends contributed to their ability to resist self-doubt. Most survivors shared examples of *family and*

friends providing valuable counter-narratives to gaslighting. Survivors said that that sisters, close female friends, and others in their lives provided validation by affirming that survivors were good mothers, were not overreacting or making things up, and really had experienced harmful behavior. Marilyn shared a powerful story about how she reached a turning point in her relationship with her husband when her sister witnessed the gaslighting first-hand. She had been getting ready for an important interview one morning, and he had hidden her keys, as he had done many times before, to disorient her:

He was trying to make me late and trying to make me off-kilter, so I called my sister and I'm like, "Oh my god can you come to the house?" And then like Dennis started yelling at me, and then she ended up coming to the house, and he was like yelling at me, and then I like—she came in the door, and I was like you know arguing with him, like I almost became like the aggressor, and I'm like, "Stop it!" and he goes, "Look, she is going to assault me," like to my sister...and she is like, "No, you cornered her," because she had heard the phone conversation that happened prior to that, 'cause I had put the phone down, and I forgot. I didn't realize it was still on, and she could hear us fighting, and he was cornering me, and I'm like, "Stop it. Don't touch me. Get away from me." She heard like a little of an altercation. And so I just feel like that's when I started to let her in, but then I was afraid for her safety, you know. She said—she kept saying, "Where are the keys?" and he goes, "I don't know," and my ex-husband made it out like I lost them. And she said, "Dennis you are not going to con me. You can con my sister, but you are not going to con me. This is ridiculous. Stop it. Get her keys. This is crazy." And then he goes, "Oh look, they are right over there," or like, I think he grabbed them from somewhere and, "Oh, they are underneath the mail, like what are you—you couldn't see

them? Are you blind?" And so he definitely—it was almost like he tortured me, like he would emotionally torture me with things like that. So that was like an incident that—then my sister started to get a little bit more involved.

Other survivors described the ongoing importance of having friends and family validate their experiences and perspectives, because they still struggled to trust themselves. Sophia talked about seeking validation and support from friends, when she worried that she was lying or making things up for attention:

It is so much more helpful hearing someone other than myself try to convince me that. Cause when I try to convince myself that, it is hard because I like don't trust my judgement, and sometimes I don't trust my memory, but the only thing I do trust is the feeling I felt in those moments where it was just, "This is wrong. This is wrong. This shouldn't be happening right now," and so like, reliving those experiences with people that I trust and hearing them like say back to me like, "No what you—you had the right to feel scared, and you had the right to feel upset," it is like really reassuring 'cause I don't trust myself. Like I don't trust myself. But I do trust my friends, so yeah.

Many survivors also said they felt validated when they *recognized that others have had similar experiences*. They described attending support groups, joining online communities, and meeting friends-of-friends who had been in similar kinds of harmful relationships. Tilly said that when she sees other people post about experiences like hers in online groups, she thinks, "Ok, that is what I'm going through, and this is real. That helps me to trust myself, if that makes sense." Ruth, who was a member of a support group for DV survivors said of her support group experience, "It makes you feel really good, like oh god, like someone else had experienced this, and I'm not just crazy." A number of other survivors echoed this sentiment, that recognizing

shared experiences with other survivors made them feel less "crazy." One survivor even said that finding out about the present study was validating because it was an acknowledgement that her experiences were not only real but common enough that they were worth researching.

Interpersonal/Institutional Factors: System Players

During and after their experiences of gaslighting, survivors also had interactions and relationships with system players who influenced their self-trust. A few survivors shared that they felt heightened self-doubt when a therapist or advocate went along with gaslighting narratives. Tilly described feeling unsupported by a marriage counselor and how this made her question, "Maybe there is something wrong with me that I'm not aware of, or maybe I have a warped perception of this." Melody shared an example of her husband subtly riling her up in front of their therapist, to make her look bad:

I think one of the things that—that made me question myself more was, we did have therapy, and the way that he is around people, he's really manipulating. So I'm in therapy with him, and I'm so mad, and I'm angry, and he's so nice and polite, and he's listening, and he's like—he knows how to wait his turn. He's showing a lot of self-disciple and, you know, and then I'm in there, and I'm just like—like, you know, he would have a way of doing things that he knew irritated me, but no one else would see. And so he'd walk away looking like, "I don't know what's wrong with her," and I'm just like mad, like a mangy dog, like I have rabies or something. And so, that made me question myself and even if I—and maybe something's wrong with me because even the therapist would look at me like, "You're gonna have to, like, use your inside voice." 'Cause I'd be yelling and screaming because I'd be so—I was just so frustrated.

One of the primary gaslighting narratives in Melody's marriage was that she was misinterpreting her husband's behavior because she just did not have a good understanding of what was normal and expected in relationships. So when their therapist also did not notice him riling her up and suggested that the survivor needed to calm down, it only served to further inculcate her self-doubt.

A few survivors also said that *police went along with gaslighting narratives*, contributing to their self-doubt. Melody, the same survivor whose husband made her look like a "mangy dog" in front of their couple's therapist, also described calling the police on multiple occasions when she felt unsafe, even though there had been no physical violence. She explained that, at the time, she was not familiar with the concept of psychological abuse and could not explain what she was feeling, so when the police showed up and said, "He's not touching you. He didn't touch you. What's the problem?" this contributed to her confusion and sense that it was her interpretation of the relationship that was mistaken. As described above, Veronica spent the night in jail after her husband assaulted her but then framed her for assaulting him. He told the police, "Oh, I'm not pressing charges because she is mentally ill and unstable." Veronica said that she questioned her mental status even more when the police responded to this by offering to connect her to mental health services, simply going along with her husband's suggestion that she was "mentally ill" or "unstable."

On the other hand, many survivors also shared that system players contributed to their ability to resist self-doubt, for instance when *therapists and advocates provided valuable* counter-narratives to gaslighting. Survivors described receiving validation from therapists, counselors, CPS workers, DV advocates, and Title IX officers. These validating interactions increased their self-trust, whether it was through reassurance about their parenting, recognition of

abuse dynamics, or reminding survivors that they were not to blame for their experiences of harm. For instance, Sophia, whose boyfriend would accuse her of seeking attention or playing the victim and who still struggled with self-doubt, said, "I didn't really put the connections together until my therapist was like, 'Well, maybe you feel this way because someone was consistently telling you that you were this type of person in the past.'"

Ideological Factors

At the ideological level, survivors described a range of negative social messages that they brought into their harming relationships that influenced their susceptibility to self-doubt. They reported having received these messages from their families of origin, peers, religious communities, and popular culture. Most of all, most survivors endorsed *social messages about gender*. They talked about trusting their harming partners—who were all men—because they had been brought up to listen to the "man of the house" or believed that they were supposed to be submissive or obey their husbands. Addie described having grown up observing misogyny in their family of origin and saying that this contributed to a sense that, "This is how relationships are. This is how women are subservient and men have the final say, and man's word goes." Heather shared that she felt like her husband was trying to turn her into a "stay-at-home wife from the 50s" and that she ended up falling into this role, deferring to all of his decisions. Social messaging around gender roles also affected survivors whose partners tried to convince them that they were to blame for the abusive behavior in their relationship.

Survivors describe the ways that gendered "victim blaming," "rape culture," and "toxic masculinity" contributed to their susceptibility to accept that they were at fault for the harm they experienced. Ari, who currently identifies as gender nonbinary but said that they identified as a cisgender woman for most of their life, including during the harming relationship, explained that

their socialization to blame women made it "hard to kind of combat those messages and kind of not blame myself as much" when their partner tried to convince them that they were at fault. In a similar vein, Addie, who identified as queer and whose harming relationship had been an open relationship, described growing up in a religious family where she was often depicted as the rebellious one. When her partner tried to convince her that she was at fault for his abusive behavior, she was more susceptible to believe this because she was accustomed to hearing that her identities and lifestyle were to blame for her problems.

Along with social messages about gender, survivors also described the way that other internalized social messages contributed to their susceptibility to doubt themselves in their harming relationships. A few described *social messages about age and experience*. For instance, Marilyn's husband invoked these messages by convincing her that he was more competent to handle the family's finances than she was because he was older and more experienced. He told her:

"I can do anything, and I'm older than you. I have lots of experience." So, you know, he just painted like this picture of him being this grand human being, and even though I probably had, you know, more than he did, he just had to control me and put me in my place, like put me down.

A few survivors also described *social messages about education level or socioeconomic status*. Melody's husband invoked education level, along with her family's history of addiction and incarceration, to claim authority and credibility about how relationships worked:

Education-wise, I didn't have a degree. I didn't go to college. And my family background, like I said, a lot of family members have like—they're in recovery, have

addictions, in and out of jail, so I always would feel like trying to make sure that he didn't see me like that.

She also remembered doubting herself because her family was poorer than his, and she believed that this gave him more authority than her.

Anna, who was undocumented, also described the way that *social messages about immigration status* contributed to her sense of self-doubt and her harming partner's authority in the relationship, explaining that, as an undocumented immigrant, she had felt that she did not have a voice or deserve any respect. Finally, Sophia, a half-Asian, half-white woman, shared how *social messages about racial identity* influenced her self-doubt because, "I see other suppressed groups and minorities struggle more than I do. It feels like I'm making things up so I can have like a struggle story." This contributed to her susceptibility to believe her boyfriend, when he accused her of being manipulative and attention-seeking.

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

In mainstream media, gaslighting has become an increasingly common word, spanning self-help books (Sarkis, 2018; Stern, 2018), popular memoirs (Machado, 2019; Westover, 2018), and even political discourse (Carpenter, 2018). The field of philosophy has recently taken up the challenge of defining gaslighting and locating it in a broader literature on epistemic injustice (Fricker, 2007; Spear, 2019, 2020; C. A. Stark, 2019), and the medical, mental health, and IPV fields have begun to acknowledge its centrality to dynamics of psychological abuse. For instance, the CDC now includes gaslighting in its definition psychological aggression (Breiding et al., 2015).

However, the horse has gotten ahead of the cart: There is still lack of clear consensus about what gaslighting even *is*, and only a miniscule number of peer-reviewed studies have empirically examined gaslighting in IPV: One, a sociological interview study, specifically illuminated how gaslighting in IPV fits into broader social forces, but did not delve deeply into survivors' internal experiences of gaslighting or its ramifications (Sweet, 2019). Another recent psychological study developed and validated a measure of gaslighting, based on a sample of Pakistani women, providing a valuable starting place for a two-factor framework, but one that is not well grounded in a rigorous definition or theory of gaslighting (Bhatti et al., 2021). Besides these, a couple of recent dissertations have also addressed gaslighting in IPV: One identified personality traits that were correlated with gaslighting in a small sample, using an un-validated measure of gaslighting, and without substantive theoretical rationale (Hightower, 2017), and, in another mixed methods dissertation of covert abuse tactics, the ten participants in the qualitative portion of the study endorsed gaslighting as one of the abuse tactics they had experienced (Burnett, 2020). Beyond these studies that explicitly address gaslighting in IPV, fragmented,

near-accounts from the psychological abuse literature have begun to delineate what it looks like and how it harms survivors (Lammers et al., 2005; Marshall, 1999; Sleutel, 1998; P. H. Smith et al., 1995). Yet, even taken together, this body of empirical literature barely scratches the surface of how gaslighting unfolds in intimate relationships and effects survivors. There is desperate need for more rigorous, empirical research on gaslighting, to catch up with the snowballing public discourse about this phenomenon.

Using the sparse literature described above, chapter two delineates what gaslighting in IPV *might* look like. However, the survivors interviewed for this study have provided the first empirical, systematic, and detailed account. Along with supporting and confirming the tentative descriptions of gaslighting from prior literature, participants' stories deepened these formulations. Survivors in this study highlighted the variety and complexity of gaslighting experiences, varying in the level of subjectivity of the gaslighting domains, the degree of self-doubt that gaslighting tactics may engender, and the extent of healing. Their stories also demonstrate how profoundly gaslighting is shaped by context –including systemic and identity-based inequalities, as well as relational power dynamics and social supports.

Three clusters of findings emerged from the present study, together illuminating common themes and patterns in how gaslighting tactics are deployed, the nature and magnitude of harm that they cause, and when and how they fail, because survivors are able to resist.

The first cluster consisted of a rich description of the gaslighting process in the context of IPV. The second cluster described participants' long-term responses to gaslighting, namely ongoing self-doubt or regaining self-trust. The third cluster explored the various ecological factors that contributed to either self-doubt or resistance in the face of gaslighting tactics. The following chapter reviews the key findings of each of these clusters, in the context of prior research and

then, later, in the context of Relational Cultural Theory (RCT). Finally, it discusses limitations and implications for future practice and research.

Cluster I: The Gaslighting Process

The first cluster of findings from this study illuminated how gaslighting occurs in intimate relationships and how it feels to be gaslit. This study began with a tentative formulation of a two-part model of gaslighting, involving both a) gaslighting tactics and b) resulting selfdoubt. Over the course of this study, participants clarified and deepened this definition. For instance, while survivors did describe experiences of both part a) without part b) and vice versa, it became clear that both are necessary to constitute gaslighting: If only part a) were required, then every instance of one person, e.g. lying to or insulting another person would count as gaslighting, and it would become a term so broad and diffuse as to be virtually meaningless. On the other hand, if only part b) were required, then any time a person felt doubt or confusion in a relationship, for any reason, they could claim to be gaslit. Then gaslighting would become a concept completely divorced from interpersonal harm or abuse. Given the need, then, for a twopart definition of gaslighting, the following section considers, first, part a) tactics, and then part b) self-doubt, highlighting for both where the findings of the current study align with prior research and where they deepen our understanding of gaslighting, adding nuance and complexity. This section concludes with a brief discussion of the harmful impacts of gaslighting, described by survivors in this study.

Part A: Gaslighting Tactics

The first part of gaslighting occurs when harming partners challenge survivors' knowledge, understanding, or beliefs about themselves and the world, in various ways.

Participants in this study shared the tactics that their harming partners used, including directly,

verbally challenging their knowledge or beliefs, coercing them, hiding and moving objects, and drawing in other people. Participants' descriptions of the tactics that their harming partners used to challenge their self-trust aligned with some accounts from previous psychological abuse literature. Specifically, participant descriptions closely mirror the strategies that Tolman has referred to as tactics of psychological destabilization:

An abuser may deny his actions or blame his partner for his abusive behavior or angry moods. He may lie about his whereabouts or activities and then accuse her of overreacting when she confronts him. He may hide her possessions and deny any knowledge of their whereabouts (Tolman, 1992, p. 297).

All of the tactics Tolman described came up in the interviews for this study, as did tactics that echo examples from other psychological abuse studies, such as repeating a lie or insult over and over, to inculcate it or create confusion (Lammers et al., 2005; P. H. Smith et al., 1995), calling survivors "crazy" (Alsaker et al., 2018; Warshaw et al., 2014), attempting to distort survivors' memories and perceptions (Ferraro, 2006; Hayes & Jeffries, 2016; Lammers et al., 2005), undermining their abilities (Hayes & Jeffries, 2016), and manipulating them to look "crazy" in public or in front of other people (Williamson, 2010).

Some existing measures of psychological abuse also include items that align with the gaslighting tactics described in this study. For instance, the PMWI items "told me my feelings were crazy" and "tried to make me feel crazy" (Tolman, 1989), the Questionnaire on Psychological Abuse (QPA) items, "my partner denied having told me things that he really had told me" and "my partner accused me of constantly imagining things that hadn't happened" (Moreno-Manso et al., 2014), and the Emotional Abuse Questionnaire (EAQ)

items, "tells other people that there's something wrong with me" and "questions my sanity" (Jacobson & Gottman, 1998) all echo experiences that survivors in this study endorsed. However, notably, a number of the most commonly-used measures of IPV and emotional abuse, such as the Revised Conflict Tactics Scale (CTS-2; Straus, Hamby, Boney-McCoy, & Sugarman, 1996) and the Multidimensional Measure of Emotional Abuse (MMEA; Murphy & Hoover, 1999) do not include any items that reference gaslighting tactics.

Along with confirming and solidifying the previous glimmers of evidence of gaslighting tactics, the current study is also the first to identify multiple domains of gaslighting tactics. Survivors described gaslighting in the domains of memory, interpretation of harmful behaviors and other experiences, mental status, fundamental traits, abilities in specific roles, and value to other people. These gaslighting domains varied along a continuum of subjectivity, ranging from the most concrete, material perceptions, e.g. denying having insulted the survivor or denying having hiden a set of keys, to more malleable, subjective beliefs, e.g. about whether a survivor is a good mother, is spoiled, or is to blame for a conflict. Multiple domains of gaslighting typically occurred within a single relationship, and survivors sometimes described greater resistance in one domain than in another, as will be discussed further below. The findings from this study tentatively suggest that, not only do gaslighting tactics occur along a continuum of domains, but that gaslighting attempts in different domains may lead to different outcomes.

Part B: Degrees of Doubt and Resistance

Along with the gaslighting tactics that their partners used, survivors also described the epistemic self-doubt they felt in response. While all participants questioned themselves to some extent in response to gaslighting tactics, many also had moments of resistance, when they

refused to accept their harming partners' narratives or version of events over their own. For some survivors, this varied by domain. For instance, they may have been particularly inclined to doubt their likeability but not their intelligence, based on prior life experiences of feeling vulnerable in that domain. For others, this varied over time, as they gradually developed greater resistance. Other survivors described a maddening experience of going back and forth between doubting and trusting their own knowledge, sometimes day-to-day, other times minute-to-minute.

Self-doubt. The forms of self-doubt described by survivors in this study align with prior descriptions from the psychological abuse literature. Survivors reported experiences of questioning, crazy-making, feelings of surreality, and loss of self.

Self-trust is fundamental to our ability to make decisions and actions on a daily basis. A number of scholars have explored what it means to have self-trust (Govier, 1993; Pasveer, 1997), but no one has more poignantly described the impacts of losing self-trust than philosopher Trudy Govier, who has written:

Anyone is likely to distrust himself or herself in some specific situations. Far from being a handicap, self-distrust in this sense may on occasion be helpful in causing one to hold back from mistakes and rash behavior. But core distrust of oneself—self-doubt in fundamental areas—is something else again. To lack confidence in one's own ability to observe and interpret events, to remember and recount, to deliberate and act generally, is a handicap so serious as to threaten one's status as an individual moral agent. Suppose that one were to distrust one's own memory of one's childhood, one's ability to understand the gestures and comments of other people, one's instinctive feelings toward acquaintances and possible friends, one's sense of one's interests and abilities as regards occupation and leisure activities, and one's ability to define and implement future goals.

With such extreme self-doubt—a lack of self-trust in core areas, a lack of any sense that one is fundamentally a worthy and competent person—one could scarcely function as a person. With the self in default, something else would take over. Perhaps one would be governed by others—a parent, husband, or charismatic leader. Or The Party. (Govier, 1993, p. 108)

Participants described exactly this phenomenon, sometimes experiencing a self-doubt so intense that they opted to give over all reasoning and decision-making to their harming partners. This total loss of voice or self, endorsed by a number of participants, also aligns with the examples from the psychological abuse literature about the ways that self-doubt can lead to what Abramson calls "existential silencing" (Abramson, 2014)—that is, feeling like they were "coming apart" or that they did not know who they were anymore (Lammers et al., 2005; Loring, 1994; Marshall, 1999; P. H. Smith et al., 1995).

Survivors in this study also described questioning themselves, feeling confusion, and having difficulty trusting their own judgments or decision-making abilities. All of these are forms of self-doubt have also been described in the literature (Portnow, 1996; P. H. Smith et al., 1995; Whiting et al., 2012). Participants also described a sense that reality felt warped, aligning with literature on "surreality" or a "Twilight Zone" experience (Ferraro, 2006; Williamson, 2010). Finally the term "crazy" resounded throughout the interviewees in this study, as it has in previous studies of psychological abuse and gaslighting (Burnett, 2020; Eisenberg, 2011; Hayes & Jeffries, 2016; Sleutel, 1998; Sweet, 2019).

Resistance. The current study is the first to recognize resistance as an alternative to self-doubt, in response to gaslighting tactics. The presence of both resistance and doubt responses in this study clarifies the necessity of a two-part model of gaslighting. While scholars have

previously suggested that psychological abuse may be best understood as a combination of both harmful behaviors and their impacts (Tolman, 1992), the current study extends this specifically to gaslighting, whereby tactics *and* self-doubt are both required for an instance to constitute as successful gaslighting. Models that either conflate tactics and self-doubt or attend only to tactics seem to suggest either that self-doubt is inevitable in the face of gaslighting tactics or that the efficacy or impact of the tactics is irrelevant. By drawing attention to the possibility of resistance, this study provides important preliminary findings for designing and implementing gaslighting interventions. If survivors do resist gaslighting tactics, then interventions can be designed to foster or support this resistance.

Survivors in this study outlined a spectrum of degrees of doubt and resistance. Although in some instances, survivors completely accepted or adopted their harming partners' narratives or fully recognized and resisted gaslighting narratives, there were still other instances when they went back and forth, feeling confused, or repeatedly changing their minds about who to believe. Survivors further highlighted the complex and changing nature of these responses over time and in different contexts. Some experienced self-doubt in one or multiple domains but resistance in others. Even those who felt tremendous self-doubt in multiple domains sometimes drew the line at challenges to their knowledge of empirical facts: In other words, they felt profound confusion and doubt about, e.g. their own character or intentions, but they were unwilling to accept that they had physically been somewhere, done something, or said something of which they had no recollection. This pattern was exemplified by the survivor who refused to (falsely) admit that she had cheated on her boyfriend, but did begin to wonder if she was somehow to blame for her boyfriend's suspicion, for instance by acting overly flirtatious or being dishonest. Survivors' responses changed over time, as well. For instance, some survivors began to recognize and resist

gaslighting tactics more towards the end of the relationship. These findings, taken together, depict a nuanced and complex tapestry of resistance and doubt, in the face gaslighting tactics:

Experiences of doubt varied substantially between survivors and even within the same person.

Harmful Impacts of Gaslighting

The harmful impacts of gaslighting described by survivors in this study are also worth briefly noting. Survivors described emotional distress, lower self-esteem, and physical and mental health challenges, as well as negative effects on their relationships. All of these are known harmful effects of IPV, more generally (Goodman et al., 2009; Lagdon et al., 2014; Plichta, 2004; Tolman, 2011). At times, survivors in this study drew the connection between self-doubt and these outcomes very clearly, and at other times it was less explicit. Regardless, the findings of this study suggest that gaslighting may play a role in contributing to many of the negative sequelae associated with IPV, and more research is needed to understand the full nature and magnitude of this role.

Cluster II: Long-Term Responses

In the second cluster of findings, the participants in this study provided the first empirical account of what happens to survivors' self-doubt once they have left their harming relationships, namely when, how, and to what extent they recovered self-trust. As discussed below, participant descriptions of this phenomenon mirrored the spectrum of resistance and doubt outlined above, with some survivors describing ongoing doubt, others reporting they had regained self-trust, and still others moving back and forth between the two, having better and worse days, and actively practicing and cultivating self-trust.

Lingering Self-Doubt

While the long-term implications of gaslighting in IPV have not been systematically explored before, one dissertation on self-doubt in adults described people who had experienced gaslighting from their families in childhood as having developed a "disposition or stance of selfdoubt and a disbelief in her ability to know, feel or need, which is then brought into adulthood" (Portnow, 1996, p. 262). This finding suggests that gaslighting, at least in childhood, may indeed cause long-term damage to a person's sense of self-trust. In the current study, survivors of gaslighting in IPV endorsed a similar experience: Some described a continual need to go back and check the notes that they left for themselves, to reassert that they had not made up their experiences. Others reflected on an ongoing epistemic shakiness and liability to resort back to feeling that they were the "crazy" one, when new conflicts arose in relationships. Some survivors also described struggling to make decisions independently, even after the gaslighting ended, relying more on others than they had in the past to double-check their instincts or confirm their decisions. These lasting ramifications point to the ways that gaslighting may profoundly undermine survivors' sense of themselves as trustworthy, reliable narrators and agents in their own lives, even in new relationships and contexts.

Regaining Self-Trust

Survivors in this study also shared stories of regaining self-trust, after their gaslighting relationships ended. For some, this process had already begun before the harming relationship ended, as they resisted more and more. For others, it continued to be an arduous, ongoing process, taking years. Survivors expressed greater confidence in their abilities, perceptions, and judgment, describing a new-found assertiveness and ability to set boundaries in relationships.

They also looked back on moments of confusion or doubt in their gaslighting relationships with

more clarity than they had before, for instance expressing confidence that now they *knew* their partner had been lying, when, at the time, they had felt confused or unsure. Yet some of the same survivors who described these experiences also continued to experience moments of self-doubt, as well. For instance, they had some days that were better than others, or certain contexts would bring back the self-doubt.

These findings suggest that healing from the self-doubt of gaslighting, like other aspects of gaslighting, is a not a monolithic or binary experience. Rather, survivors seem to fall along a continuum of healing, with some survivors feeling a great sense of empowerment and clarity, once they have left the harming relationship, others remaining stuck in a place of utter confusion and doubt, and many more falling somewhere in between. These dynamics may shift over time, as well, depending on a range of contextual factors. These contextual factors are the subject of the following section.

Cluster III: Impacts of Ecological Factors

While one previous sociological account has documented the impact of social identities and system interactions in the gaslighting process (Sweet, 2019), no other study so far has explored gaslighting through an ecological framework. This framework emphasizes the role of contextual factors at different levels of a person's surrounding (or ecosystem) on trauma risk and resilience (Harvey, 1996, 2007; Tummala-Narra, 2007) or other aspects of human development (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). In cluster three, participants described individual, interpersonal, ideological, and institutional ecological factors that contributed to either self-doubt or resistance in the face of gaslighting tactics. The following section reviews key findings from each of these ecological levels, in the context of prior literature.

Individual Ecology

Participants in this study emphasized the role of individual factors, related either to themselves or their harming partners, as critical to the development of gaslighting—either making them trust themselves *less* or trust their partners *more*. These factors included lingering effects from survivors' past trauma histories as well as their partners' charisma and charm. Survivors also described education about IPV as one particular individual factor that contributed to their ability to resist self-doubt. Each of these factors is described in more detail below.

Although no previous studies have specifically investigated the influence of individual ecological factors on susceptibility to self-doubt in the face of gaslighting tactics, invocation of survivors' personal, pre-existing vulnerabilities has been documented in the IPV literature, more broadly. Dutton and Goodman (2005) identify exploitation of survivors' vulnerabilities as a key component of coercive controlling relationships, and numerous studies have also documented the relationship between childhood maltreatment and adulthood revictimization (Bensley et al., 2003; Lilly, London, & Bridgett, 2014; Widom, Czaja, & Dutton, 2008). The current study is the first, however, to specifically document the ways that lingering impacts of survivors' prior trauma histories exacerbated their vulnerability to self-doubt, in the face of gaslighting tactics: Survivors described vulnerability due to prior gaslighting experiences from their families of origin, memory issues associated with traumatic stress responses, and pre-existing relational narratives that suggested that they were to blame for their experiences of abuse, making the gaslighting familiar and easier to believe,

Survivors also described their harming partners' charm and charisma as a factor that contributed to their self-doubt. These personality traits have been document in harming partners before and noted as an important mechanism through which skillful perpetrators avoid detection

(Day & Bowen, 2015). Survivors in the present study suggested their partners' charming and sociable personalities, not only helped them hide the abuse from other people, but also, in a way, from the very people they were harming—making survivors feel confused and doubt their own interpretations of abusive dynamics.

Survivors also described one particular individual-level experience that contributed to their ability to resist self-doubt, namely the experience of learning more about IPV and dynamics of abusive relationships. A key domain of gaslighting in this study was participants' interpretation of behaviors or interactions within their harming relationships (where their partners convinced them that they were e.g. overreacting or in some way to blame.) Therefore, learning more about IPV, especially psychological abuse and coercive control, and beginning to recognize those same dynamics in their own relationships, helped them gain a validating perspective on their experiences.

Interpersonal Ecology: Harming Partners

At the interpersonal level, harming partners contributed to survivors' self-doubt through a range of other abuse tactics, from physical and sexual violence, to surveillance and financial abuse, to verbal degradation. A substantial body of literature describes the ways that various abuse tactics may co-occur in harming relationships, reinforcing one another and creating a web that survivors feel powerless to escape (e.g. Dutton & Goodman, 2005; Pence & Paymar, 1986; E. Stark, 2007). However, no prior study has explored how other abuse tactics specifically contribute to or set the stage for gaslighting, by increasing survivors' vulnerability to *self-doubt* in particular. Survivors in this study have provided a preliminary picture of just how this unfolds: They described how harming partners threatened and intimidated them into acquiescing to a different version of reality; how they used physical abuse, such as knocking a survivor

unconscious, to increase survivors' confusion about their own memories; how they degraded them verbally and sexually, making them feel worthless, such that they valued their own opinions and perspectives less; and even how the overall dynamics of IPV made survivors have panic attacks, feel depressed, or develop trauma-related memory issues, such that they felt "crazy," unstable, or unwell. These traumatic brain injuries, memory loss, feelings of going "crazy", fear, sense of being trapped, and profound sense of worthlessness all made harming partners more believable when they accused survivors of being forgetful, incompetent, or "crazy." In other words, all of these other abuse tactics served to widen the gulf between survivors' and their partners' authority or credibility, opening survivors up to great self-doubt.

Interpersonal Ecology: Social Support

Another piece of the gaslighting ecology that survivors described was their social support networks. Indeed, survivor described their relationships, e.g. with friends, family, and other survivors as critical to their sense of self-trust or self-doubt. Psychologists have long documented that people are more likely to concede to others' ways of seeing things, sometimes even literally altering their own perceptions or empirical reality, when they believe that they are alone in their perceptions and that everyone else sees something a different way to them (Asch, 1951). Further, psychological abuse scholars have argued that, whether or not survivors believe or accept their harming partners' accusations may depend on whether and what social supports they can access (Ferraro & Johnson, 1983). These dynamics played out clearly in the current study, where survivors' isolation contributed to their vulnerability to self-doubt: Sometimes harming partners accomplished this by physically isolating survivors from community, for instance moving them far away from friends and family, sabotaging their attempts to develop friendships or find employment, or, in one extreme case, trapping a survivor alone in the house for long

periods of time. Other times harming partners *epistemically* isolated survivors—convincing them *you are alone on this—no one else sees this the way that you do.* This, they achieved by claiming that other people had been saying negative things about them behind their backs that reinforced gaslighting narratives, manipulating survivors to look "crazy" in front of others, and even drawing friends and family members into supporting or corroborating gaslighting narratives. Still other times, isolation was not an explicit abuse tactic, but survivors simply entered their gaslighting relationships with few social supports, whether that was because they came from a family that had been fractured by significant stressors and trauma in the past, simply identified as an introverted person with a relatively small social circle, or, in one case, had only recently arrived in the country as an undocumented immigrant. In other cases, survivors withdrew from their communities over the course of their harming relationships, out of shame or embarrassment. Regardless of *how* they came to be isolated, when survivors in this study found themselves alone with only their own word against their harming partner's, they found it harder to resist self-doubt.

Where isolation increased harming partners' power to shape survivors' reality, social supports decreased it. In their interviews, survivors shared examples of beginning to resist gaslighting tactics when others saw and corroborated their perceptions, like the survivor whose sister overheard her fight with her husband on the phone. They also began to resist and to redevelop epistemic self-trust when they met other survivors who recognized, understood, and even shared their experiences. Survivors throughout this study found that relationships where they were listened to, trusted, and believed, as well as those where other people simply stood up for and confirmed their perceptions, provided an important source of support for fostering resistance.

Interpersonal/Institutional Ecology: System Players

Institutional ecological factors are those that pertain to a survivor's experiences navigating large systems and institutions, such as governmental agencies, schools, or religious organizations, and institutional betrayal occurs when institutions further harm those who come to them for support or help, betraying their trust (C. P. Smith & Freyd, 2014). In the current study, survivors described instances of institutional betrayal, whereby system players contributed to their self-doubt, often in response to harming partners' attempts to draw institutions into their gaslighting tactics. For instance, harming partners lied to mental health professionals, police, and court actors, telling these system players that survivors had done things that they had not done or manipulating survivors to look "crazy" in front of them. These tactics align with findings from one previous gaslighting study, which found that harming partners would exploit survivors' marginalized identities, such as gendered and racialized identities, to discredit them in front of system players (Sweet, 2019).

Survivors experienced institutional betrayal, e.g. when their couples' therapist did not recognize and played into gaslighting dynamics, or when police believed their partner's mischaracterizations, contributing to survivors' sense that their partner must be understanding something better than they did. Survivors' self-doubt in response to collusion by system players has been anecdotally hinted at in previous literature (Epstein & Goodman, 2019; Gutowski & Goodman, 2020). Survivors' experiences of invalidation by system players functioned much like the epistemic isolation described in the precious section on social supports—it deepened survivors' sense that they were alone in their perceptions—but with the additional gravitas and authority of professional expertise and institutional power.

Along with their experiences of institutional betrayal, some survivors also had interactions with system players that strengthened their resistance to self-doubt, such as a therapist who validated their perceptions or a DV advocate, CPS worker, or Title IX officer who provided counter-narratives to the gaslighting. Advocates of survivor-centered DV practice argue that, "Women experiencing abuse need to have their full experience validated... [and] may feel relieved to know that someone understands and can name the mystifying array of abusive behaviors her partner has directed at her" (Tolman, 1992, p. 298). The findings of this study support this claim, suggesting that when they believe or validate survivors' perceptions, system players have substantial power to support survivor resistance to gaslighting.

Ideological Ecology

At the ideological level, survivors reflected on how internalized social messages about their own identities made them more vulnerable to self-doubt. Previous studies have documented the ways that harming partners may invoke, e.g. mental health status, gender, racial identity, and immigration status as part of gaslighting tactics in IPV (Bonomi et al., 2017; Snyder, 2018; Sweet, 2019), and the findings of the present study support this account: Harming partners frequently attacked identities or traits associated with femininity, such as calling survivors bad mothers or wives or accusing them of being flirtatious or cheating. They also invoked other marginalized elements of survivors' identities, including their histories of mental illness.

Not only were stereotypes leveraged by harming partners in this study, they also contributed to survivors' self-doubt, whether or not their partners directly invoked them.

Psychological abuse scholar, Marti Tamm Loring, has described how ideology may contribute to vulnerability to IPV in general:

Even before the abuse begins, the foundation has been laid by earlier experiences that predispose may women to internalized the culture's devaluation of their self, leading them to tolerate the discounting and negation characteristic of emotionally abusive relationships... Social groups treated this way by the dominant society may exhibit a similar susceptibility to abuse (Loring, 1994, p. 68).

Survivors in this study shared examples of how this kind of internalized devaluation can specifically lead to self-doubt, in response to gaslighting tactics. They described believing that they must be the one doing something "wrong" in their relationship, because of internalized, gendered, victim-blaming stereotypes; They said they were more likely to trust, believe, and go along with their husbands because of social messages they had received that it was a wife's duty to listen to and obey the man of the house; One survivor said she just assumed that she was the one who was misunderstanding the dynamics in her relationship, because her husband came from a highly educated family, while many of her relatives struggled with addiction or were incarcerated; Another had internalized messaging that, because she was queer and polyamorous, her "lifestyle" was probably to blame for all of her problems; Yet another said that it did not occur to her that she was even allowed to have her own voice and subjectivity, as an undocumented immigrant. These controlling images seeped into survivors' understandings of their own and their harming partners' authority and credibility, tipping the scales again further towards the partners and increasing their ability to manipulate and define survivors' reality.

The individual, interpersonal, ideological, and institutional ecological factors described in this section contributed to survivors' sense of self-doubt and their harming partners' ability to hold power over them. All of the survivors in this study reported relevant factors across multiple ecological levels, and these factors occurred simultaneously and reinforced one another. In fact,

it is likely that gaslighting is hardest to resist and most destructive when factors across different ecological levels conspire together (Bronfenbrenner, 1979; Harvey, 1996).

Summary of Key Findings

Drawing together the findings described above, this study provides several novel contributions to the study of IPV that enable a deeper understanding of the role of gaslighting in this damaging dynamic: First of all, this study introduced a two-part model of gaslighting, whereby gaslighting consists of a *combination* of abuse tactics and self-doubt. Within this twopart model, the current study clarified and confirmed the kinds of tactics employed by gaslighters, which had been hinted at by other names in prior psychological abuse literature. Perhaps even more importantly, it introduced the concept of gaslighting domains, identifying core topics that gaslighting tactics repeatedly addressed, across survivors. The current study also provided the first account of survivors' subjective experiences of self-doubt, in the face of gaslighting tactics, as well as introducing the possibility of resistance to self-doubt and the complex terrain of resistance and doubt that may play out within any individual gaslighting relationship. This study is also the first to consider what happens to survivors' sense of self-trust after their gaslighting relationships end, finding a similarly complex terrain of—sometimes simultaneous—ongoing doubt and re-establishment of self-trust. Finally, this study built upon previous research that has explored how social power and system players may influence gaslighting tactics, to outline the impact that various ecological factors may have on a gaslighting survivor's experience of resistance and doubt. Survivors' past trauma, their knowledge of IPV, and their partners' personalities were all relevant factors, as were internalized stereotypes, other abuse tactics in the relationship, and support and validation (or lack thereof)

from family, friends, and system players. Collectively, these findings represent a substantial leap forward in our understanding gaslighting and how it fits into the dynamics of IPV.

Gaslighting In the Context of Relational Cultural Theory

Relational Cultural Theory (RCT), provided a sensitizing framework for the current study, as described in chapter two. The following section returns to RCT: first, reviewing how central concepts from RCT can sharpen a number of the elements of gaslighting described above, and, second, outlining how the present study's exploration of gaslighting in IPV may, in turn, sharpen one of the central concepts in RCT, that of mutual growth fostering relationships.

How RCT Illuminates Gaslighting

The RCT concepts of "power over" dynamics in relationships, of relational and controlling images, and of chronic disconnection and condemned isolation all align with and illuminate the accounts of gaslighting provided by survivors in this study.

"Power over" dynamics. Contrary to previous models of development, which conceptualize human flourishing through individuation, separation, and self-actualization – e.g. a "separate self" – RCT emphasizes the central role of mutual, growth-fostering relationships in wellbeing across the lifespan – e.g. a "self-in-relation" (Jordan, 2001, 2017; Miller, 1991; Surrey, 1991). According to RCT theorists, the widely pervasive myth of the separate self promotes "power over" tactics, whereby one person or group maintains autonomy and power through the subjugation of another (Jordan, 2017). One of the tactics that RCT theorists describe dominant people or groups using to maintain power over another is isolating them and silencing their experiences and opinions, declaring, "Our reality is the [only] reality. If your reality differs, we judge it and stratify it. Your reality is less good than is ours" (Jordan, 2017, p. 238). This tactic of developing "power over" survivors was evident in the present study,

where harming partners either literally, physically isolated survivors or *epistemically* isolated them. They then made claims that were fully incompatible with survivors' perceptions (e.g. *I never said that*) and judged or subordinated survivors' perceptions (e.g. *You are crazy!*) Of course, in close relationships, people often see, recall, or interpret situations differently to one another. However, RCT's conceptualization of harmful "power over" dynamics clarifies the ways that gaslighting differs from these experiences of mere disagreement. The distinct "power over" dynamics of gaslighting leave no space for mutual dissent and curiosity; it affords only one singular, totalizing narrative.

Relational and controlling images. RCT theorists have described relational images as, "expressions of individuals' expectations and fears of how others will respond to them"

(Comstock et al., 2008, p. 284; Miller & Stiver, 1995). Thus, a gaslighting survivor who has come to see herself as crazy, unreliable, and "beyond the pale" may carry this perception of herself into relationships with others. Survivors in this study described bringing relational images into their gaslighting relationships, for instance negative views of themselves as spoiled or unlikable, which created vulnerability to gaslighting. They also provided examples of the ways their gaslighting experiences created or further entrenched relational images, as they carried self-doubt with them into their future relationships, after the gaslighting ended, relying more on validation from others, and wondering am I being crazy, again? The concept of relational images highlights the ways that vulnerability to self-doubt may develop as a thread through may relationships, across the span of an individual's life. It may go all the way back to early childhood and compound or change, as new relationships confirm or disconfirm pre-existing relational images.

Patricia Hill Collins originally described controlling images, related to relational images, as entrenched stereotypes that are employed to subordinate Black women, shaping their views of themselves and controlling their behaviors (Collins, 1986, 2000; Comstock et al., 2008; Miller, 2008; M. Walker & Miller, 2001). Stereotypes of Black women as "the mammy", "jezebel", or "welfare queen" reflect the attributes of Black women that threaten white patriarchy most and therefore become sites of dehumanization and domination (Collins, 1986; Miller, 2008; Sparks, 1998). These kinds of harmful stereotypes are, of course, intersectional and may be invoked to control the behaviors of any oppressed group (Collins, 1986; Crenshaw, 1991; Miller, 2008; "The Combahee River Collective statement," 2015). Many of the ideological ecological factors described by survivors in this study—for instance, of women needing to obey their husbands, of people with lower levels of education not being intelligent or competent, or of undocumented immigrants as voiceless—can be thought of as controlling images. The concept of controlling images illuminates the way that these harmful stereotypes, when internalized by survivors, did truly serve to *control* them, granting their harming partners greater authority to shape their fundamental perceptions of themselves and the world.

Chronic disconnection and condemned isolation. According to the RCT idea of self-inrelation, an individual's relationships and sense of identity develop synchronously, and
relationships across the lifespan are central to the very organization of the self (Miller, 1991;
Surrey, 1991). Individuals seek connection in relationships, and when they experience
profound disconnection and lack of empathy—particularly when it is chronic over time—they
learn to hide or even to "twist" their own experience to align better with the other (Jordan,
2001, 2017). In the case of gaslighting, where an individual's very perceptions of the world are
undermined, such a twisting of experiences results in profound epistemic doubt and confusion.

In mutual, growth-fostering relationships, RCT theorists claim that individuals develop a greater sense of self-worth and a more accurate sense of both themselves and the other person (Comstock et al., 2008; Miller, 1986). Meanwhile, in the gaslighting relationships described in this study, survivors experienced the very opposite effects – *losing* an accurate sense of self and self-worth. RCT further suggests that the kind of relational disconnection and loss of self and self-worth that gaslighting survivors experience can spiral into further shame and isolation: "Disconnected from one another and ourselves in shame, we spiral into a sense of being beyond the pale, outside of the human community" (Jordan, 2017, p. 240; Miller, 1986). The survivors in this study who described gaslighting's harmful effects on their sense of self-worth and who reported that they began to withdraw from other relationships out of shame provided a preliminary depiction of how gaslighting can create this form of chronic disconnection and "condemned isolation," whereby one is "locked out of the possibility of human connection" (Comstock et al., 2008; Miller & Stiver, 1997). These RCT concepts clarify the ways that the epistemic harms of gaslighting contribute to profound loneliness and shame, strengthening harming partner' power and control in the relationship.

How Gaslighting Illuminates RCT: Epistemic Mutuality

RCT theorists describe mutual growth-fostering relationships as those in which "both people are open to being touched, moved, and changed by each other" (Jordan, 2017, p. 231), and the findings of this study make clear that gaslighting relationships are inherently *not* mutual growth-fostering relationships (Comstock et al., 2008; Miller, 2008). The specific manner in which they are not bears further discussion, though, and the following section explores this topic, illuminating a new dimension of mutual, growth-fostering relationships: *epistemic mutuality*.

As described above, harming partners may using gaslighting tactics to develop "power over" survivors, as they may using various other tactics. Yet the "power over" dynamics of gaslighting are unique, among varieties of IPV, in that they are specifically *epistemic* power dynamics, where one person (the gaslighter) claims greater authority *as a knower*, and the other person (the gaslightee) is manipulated into accepting this authority, leading them to doubt their own knowing abilities (Fricker, 2007; Spear, 2019, 2020; C. A. Stark, 2019). This imbalance in epistemic authority and credibility creates an "unlevel knowing field" where the gaslighter unfairly wields power over the gaslightee (Bailey, 2014). From this vantage point, a harming partner can, as described above, create a singular, totalizing view of reality, "judging" and "stratifying" the survivor's reality as less good (Jordan, 2017). It is this specifically epistemic "power over" dynamic that survivors in this study described as characterizing their gaslighting experiences.

The findings of this study, therefore, suggest a novel, previously unnamed component of mutual growth fostering relationships: that of epistemic mutuality. Epistemic mutuality in relationships, as proposed here for the first time, must be characterized by coexistence, curiosity, and respect for one another's ways of viewing and understanding the world. People in epistemically mutual relationships may seek to understand, compromise, and even change their point-of-view, as they recognize differing perceptions—or perhaps they sometimes simply coexist, "agreeing to disagree." Under this paradigm, where both people are respected as knowers, they are not competitors for a single hegemonic narrative. Instead, through mutual epistemic curiosity, differentiation, and exchange, they can build "power with" rather than "power over" each other, ultimately *increasing and enriching* their shared knowledge.

If one were to try to understand exactly *in what way* the gaslighting relationships described in this study were not mutual and growth-fostering, the answer would be a lack of epistemic mutuality. Epistemic mutuality may, in fact, be thought of as the *opposite* of gaslighting. Where one exists, the other cannot. Rather, epistemic mutuality, as defined above, is an antidote to gaslighting and a necessary component of any mutual, growth-fostering relationship.

Limitations

The findings of this study should be understood in the context of several limitations, namely that (a) the boundaries between gaslighting and non-gaslighting abuse were murky at times, (b) participants were only able to provide one side of an inherently interpersonal phenomenon, and (c) my own social location may have limited my ability to develop a complete and accurate picture of contextual factors in survivors' lives.

Definitional clarity. All of the accounts of gaslighting provided by participants in this study occurred in the context of other abuse tactics, including physical and sexual abuse, as well as other forms of psychological abuse. To extricate and shine a light specifically one on element of a pervasive pattern or environment of coercive control requires a somewhat artificial drawing of clear, bright lines, when, in fact, phenomena are co-occurring and mutually reinforcing. One abuse tactic, such as screaming insults, may have multiple simultaneous consequences: It can make a survivor doubt themselves *and also* feel frightened, trapped, powerless, etc. (Tolman, 1992). There were moments throughout the data collection and analysis of this study where the identification of the murky boundaries between gaslighting and gaslighting-adjacent phenomena became salient. As one example, some survivors described moments when their partners insulted

them, affecting their self-worth or self-esteem. These are related but separate concepts to self-doubt, so these instances were not considered gaslighting.

As a second example, there were moments in this study when survivors described heightened self-doubt, after the abusive relationship ended, because they questioned their own judgment for having gotten into or stayed in such a relationship. Here, survivor's describe epistemic self-doubt, but in response to the general reality-warping or crazy-making experience of IPV, not in response to a specific gaslighting tactic. These moments also were not coded as gaslighting.

As a third example, there were occasionally moment in interviews where survivors touched briefly upon a tactic that could have been a gaslighting tactic but did not describe resulting self-doubt. While survivors may have experienced self-doubt in some of these instances, if this was not clearly articulated in the interview, so was not codeable as gaslighting. These examples illustrate some of the challenges of imposing definitional and analytic clarity and structure on a phenomenon that is messy and intangible. All decisions about whether and how to code these gaslighting-adjacent phenomena were made through consensus with secondary coders and consultation with the chair of my dissertation committee (Graneheim & Lundman, 2004; Rossman & Rallis, 2003). Furthermore, reflective memo-writing was used in order to "systematically [document] the rationale, outcome, and evaluation of all actions" (Hall & Stevens, 1991, p. 19; Morrow, 2005).

One sided-ness. Another limitation of this study is its one-sided account of an interpersonal phenomenon. Although such accounts are typical in most IPV research, where survivors and harming partners are rarely both interviewed for the same study, the one-sidedness seemed particularly salient in the current study given its focus on disagreement about knowledge

and truth in relationships. We cannot know for sure the extent to which survivors' accounts of their relationships would align with their harming partners' accounts, were we to interview them, and—for that matter—where among these two accounts the "truth" lies. For instance, there may have been moments when harming partners denied having said something *and it is actually true* that they did not say it. Or perhaps a survivor whose partner, e.g. accused her of being a bad mother, was actually engaging in parenting practices that a substantial proportion of the population would agree are concerning.

However, fact-checking participants was not an aim of this study, nor is it an aim for qualitative research, in general. Rather, this study assumed survivors to be "truthtellers" and sought to understand their experiences from their own perspectives (Hall & Stevens, 1991). In fact, critical and feminist scholarship typically recognizes:

The validity of multiple realities woven by historical, contextual, and relational factors. Its assumptions predicate a perspectival quality to knowledge, which makes knowledge relative to the stance, environment, and experience of the knower. Thus the positivist-empiricist notion of a monolithic, true reality that can be accurately perceived if one somehow controls the vicissitudes of personal bias is rejected" (Hall & Stevens, 1991, p. 18; Morrow, 2005, 2007).

Therefore, the current study's focus on survivor's accounts of their own experiences, rather than on identifying a single objective truth, aligns with the intended critical, feminist research paradigm.

Researcher identity. While I did my best in this study to inquire about and understand all aspect of my participants' gaslighting experiences, it is possible that there were things that I failed to capture due to my own identities. For instance, though I asked questions about identities

and power dynamics that may have contributed to gaslighting and specifically probed around marginalized identities (e.g. for queer survivors, survivors of Color, etc.), none of the participants whom I interviewed endorsed racial identity or racialized experiences as an important factor in gaslighting (expect one, who explained that being half-white made her worry that she was exaggerating her struggles in order to have a greater personal narrative of oppression, as she imagined women of Color who are fully non-white might have.) It is possible that race simply was not salient for most participants; However, it is also possible that survivors of Color were reticent to share their racialized experiences with me as a white researcher, for instance because I might not understand or because of highly justified mistrust, based in the legacy of exploitative white researchers in this country (e.g. Sue & Sue, 1972; Tuck, 2009).

Implications

Despite the limitations discussed above, this study has a number of important implications, both for clinical practice and advocacy with gaslighting survivors and for future research on gaslighting. Both are discussed below.

Implications for Practice

As the first rigorous, empirical, psychological account of survivor experiences of gaslighting, the current study provides a number of noteworthy recommendations for therapists and advocates working with survivors. The findings of this study support (a) training and assessment to identify gaslighting and (b) the development of gaslighting interventions.

Training and assessment to identify gaslighting. Preliminary research suggest that gaslighting is a prevalent element of IPV (Warshaw et al., 2014), and the present study indicates just how severe and long-lasting the harms of gaslighting can be. Therapists, DV advocates, Title IX officers, CPS workers, and other professionals can better support DV survivors if they are

able to identify, name, and understand the complex and varied dynamics of gaslighting, described throughout this study. Therapists and advocates may be able to help survivors who are still in harming relationships to recognize and resist ongoing gaslighting tactics. They may also be able to help survivors who are no longer in harming relationships to re-establish self-trust. In order to provide these kinds of supports, therapists and advocates should receive training on common gaslighting tactics, impacts on self-doubt, and factors that hinder or promote resistance. Training materials on gaslighting should pay particular attention to the kinds of contextual factors that create fertile soil for gaslighting to thrive. This way, practitioners can help survivors to identify and—to the extent possible—address these exacerbating contextual factors. The development of a tool or measure for assessing the presence of gaslighting in relationships may also help therapists, advocates, and survivors to recognize and respond to gaslighting, when it might otherwise go undetected.

Interventions to re-establish self-trust. As well as developing therapist, advocate, and survivor abilities to recognize and assess gaslighting, interventions should also be developed to promote the re-establishment of self-trust among gaslighting survivors. These interventions may include groups for survivors and targeted behavioral interventions to help survivors identify and pursue their own interests and desires.

Support groups for survivors are already a prevalent and well-established component of DV services (Allen & Wozniak, 2010; Macy, Giattina, Sangster, Crosby, & Montijo, 2009), and scholars have previously suggested that they may be particularly beneficial for survivors of psychological abuse (Sackett & Saunders, 1999). The current study supports these findings as well, with a number of survivors describing the value of sharing their stories with and receiving validation from others who have had similar experiences and who can confirm that they are not

"crazy." DV organizations could develop gaslighting-specific support groups—or modules for exist general support groups—for gaslighting survivors who hope to focus on redeveloping confidence in their own perspectives and judgments, in the context of mutually supportive relationships.

Another intervention for redeveloping epistemic self-trust, following gaslighting, could involve supporting survivors in identifying desires, wishes, and goals that are truly *their own* and taking concrete steps towards realizing these goals. One advisory board member for this study, who identifies as both a clinician and gaslighting survivor, reflected during personal correspondence that the most healing experience she had after her gaslighting relationship ended was acting upon a longstanding desire to move across the country – not for anyone else, but simply for herself. For survivors who have become accustomed to ignoring or discounting their own intuitions or capitulating to another person's beliefs, encouragement and support not only to tune into their own priorities but then to take tangible steps to pursue them may be particularly powerful.

Implications for Research

This study has a number of implications for future research directions. Specifically, researchers should explore (a) the prevalence and correlates of gaslighting in IPV, and (b) how gaslighting unfolds in contexts other than IPV, and (c) how interpersonal experiences of gaslighting related to broader social movements and political contexts.

Establishing prevalence and correlates of gaslighting. As a qualitative descriptive interview study, the current study provides a rich and nuanced account of survivors' experiences of gaslighting in IPV, in their own voices. However, this study did not address the prevalence of gaslighting among IPV survivors. Studies of "mental health coercion" by the National Domestic

Violence Hotline have established the high prevalence of survivors who claim that their harming partners have called them "crazy" or tried to convince them that they were (Warshaw et al., 2014), but this is only one dimension of a more complex phenomenon. In order to establish the prevalence of gaslighting among IPV survivors, researchers should develop a gaslighting measure that assess both the presence of gaslighting tactics and resulting epistemic self-doubt. Scholars have already developed one gaslighting scale (Bhatti et al., 2021), but it does not reflect the critical two-part definition of gaslighting put forth in this study and has only been validated on a sample of Pakistani survivors, so may not be culturally relevant for U.S. samples. Once a two-part measure has been developed, it could then be used to establish the prevalence of gaslighting in a large, statistically powerful sample of IPV survivors.

A quantitative gaslighting measure that captures both tactics and epistemic self-doubt would also be valuable for further exploring risk factors and effects of gaslighting. In the current study, survivors described a range of negative implications of gaslighting, including mental health problems, but a quantitative study of gaslighting and mental health outcomes could specifically isolate the effects of gaslighting on mental health, controlling for the impacts of other aspects of IPV, to determine if and what the unique implications of gaslighting are.

Researchers could similarly explore risk factors for gaslighting, such as experiences of childhood trauma or lack of social supports.

Understanding gaslighting in other contexts. Future research studies should also expand the literature on gaslighting to contexts outside of IPV. Anecdotal accounts suggest that gaslighting occurs in a range of non-romantic relationships, including parents (Leve, 2017; Westover, 2018), therapists (Elise, 2015), and colleagues (Fraser, 2021). Similarly, there are a handful of accounts of gaslighting within the medical and legal systems (Epstein & Goodman,

2019; Pagán, 2018), and some scholars have begun to document the role of gaslighting tactics in maintaining forms of structural oppression, such as systemic racism (Davis & Ernst, 2019; Tobias & Joseph, 2018). However, the academic literature on gaslighting remains sparse and disjointed, employing a range of different definitions of gaslighting. Researchers should continue to develop the body of evidence for gaslighting in various interpersonal and institutional contexts. By fleshing out this literature and narrowing in on a more standardized conceptualization of gaslighting, scholars can begin to develop a clearer picture of similarities, differences, and patterns across these different contexts.

Gaslighting and social movements. In this current sociopolitical moment, gaslighting-related epistemic concerns are at the forefront of U.S. American consciousness from "fake news" and the Trump presidency to the #metoo movement and racial microaggressions (DeAngelis, 2009; Garber, 2019; Kitchener, 2018; Toews, 2020). The extent to which gaslighting in intimate partner violence and other interpersonal relationships is tied to broader social movements remains unclear and merits further study. For instance, in the year 2022, the right to have an abortion is under attack, challenging people's (often women's) right to assert that they *know* what is best for their own lives and bodies. Future research could explore whether and how experiences of being systemically discredited, for instance in regards to decisions about one's own body and healthcare, influences susceptibility to gaslighting and self-doubt interpersonally. It seems more than mere coincidence that gaslighting often seems to target women's credibility and knowing abilities, and so does restricting abortion rights (Loring, 1994; Sweet, 2019): Epistemic injustice has always targeted women in particular, and women's rights seem particularly under attack in the current sociopolitical moment.

Social movements concerning other marginalized identities may also relate to interpersonal experiences of gaslighting. For instance, racial microaggressions sometimes directly undermine the knowing abilities of people of Color or indirectly leave them questioning their own perceptions, wondering "wait, did they really just say that? Did that seem racist, or am I overreacting? Will I be accused of playing the 'race card,' if I say something?'" (Tschaepe, 2016). These racial dynamics have clear epistemic dimensions, as do current political debates about the extent to which African American history should be emphasized in U.S. public education (Hannah-Jones, 2021). These debates all concern epistemic questions such as whose version of history it true? Or who has the authority to decide which facts are important? Again, as with gender and abortion rights, perhaps people who experience systemic epistemic harm associated with marginalized identities may be more susceptible to self-doubt in the face of gaslighting. Perhaps resistance in interpersonal relationships or resistance at a systemic level through social activism may be mutually reinforcing. Future research should explore the relationship between interpersonal experiences of gaslighting and these kinds of systemic epistemic harm and resistance

Conclusion

In her essay, *Silence and Powerless Go Hand in Hand*, Rebecca Solnit writes: "Violence against women is often against our voices and our stories. It is a refusal of our voices, and of what a voice means: the right to self-determination, to participation, to consent or dissent; to live and participate, to interpret and narrate" (Solnit, 2017). Indeed, it has become increasingly apparent in recent years that the invisible forms of violence, such as those described by Solnit, are often the *most* painful and *most* destructive. Particularly in this current historical moment, when abortion rights in the U.S. are on the verge of being rolled back, violence against women's

voices and their rights to participation and self-determination seem acutely relevant. The accounts of gaslighting, shared by survivors in this study, resonate as well with Solnit's description of loss of voice or fundamental ability to interpret and narrate one's own life. This uniquely epistemic form of violence has been underrecognized and understudied, but the survivors who participated in this study have articulated the devastating impacts of feeling that one's own perceptions, memories, and core beliefs are unreliable. They have also demonstrated that the epistemic harms of gaslighting are not inevitable in IPV, that survivors *do* resist; they *do* insist on their own right to participate, interpret, and narrate; and others can support them in their resistance. The more we understand the reality-bending and crazy-making phenomenon of gaslighting, the better-equipped we are to support survivors in resisting this violence against their voices and stories.

Hermeneutic injustice is also a form of violence against voices, through the deprivation of words or concepts needed to make sense of one's experience (Fricker, 2007). This study is, in and of itself, an act of resistance to hermeneutic injustice: giving name, giving shape and clarity to the nebulous, ineffable, and existentially obliterating experience of gaslighting, which we have every reason to believe is a core component of *most* survivors' IPV stories. This study is perhaps not the first, but certainly an early and important step towards bringing this form of violence out of the darkness, where it festers. We are shining a light on gaslighting.

REFERENCES

- Abramson, K. (2014). Turning up the lights on gaslighting. *Philosophical Perspectives*, 28, 1–30.
- Aguilar, R. J., & Nightingale, N. N. (1994). The impact of specific battering experiences on the self-esteem of abused women. *Journal of Family Violence*. Germany: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01531967
- Alhabib, S., Nur, U., & Jones, R. (2010). Domestic Violence Against Women: Systematic Review of Prevalence Studies. *Journal of Family Violence*, *25*(4), 369–382. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-009-9298-4
- Allen, K. N., & Wozniak, D. F. (2010). The Language of Healing: Women's Voices in Healing and Recovering From Domestic Violence. *Social Work in Mental Health*, *9*(1), 37–55. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332985.2010.494540
- Alsaker, K., Moen, B. E., Morken, T., & Baste, V. (2018). Intimate partner violence associated with low quality of life a cross-sectional study. *BMC Women's Health*, *18*(1), 148. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12905-018-0638-5
- Asch, S. E. (1951). Effects of group pressure upon the modification and distortion of judgments. In H. Guetzkow (Ed.), *Groups, Leadership, and Men* (pp. 177–190). Pittsburgh: Carnegie Press.
- Bailey, A. (2014). The Unlevel Knowing Field: An Engagement with Dotson's Third-Order Epistemic Oppression. *Social Epistemology Review and Reply Collective*, *3*, 62–68.
- Barton, R., & Whitehead, J. A. (1969). The gas-light phenomenon. *Lancet*, *21*(1), 1258–1260. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(69)92133-3

- Bensley, L., Van Eenwyk, J., & Wynkoop Simmons, K. (2003). Childhood family violence history and women's risk for intimate partner violence and poor health. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *25*(1), 38–44. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0749-3797(03)00094-1
- Bhatti, M. M., Shuja, K. H., Aqeel, M., Bokhari, Z., Gulzar, S. N., Fatima, T., & Sama, M. (2021). Psychometric development and validation of victim gaslighting questionnaire (VGQ): across female sample from Pakistan. *International Journal of Human Rights in Healthcare*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJHRH-12-2020-0119
- Birrell, P. J., & Freyd, J. J. (2006). Betrayal Trauma. *Journal of Trauma Practice*, *5*(1), 49–63. https://doi.org/10.1300/J189v05n01_04
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802–1811. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Blumer, H. (1954). What is Wrong with Social Theory? *American Sociological Review*, *19*(1), 3–10. https://doi.org/10.2307/2088165
- Bonomi, A., Nichols, E., Kammes, R., & Green, T. (2017). Sexual violence and intimate partner violence in college women with a mental health and/or behavior disability. *Journal of Women's Health*, *27*(3), 359–368. https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2016.6279
- Bowen, G. A. (2006). Grounded theory and sensitizing concepts. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *5*(3), 12–23. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690600500304
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa

- Breiding, M. J., Basile, K. C., Smith, S. G., Black, M. C., & Mahendra, R. R. (2015). *Intimate partner violence surveillance: Uniform definitions and recommended data elements.*Version 2.0. Atlanta, GA. Retrieved from https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/31292
- Breiding, M. J., Chen, J., & Black, M. C. (2014). *Intimate partner violence in the United States*. Atlanta, GA.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). *The ecology of human development*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Burnett, K. A. (2020). Covert psychological abuse and the process of breaking free: A transformative mixed-methods study on female survivors of male partners. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses. Fuller Theological Seminary, Ann Arbor. Retrieved from https://search.proquest.com/docview/2418752474?accountid=9673
- Calef, V., & Weinshel, E. M. (1981). Some clinical consequences of introjection: Gaslighting.

 *Psychoanalytic Quarterly, 50, 44–66.
- Campbell, R., Goodman-Williams, R., & Javorka, M. (2019). A trauma-informed approach to sexual violence research ethics and open science. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *34*(23–24), 4765–4793. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260519871530
- Carney, M. M., & Barner, J. R. (2012). Prevalence of partner abuse: Rates of emotional abuse and control. *Partner Abuse*, *3*(3), 286–2012. https://doi.org/10.1891/1946-6560.3.3.286
- Carpenter, A. (2018). *Gaslighting America: Why we love it when Trump lies to us.* New York, New York: HarperCollins.
- Chang, V. N. (1996). *I just lost myself: Psychological abuse of women in marriage*. Westport, CT: Praeger.

- Charmaz, K. C. (2003). Grounded theory: Objectivist and constructivist methods. In N. Denzin & Linoln YS (Eds.), *Strategies for qualitatie inquiry* (2nd ed., pp. 249–291). Thousand Oaks, California.
- Charmaz, K. C. (2006). Constructing grounded theory: A practical guide through qualitative analysis. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications Inc.
- Chen, P.-H., Rovi, S., Vega, M., Jacobs, A., & Johnson, M. (2006). Screening for domestic violence in a predominantly Hispanic clinical setting. *Family Practice*, *22*, 617–623. https://doi.org/10.1093/fampra/cmi075
- Churchwell, S. (2018, February 17). Pushing back: Why it's time for women to rewrite the story. *The Guardian*. Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/books/2018/feb/17/pushing-back-why-its-time-for-women-to-rewrite-the-story
- Coker, A. L., Davis, K. E., Arias, I., Desai, S., Sanderson, M., Brandt, H. M., & Smith, P. H. (2002). Physical and mental health effects of intimate partner violence for men and women. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 23(4), 260–268. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0749-3797(02)00514-7
- Coker, A. L., Smith, P. H., Bethea, L., King, M. R., & McKeown, R. E. (2000). Physical health consequences of physical and psychological intimate partner violence. *Archives of Family Medicine*, *9*(5), 451–457.
- Collins, P. H. (1986). Learning from the outsider within: The sociological significance of Black feminist thought. *Social Problems*, *33*(6), S14–S32. https://doi.org/10.2307/800672
- Collins, P. H. (2000). Black feminist thought: Knowledge, consciousness, and the politics of empowerment (Revised te). New York, NY: Routledge.

- Comstock, D. L., Hammer, T. R., Strentzsch, J., Cannon, K., Parsons, J., & Salazar II, G. (2008).

 Relational-cultural theory: A framework for bridging relational, multicultural, and social justice competencies. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 86(3), 279–287.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6678.2008.tb00510.x
- Costa, B. M., Kaestle, C. E., Walker, A., Curtis, A., Day, A., Toumbourou, J. W., & Miller, P. (2015). Longitudinal predictors of domestic violence perpetration and victimization: A systematic review. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, *24*, 261–272. Retrieved from http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=psyc1 2&AN=2015-39380-020
- Crenshaw, K. (1991). Mapping the margins: Intersectionality, identity politics, and violence against women of Color. *Stanford Law Review*, *43*(6), 1241–1299. https://doi.org/10.2307/1229039
- Creswell, J. W. (1998). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five traditions*. Thousand Oaks, CA, US: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Cukor, G. (1944). Gaslight. Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer.
- Davis, A. M., & Ernst, R. (2019). Racial gaslighting. *Politics, Groups, and Identities*, 7(4), 761–774. https://doi.org/10.1080/21565503.2017.1403934
- Day, A., & Bowen, E. (2015). Offending competency and coercive control in intimate partner violence. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 20, 62–71.
 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2014.12.004
- DeAngelis, T. (2009). Unmasking "racial micro aggressions." Monitor on Psychology, 40(2), 42.
- Devries, K. M., Mak, J. Y. T., García-Moreno, C., Petzold, M., Child, J. C., Falder, G., ... Watts,

- C. H. (2013). The global prevalence of intimate partner violence against women. *Science*, 340(6140), 1527–1528. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1240937
- Dorpat, T. L. (1994). On the double whammy and gaslighting. *Psychoanalysis & Psychotherapy*, *11*(1), 91–96.
- Downe-Wamboldt, B. (1992). Content analysis: Method, applications, and issues. *Health Care for Women International*, *13*(3), 313–321. https://doi.org/10.1080/07399339209516006
- Dutton, M. A., & Goodman, L. A. (2005). Coercion in intimate partner violence: Toward a new conceptualization. *Sex Roles*, *52*(11), 743–756. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-005-4196-6
- Dutton, M. A., Goodman, L. A., & Bennett, L. (1999). Court-involved battered women's responses to violence: The role of psychological, physical, and sexual abuse. *Violence and Victims*. US: Springer Publishing.
- Eisenberg, F. I. (2011). "I could see colors again": How women end emotional abuse by accessing agency. The City University of New York.
- Elise, D. (2015). Unraveling: Betrayal and the loss of goodness in the analytic relationship.

 Psychoanalytic Dialogues, 25(5), 557–571.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10481885.2015.1077044
- Elo, S., & Kyngäs, H. (2008). The qualitative content analysis process. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 62(1), 107–115. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x
- Epstein, D., & Goodman, L. A. (2019). Discounting women: Doubting domestic violence survivors' credibility and dismissing their experiences. *University of Pennsylvania Law Review*, 167(2).
- Ferraro, K. J. (2006). Neither angels nor demons: Women, crime, and victimization. Lebanon,

- NH: Northeastern University Press.
- Ferraro, K. J., & Johnson, J. M. (1983). How women experience battering: The process of victimization. *Social Problems*, *30*(3), 325–339. https://doi.org/10.2307/800357
- Fett, S. E. (2015). 10 Things I wish I'd known about gaslighting. *Medium*. Retrieved from https://medium.com/@sheaemmafett/10-things-i-wish-i-d-known-about-gaslighting-22234cb5e407
- Follingstad, D. R., & DeHart, D. D. (2000). Defining Psychological Abuse of Husbands Toward Wives: Contexts, Behaviors, and Typologies. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *15*(9), 891–920. https://doi.org/10.1177/088626000015009001
- Fraser, S. (2021). The toxic power dynamics of gaslighting in medicine. *Canadian Family Physician*, 67(5), 367 LP 368. https://doi.org/10.46747/cfp.6705367
- Freyd, J. J. (1996). *Betrayal trauma: The logic of forgetting childhood abuse*. Cambridge, MA, US: Harvard University Press.
- Freyd, J. J. (2014, July 14). Official campus statistics for sexual violence mislead. *Aljazeera America*. Retrieved from http://america.aljazeera.com/opinions/2014/7/college-campus-sexualassaultsafetydatawhitehousegender.html
- Freyd, J. J., & Smidt, A. M. (2019). So you want to address sexual harassment and assault in your organization? Training is not enough; Education is necessary. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 20(5), 489–494. https://doi.org/10.1080/15299732.2019.1663475
- Fricker, M. (2007). Epistemic Injustice. New York, New York: Oxford University Press.
- Garber, M. (2019). The first lie of the Trump presidency. *The Atlantic*. Retrieved from https://www.theatlantic.com/politics/archive/2019/01/the-absurdity-of-donald-trumps-

- Gass, G. Z., & Nichols, W. C. (1988). Gaslighting: A marital syndrome. *Contemporary Family Therapy*, 10(1), 3–16.
- Glaser, B., & Strauss, A. L. (1967). *The discovery of grounded theory: Strategies for qualitative research*. Mill Valley, CA: Sociology Press.
- Goodman, L. A., Cattaneo, L., Thomas, K., Woulfe, J., Chong, S., & Smyth, K. (2014).
 Advancing domestic violence program evaluation: Development and validation of the
 Measure of Victim Empowerment Related to Safety (MOVERS). *Psychology of Violence*,
 5. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038318
- Goodman, L. A., Fauci, J. E., Hailes, H. P., & Gonzalez, L. D. (2019). Power with and power over: How domestic violence advocates manage their roles as mandated reporters. *Journal of Family Violence*, *35*(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-019-00040-8
- Goodman, L. A., Smyth, K. F., Borges, A. M., & Singer, R. (2009). When crises collide: How intimate partner violence and poverty intersect to shape women's mental health and coping? *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 10*(4), 306–329. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838009339754
- Govier, T. (1993). Self-Trust, Autonomy, and Self-Esteem. *Hypatia*, 8(1), 99–120. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/3810303
- Graneheim, U. H., & Lundman, B. (2004). Qualitative content analysis in nursing research: concepts, procedures and measures to achieve trustworthiness. *Nurse Education Today*, 24(2), 105–112. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2003.10.001
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1989). Fourth generation evaluation. *Fourth Generation Evaluation*. Thousand Oaks, CA, US: Sage Publications, Inc.

- Gutowski, E., & Goodman, L. A. (2020). "Like I'm invisible": IPV survivor-mothers' perceptions of seeking child custody through the family court system. *Journal of Family Violence*, *35*(5), 441–457. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-019-00063-1
- Hailes, H. P. (2018). A survivor's guide to custody in the Massachusetts Probate & Family Court. Retrieved from http://www.custodyawarenesscollaborative.com/toolkit
- Hailes, H. P., Colgan, C., Goodman, L. A., & Thomas, K. A. (n.d.). Sustaining long-term community-academic partnerships: Negotiating power and presence.
- Hall, J. M., & Stevens, P. E. (1991). Rigor in feminist research. *Advances in Nursing Science*, *13*(3), 16–29. https://doi.org/10.1097/00012272-199103000-00005
- Hamilton, P. (2015). Gas Light. London, UK: Samuel French.
- Hannah-Jones, N. (2021). The 1619 project: A new origin story. One World.
- Harvey, M. R. (1996). An ecological view of psychological trauma and trauma recovery. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, *9*(1), 3–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02116830
- Harvey, M. R. (2007). Towards an ecological understanding of resilience in trauma survivors: Implications for theory, research, and practice. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma*, *14*(1–2), 9–32. https://doi.org/10.1300/J146v14n01 02
- Hayes, S., & Jeffries, S. (2016). Romantic terrorism? An auto-ethnography of gendered psychological and emotional tactics in domestic violence. *Journal of Research in Gender Studies*, 6(2), 38–61. https://doi.org/10.22381/JRGS6220162
- Henning, K., & Klesges, L. M. (2003). Prevalence and characteristics of psychological abuse reported by court-involved battered women. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *18*(8), 857–871. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260503253878

- Hightower, E. (2017). An exploratory study of personality factors related to psychological abuse and gaslighting. William James College.
- Hsieh, H.-F., & Shannon, S. E. (2005). Three approaches to qualitative content analysis.

 *Qualitative Health Research, 15(9), 1277–1288.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732305276687
- Jacobson, N. S., & Gottman, J. M. (1998). When men batter women: New insights into ending abusive relationships. New York, NY: Simon & Schuster.
- Jordan, J. V. (2001). A relational-cultural model: Healing through mutual empathy. *Bulletin of the Menninger Clinic*, 65(1), 92–103. https://doi.org/10.1521/bumc.65.1.92.18707
- Jordan, J. V. (2017). Relational–cultural theory: The power of connection to transform our lives. *The Journal of Humanistic Counseling*, *56*(3), 228–243.

 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/johc.12055
- Kim, H., Sefcik, J. S., & Bradway, C. (2017). Characteristics of qualitative descriptive studies: A systematic review. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 40(1), 23–42. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.21768
- Kitchener, C. (2018). Larry Nassar and the impulse to doubt female pain. *The Atlantic*. Retrieved from https://www.theatlantic.com/health/archive/2018/01/larry-nassar-and-the-impulse-to-doubt-female-pain/551198/
- Lagdon, S., Armour, C., & Stringer, M. (2014). Adult experience of mental health outcomes as a result of intimate partner violence victimisation: A systematic review. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, *5*. https://doi.org/10.3402/ejpt.v5.24794
- Lammers, M., Ritchie, J., & Robertson, N. (2005). Women's experience of emotional abuse in

- intimate relationships. *Journal of Emotional Abuse*, *5*(1), 29–64. https://doi.org/10.1300/J135v05n01_02
- Lee, J. Y., Micol, R. L., & Davis, J. L. (2019). Intimate partner violence and psychological maladjustment: Examining the role of institutional betrayal among survivors. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 0886260519836783. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260519836783
- Leve, A. (2017). An abbreviated life: A memoir. New York, New York: HarperCollins.
- Lien, M. I., & Lorentzen, J. (2019). Consequences of intimate partner violence. In *Men's experiences of violence in intimate relationships* (pp. 83–102). Cham: Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-03994-3_5
- Lilly, M. M., London, M. J., & Bridgett, D. J. (2014). Using SEM to examine emotion regulation and revictimization in predicting PTSD symptoms among childhood abuse survivors.

 *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy. Lilly, Michelle M.:

 Northern Illinois University, Psychology-Computer Science Bldg., DeKalb, IL, US, 60115, mlilly1@niu.edu: Educational Publishing Foundation. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0036460
- Loring, M. T. (1994). *Emotional abuse*. New York, NY, US: Lexington Books/Macmillan.
- Lund, C. A., & Gardiner, A. Q. (1977). The gaslight phenomenon -- An institutional variant.

 British Journal of Psychiatry, 131, 533–534.
- Machado, C. M. (2019). *In the dream house: A memoir*. Minneapolis, MN: Graywolf Press.
- Macy, R. J., Giattina, M., Sangster, T. H., Crosby, C., & Montijo, N. J. (2009). Domestic violence and sexual assault services: Inside the black box. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 14(5), 359–373. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2009.06.002
- Marshall, L. L. (1999). Effects of men's subtle and overt psychological abuse on low-income

- women. Violence and Victims, 14(1), 69-88. https://doi.org/10.1891/0886-6708.14.1.69
- McLaughlin, J., O'Carroll, R. E., & O'Connor, R. C. (2012). Intimate partner abuse and suicidality: A systematic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *32*(8), 677–689. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2012.08.002
- Mechanic, M. B., Weaver, T. L., & Resick, P. A. (2008). Mental Health Consequences of
 Intimate Partner Abuse: A Multidimensional Assessment of Four Different Forms of Abuse.
 Violence Against Women, 14(6), 634–654. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801208319283
- Miller, J. B. (1976). Toward a new psychology of women. Boston, MA: Beacon Press.
- Miller, J. B. (1986). What do we mean by relationships? (Stone Center Working Paper Series). Wellesley, MA.
- Miller, J. B. (1991). The development of women's sense of self. In *Women's growth in connection* (pp. 11–26). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Miller, J. B. (2008). How Change Happens: Controlling Images, Mutuality, and Power. *Women & Therapy*, *31*(2–4), 109–127. https://doi.org/10.1080/02703140802146233
- Miller, J. B., & Stiver, I. P. (1995). *Relational imags and their meanings in psychotherapy* (Stone Center Working Paper Series). Wellesley, MA.
- Miller, J. B., & Stiver, I. P. (1997). The healing connection: How women form relationships in therapy and in life. Boston, MA: Beacon Press.
- Moore, T. M., Stuart, G. L., Meehan, J. C., Rhatigan, D., Hellmuth, J. C., & Keen, S. M. (2008).

 Drug abuse and aggression between intimate partners: A meta-analytic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*. Moore, Todd M.: Department of Psychology, University of Tennessee-Knoxville, Austin Peay Building, Knoxville, TN, US, 37996, tmoore24@utk.edu: Elsevier

- Science. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2007.05.003
- Moreno-Manso, J. M., Blázquez-Alonso, M., García-Baamonde, M. E., Guerrero-Barona, E., & Pozueco-Romero, J. M. (2014). Gender as an explanatory factor of psychological abuse in dating couples. *Journal of Social Service Research*, 40(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1080/01488376.2013.842951
- Morrow, S. L. (2005). Quality and trustworthiness in qualitative research in counseling psychology. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *52*(2), 250–260. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.250
- Morrow, S. L. (2007). Qualitative research in counseling psychology: Conceptual foundations. *The Counseling Psychologist*, *35*(2), 209–235. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011000006286990
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry.

 *Qualitative Health Research, 25(9), 1212–1222.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315588501
- Murphy, C. M., & Hoover, S. A. V. (1999). Measuring Emotional Abuse in Dating Relationships as a Multifactorial Construct. *Violence and Victims*, *14*(1). https://doi.org/10.1891/0886-6708.14.1.39
- O'Leary, D. K. (1999). Psychological abuse: A variable deserving critical attention in domestic violence. *Violence and Victims*, *14*(1), 3–23.
- Orava, T. A., McLeod, P. J., & Sharpe, D. (1996). Perceptions of control, depressive symptomatology, and self-esteem of women in transition from abusive relationships.

 *Journal of Family Violence, 11(2), 167–186. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02336668
- Pagán, C. N. (2018, May 3). When Doctors Downplay Women's Health Concerns. New York

- *Times*. Retrieved from https://www.nytimes.com/2018/05/03/well/live/when-doctors-downplay-womens-health-concerns.html
- Pasveer, K. A. (1997). *Self-trust: Definition and creation of the self-trust questionaire*.

 University of Calgary. https://doi.org/10.11575/PRISM/20056
- Pence, E., & Paymar, M. (1986). Power and control: Tactics of men who batter. Duluth, MN.
- Pence, E., & Paymar, M. (1993). *Education groups for men who batter*. New York, NY: Springer Publishing Company.
- Plichta, S. B. (2004). Intimate partner violence and physical health consequences: Policy and practice implications. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *19*(11), 1296–1323. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260504269685
- Portnow, K. E. (1996). *Dialogues of doubt: The psychology of self-doubt and emotional gaslighting in adult women and men.* Harvard University.
- Rabin, R. F., Jennings, J. M., Campbell, J. C., & Bair-Merritt, M. H. (2009). Intimate partner violence screening tools: a systematic review. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *36*(5), 439-445.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2009.01.024
- Rennie, D. L. (2004). Reflexivity and person-centered counseling. *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, 44(2), 182–203. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022167804263066
- Roberts, T., & Carter Andrews, D. (2013). A critical race analysis of the gaslighting against African American teachers: Considerations for recruitment and retention. In D. J. C. Adrews & F. Tuitt (Eds.), *Contesting the myth of the post racial era: The continued significance of race in U.S. education*. New York, NY: Peter Lang. https://doi.org/10.13140/2.1.4893.1200

- Rossman, G., & Rallis, S. (2003). *Learning in the field: An introduction to qualitative research*. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781071802694
- Sackett, L., & Saunders, D. (1999). The impact of different forms of psychological abuse on battered women. *Violence and Victims*, *14*, 105–117.
- Sandelowski, M. (1993). Rigor or rigor mortis: The problem of rigor in qualitative research revisited. *Advances in Nursing Science*, *16*(2).
- Sandelowski, M. (2000). Whatever happened to qualitative description? *Research in Nursing & Health*, 23(4), 334–340. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-240X(200008)23:4<334::AID-NUR9>3.0.CO;2-G
- Sandelowski, M. (2010). What's in a name? Qualitative description revisited. *Research in Nursing & Health*, *33*(1), 77–84. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.20362
- Sarkis, S. M. (2018). *Gaslighting: Recognize manipulative and emotionally abusive people--and break free*. New York, New York: Da Capo Press.
- Schumacher, J. A., Smith Slep, A. M., & Heyman, R. E. (2001). Risk factors for male-to-female partner psychological abuse. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, *6*(2), 255–268. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S1359-1789(00)00025-2
- Shakil, A., Donald, S., Sinacore, J., & Krepcho, M. (2005). Validation of the HITS domestic violence screening tool with males. *Family Medicine*, *37*, 193–198.
- Sherin, K., Sinacore, J., Li, X., Zitter, R., & Shakil, A. (1998). HITS: A short domestic violence screening tool for use in a family practice setting. *Family Medicine*, *30*, 508–512.
- Sleutel, M. R. (1998). Women's experiences of abuse: A review of qualitative research. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, *19*(6), 525–539. https://doi.org/10.1080/016128498248827

- Smith, C. G., & Sinanan, K. (1972). The "gaslight phenomenon" reappears. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 120, 685–686.
- Smith, C. P., & Freyd, J. J. (2014). Institutional betrayal. *American Psychologist*, 69(6), 575–587. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037564
- Smith, P. H., Tessaro, I., & Earp, J. A. L. (1995). Women's experience with battering: A conceptualization from qualitative research. *Women's Health Issues*, *5*(173–182). https://doi.org/10.1016/1049-3867(95)00615-X
- Smith, S., Chen, J., Basile, K., Gilber, L., Mierrick, M., Patel, N., ... Jain, A. (2017). *The National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey (NISVS): 2010-2012 State Report*.

 Atlanta, GA.
- Snyder, B. L. (2018). Women with dissociative identity disorder who experience intimate partner violence. *Journal of Psychosocial Nursing and Mental Health Services*, *56*(5), 26–32. https://doi.org/10.3928/02793695-20180212-06
- Sokoloff, N. J., & Dupont, I. (2005). Domestic violence at the intersections of race, class, and gender: Challenges and contributions to understanding violence against marginalized women in diverse communities. *Violence Against Women*, *11*(1), 38–64. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801204271476
- Solnit, R. (2017). Silence and powerlessness often go hand in hand women's voices must be heard. *The Guardian*.
- Sparks, E. (1998). Against all odds: Resistance and resilience in African-American welfare mothers. In C. Garcia Coll, J. Surrey, & K. Weingarten (Eds.), *Mothering against the odds*. New York, NY: Guilford Press.

- Spear, A. D. (2019). Epistemic dimensions of gaslighting: peer-disagreement, self-trust, and epistemic injustice. *Inquiry*, 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1080/0020174X.2019.1610051
- Spear, A. D. (2020). Gaslighting, Confabulation, and Epistemic Innocence. *Topoi*, *39*(1), 229–241. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11245-018-9611-z
- Stanley-Becker, I. (2018, November 16). "Toxic" is Oxford Dictionaries' 2018 word of the year. "Gaslighting" and "techlash" are among runners-up. *The Washington Post*. Retrieved from https://www.washingtonpost.com/nation/2018/11/16/toxic-is-oxford-dictionaries-word-year-gaslighting-techlash-are-among-runners-up/
- Stark, C. A. (2019). Gaslighting, Misogyny, and Psychological Oppression. *The Monist*, 102(2), 221–235. https://doi.org/10.1093/monist/onz007
- Stark, E. (2007). *Coercive control: How men entrap women in personal life*. New York, New York: Oxford University Press.
- Stern, R. (2018). The Gaslight Effect. New York, New York: Harmony Books.
- Stöckl, H., Devries, K., Rotstein, A., Abrahams, N., Campbell, J., Watts, C., & Moreno, C. G. (2013). The global prevalence of intimate partner homicide: a systematic review. *The Lancet*, *382*(9895), 859–865. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61030-2
- Straight, E. S., Harper, F. W. K., & Arias, I. (2003). The impact of partner psychological abuse on health behaviors and health status in college women. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*. US: Sage Publications. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260503254512
- Straus, M. A., Hamby, S. L., Boney-McCoy, S., & Sugarman, D. B. (1996). The Revised Conflict Tactics Scales (CTS2): Development and Preliminary Psychometric Data. *Journal*

- of Family Issues, 17(3), 283–316. https://doi.org/10.1177/019251396017003001
- Strauss, A. L., & Corbin, J. M. (1998). Basics of qualitative research: Techniques and procedures for developing grounded theory. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage Publications Inc.
- Street, A. E., & Arias, I. (2001). Psychological abuse and posttraumatic stress disorder in battered women: Examining the roles of shame and guilt. *Violence and Victims*, *16*(1), 65–2001. https://doi.org/10.1891/0886-6708.16.1.65
- Sue, D. W., & Sue, S. (1972). Ethnic minorities: Resistance to being researched. *Professional Psychology*. US: American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0021487
- Surrey, J. L. (1991). The "self-in-relation": A theory of women's development. In *Women's* growth in connection (pp. 51–66). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Sweet, P. L. (2019). The sociology of gaslighting. *American Sociological Review*, 84(5), 851–875. https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122419874843
- Taft, C. T., O'Farrell, T. J., Torres, S. E., Panuzio, J., Monson, C. M., Murphy, M., & Murphy,
 C. M. (2006). Examining the correlates of psychological aggression among a community
 sample of couples. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 20(4), 581–588.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.20.4.581
- The Brookline Center for Community Mental Health. (2020). Retrieved from https://www.brooklinecenter.org/
- The Combahee River Collective statement. (2015). the Library of Congress. Retrieved from https://www.loc.gov/item/lcwaN0028151/
- Thomas, K., Goodman, L., Vainer, E., Heimel, D., Barkai, R., & Collins-Gousby, D. (2018). "No

- sacred cows or bulls": The story of the Domestic Violence Program Evaluation and Research Collaborative (DVPERC). *Journal of Family Violence*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-018-9978-z
- Tobias, H., & Joseph, A. (2018). Sustaining systemic racism through psychological gaslighting:

 Denials of racial profiling and justifications of carding by police utilizing local news media.

 Race and Justice, 10(4), 424–455. https://doi.org/10.1177/2153368718760969
- Toews, R. (2020). Deepfakes are going to wreak havoc on society. We are not prepared. *Forbes*. Retrieved from https://www.forbes.com/sites/robtoews/2020/05/25/deepfakes-are-going-to-wreak-havoc-on-society-we-are-not-prepared/
- Tolman, R. M. (1989). The development of a measure of psychological maltreatment of women by their male partners. *Violence and Victims*, *4*(3), 159–177. https://doi.org/10.1891/0886-6708.4.3.159
- Tolman, R. M. (1992). Psychological abuse of women. In R. T. Ammerman & M. Hersen (Eds.), Wiley series on personality processes. Assessment of family violence: A clinical and legal sourcebook (pp. 291–310). John Wiley & Sons.
- Tolman, R. M. (1999). The validation of the Psychological Maltreatment of Women Inventory. *Violence and Victims*, *14*(1), 25–37.
- Tolman, R. M. (2011). Impact of intimate partner violence on economic wellbeing.
- Tormoen, M. (2019). Gaslighting: How pathological labels can harm psychotherapy clients. *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022167819864258
- Tschaepe, M. (2016). Addressing Microaggressions and Epistemic Injustice: Flourishing from the Work of Audre Lorde. *Essays in the Philosophy of Humanism*, 24(1).

- Tuck, E. (2009). Suspending Damage: A Letter to Communities. *Harvard Educational Review*, 79(3), 409–428. https://doi.org/10.17763/haer.79.3.n0016675661t3n15
- Tummala-Narra, P. (2007). Conceptualizing trauma and resilience across diverse contexts: A multicultural perspective. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma*, *14*(1–2), 33–53. https://doi.org/10.1300/J146v14n01 03
- Vaismoradi, M., Turunen, H., & Bondas, T. (2013). Content analysis and thematic analysis: Implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. *Nursing & Health Sciences*, *15*(3), 398–405. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/nhs.12048
- Waldman, K. (2016, April). From theater to therapy to Twitter, the erie history of gaslighting. Slate. Retrieved from https://slate.com/human-interest/2016/04/the-history-of-gaslighting-from-films-to-psychoanalysis-to-politics.html
- Walker, L. E. (1979). The battered woman. New York, NY: Harper & Row.
- Walker, M. (1999). *Race, self, and society: Relational challenges in a culture of disconnection* (Work in Progress No. 85). Wellesley, MA.
- Walker, M., & Miller, J. B. (2001). *Racial images and relational possibilities* (Work in Progress No. TP2). Wellesley, MA.
- Warshaw, C., Lyon, E., Philips, H., Bland, P., & Hooper, M. (2014). *Mental health and*substance use coercion survey: Report on findings from the National Center on Domestic

 Violence, Trauma & Mental Health and the National Domestic Violence Hotline. Chicago,

 IL.
- Warshaw, C., & Tinnon, E. (2018). Coercion related to mental health and substance use in the context of intimate partner violence: A toolkit for screening, assessment, and brief

- counseling in primary care and behavioral health settings. Chicago, IL.
- Westover, T. (2018). *Educated*. New York, New York: Random House.
- Whiting, J. B., Oka, M., & Fife, S. T. (2012). Appraisal distortions and intimate partner violence: Gender, power, and interaction. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, *38*(s1), 133–149. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-0606.2011.00285.x
- Widom, C. S., Czaja, S. J., & Dutton, M. A. (2008). Childhood victimization and lifetime revictimization. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 32(8), 785–796.
 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2007.12.006
- Williamson, E. (2010). Living in the world of the domestic violence perpetrator: Negotiating the unreality of coercive control. *Violence Against Women*, *16*(12), 1412–1423. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801210389162
- Willis, D., Sullivan-Bolyai, S., Knafl, K., & Cohen, M. (2016). Distinguishing features and similarities between descriptive phenomenological and qualitative description research.

 Western Journal of Nursing Research, 38. https://doi.org/10.1177/0193945916645499
- Young, A., & Young, E. (2019). Should we trust teachers or algorithms? Paradoxical effects of algorithmic evaluations for gaslighting victims. In *Americas Conference on Information Sysmtems (AMCIS)*.

APPENDICES

Appendix A: Screening Protocol

Thank you for your interest in participating in this study. I have a few questions to ask you so I can tell whether you might be a good fit for the study.												
Firstly, are you over 18 years old?												
And would you feel comfortable doing at 45–90-minute interview in English?												
Great, thank you. In this study, we are interested in talking to people who have experienced domestic violence or been harmed by a romantic partner, so these next questions are about ways that a romantic partner may have harmed you in the past:												
How often did your partner?	Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Fairly Often	Frequently							
1. Physically hurt you?	1	2	3	4	5							
2. Insult you or talk down to you?	1	2	3	4	5							
3. Threaten you with harm?	1	2	3	4	5							
4. Scream or curse at you?	1	2	3	4	5							
Did any of these behaviors happen in Are you currently in a relationship we Do you feel ready and able to talk at	ith some	eone who	is physically h									
romantic partner?												

Appendix B: Interview Protocol

Introduction

Thank you so much for taking the time to talk with me today. I'm going to be asking you some questions about any experiences you have had of feeling like you couldn't trust yourself, while you were in a relationship with someone who harmed you. I know that this can be a hard topic to talk about, though, and, we have only just met, so I'll start by sharing a little bit about myself: I'm a graduate student in Boston, studying mental health and violence in relationships. I also work as a therapist part time, and I live with my partner and a very fluffy cat. Do you have any questions about me, before I start asking some questions to get to know you?

Demographic questions

T	T 11	1.1	41 1		• 1		1	1 .	1 4
Hiret	LWOULD	TIVE TO 0	go through	some a	11107 0116	etione to	learn a	hit more	about vou
ı mot,	1 WOUIU	IIKC to ;	go unougn	Some q	uick que	suons to	icarii a	on more	abbut you.

- How did you hear about this study? What program? _____
- Are you receiving domestic abuse services now?
 - o If yes, what type?
- What is your current living situation? I'm thinking about who you live with, and where you live.
- Do you have children?
 - o If yes: How many children do you have? What are their ages?
- What is your race/ethnicity?
- How old are you?
- What is your gender identity?
- How would you describe your sexual orientation?
- How would you describe where you live now Would you call it city, country, or suburbs?
- Are you currently working?
 - o If yes, what do you do?
 - o If yes, is your job part time or full-time?
- What is the highest level of education you have finished so far?
- Are you currently a student?
 - o If yes, are you a part time or full-time student?
- Where were you born?
 - o If outside of U.S.: How long have you been in the United States (U.S.)?
- What language(s) do you feel most comfortable speaking?
- Are you in a relationship with a partner now?
 - o If yes: Is this the one that has caused harm in the past? Or was that someone else?

Experience of gaslighting in IPV

For the rest of the interview, I will be asking about a partner who harmed you. I'm particularly interested in understanding how that relationship impacted your trust in yourself. Have you had more than one harmful romantic relationships in the past ten years?

[If yes] Please answer the following questions thinking about the relationship that impacted your self-trust the most. At the end of the interview, there will also be time to share anything you would like about other harmful romantic relationships.

- Can you give me a made-up name I can use to identify this person? Alias:
- When were you with this person? (how many years ago)
 - o And for how long?

So, thinking about this particular harmful relationship, I am interested to know about any experiences you may have had of feeling hurt mentally or emotionally by things they did or said.

- In particular, did you ever have the feeling that you couldn't trust some aspect of your experience? Like your own memory, your own eyes, or your own judgment about things? [Probe, if needed: Some people talk about feeling like they are "going crazy."]
- Can you tell me more about that feeling?
 - Was it something you felt constantly or occasionally?
 - How did it affect you? [Probe: Something you felt in your body? Mental health? Relationships? Self-Esteem?]
- Were there specific things your partner would say or do that made you feel that way?
 - o What were they?
- Can you tell me a specific story of a time when this happened or it felt really bad? [Probe: Details- who, what, when, where]
- I think that every one of us has strengths that we draw on, in the face of really difficult situations. What helped you get through these experiences?

Ecological factors in gaslighting

I'm curious about what your relationships with other people were like, while you were going through this experience of feeling like you could not trust yourself, and also afterwards. [Note: Here and throughout, uses interviewee's own language around mistrust, discrediting, feeling crazy, etc.]

- Was there anyone you were talking about it with?
 - o Who?
 - o What did you talk about with them?
- Did friends or family do or say anything that made you feel worse/more "crazy"/etc. [use interviewee's language]

I'm also interested to know if you had any contact with big systems like the courts, medical system, or child protection, while you were in this harmful relationship.

- What was that interaction like?
- Was there any part of the interaction that made you feel worse/more "crazy"/etc. [use interviewee's language]

Just to frame these next few questions, I think we all have messages that we get about ourselves growing up. They can be messages we get from our families, like "oh, you are the talkative one" or "we are a really musical family." They can also come from communities we are part of or from the broader culture, like TV or the news, and sometimes these broader messages are based on identities we have, like "Black people are like this", "Women are like that", "Queer people

are like this." My next set of questions of questions is about how these kind of messages about who you are might have impacted your experiences.

- Can you think of any messages that you got from the larger culture, like messages you received from TV, the news, or religious institutions that you feel like made it harder to trust yourself, when [harming partner] was harming you?
 - O po you feel like any of these messages are related to particular parts of your identity [Probe potentially salient identities: E.g. As a Black woman? As an immigrant? As a queer person?]
 - Were there messages from your family about who you are that may have made it harder to trust yourself?
 - What about messages from other people you knew growing up, like friends, teachers, or neighbors?
- Now I'm wondering about messages that may have helped you hold onto self-trust, when things were hard. Can you think of any messages that you got from the larger culture about who you are that helped you hold on to your self-trust, challenge [harming partner], or regain trust later?
 - Olid these messages related to any particular parts of your identity [Probe potentially salient identities: E.g. As a Black woman? As an immigrant? As a queer person?]
 - What about messages from your family or community about who you are that helped you hold on to self-trust?

[Pause to check in with participant.]

Experience of healing from gaslighting

It sounds like there were some times in your relationship when you really felt like you couldn't trust yourself.

- How do you think or feel about those situations now?
- Do you feel like you trust yourself more now, or do you still feel "crazy" in the same way you did in that relationship?
 - o *If trusts more...* What do you think has changed or helped you to trust yourself more?
 - o *If still feels "crazy"* ... Can you think of anything that has made it hard to start trusting yourself again? What, if anything, do you think would help?
- Can you give me a specific example of a recent time when you did/didn't trust yourself in a way that felt similar/different to when you were with your partner?

Recommendations/Hopes

The last few questions I have for you are about changes you would like to see and your hopes for the future.

- Thinking back on your experience of feeling "crazy" in your relationship and how you have felt then, what do you wish that other people in your life had said or done differently?
 - While the behavior was still going on?

- o After it ended?
- What do you wish that systems had done differently?
 - o While the behavior was still going on?
 - o After it ended?
- When you think about your own journey of self-trust, what do you hope for in the future?
 - What do you think will help you in this journey?
- Do you have any other recommendations about what people or systems could do to better to support others who are in similar situations to the one you were in?

Is there anything else that we haven't talked about yet that you think would be important for me to know or other parts of your experience that you would like to share?

Do you know anyone else who you think might be interested in talking with me about their experiences?

Thank you so much for all that you have shared. I have learned a lot from this conversation, and I am so grateful for your time and willingness to talk with me about your experiences. I want to check in and see how you are feeling after our conversation?

If you would like to talk with someone further about anything that this interview has brought up for you, please call the National Domestic Violence Hotline at 800-799-SAFE (7233). You can call them at any time.

If the participant seems at all distressed, offer to stay on the call with them until they feel calm enough to end the call.

Appendix C: Table of Clusters, Categories, and Codes

Cluster 1: The Gaslighting Process

Harming partners used a range of gaslighting tactics

Denying or falsely claiming that something happened

Mischaracterizing the survivor

Coercing the survivor to adopt their perspective

Manipulating the physical environment

Drawing in other people

Drawing in formal systems

Gaslighting tactics targeted multiple domains

Memory

Interpretation of harmful or abusive behavior

Interpretation of other experiences

Mental status

Fundamental traits

Abilities in specific roles

Value to other people

Survivors experienced self-doubt in one or more domains

Memory

Interpretation of harmful or abusive behavior

Interpretation of other experiences

Mental status

Fundamental traits

Abilities in specific roles

Value to other people

Survivors experienced varying degrees of self-doubt

Fully adopting the harming partner's narratives

Recognizing and resisting the harming partner's narratives

Going back and forth about the validity of the harming partner's narratives

Survivors' self-doubt led to harmful corollaries

Emotional distress

Mental health problems

Physical health problems

Devaluation of the self

Greater dependence on others

Failure to reach out for support

Cluster 2: Long-Term Responses to Gaslighting

Survivors experienced lingering self-doubt

Memory

Interpretation of events

Mental status

Survivors developed strategies for managing self-doubt and its impacts

Survivors regained self-trust

Memory

Interpretation of events

Mental status

Abilities in specific roles

Cluster 3: Ecological Influences on Survivor Self-Doubt

Individual factors

Lingering impacts of past trauma

Physical vulnerabilities

Harming partner's charm or charisma

Learning about or identifying abusive relationships (resistance counter-example)

Interpersonal factors: Harming partners

Threatened or actual physical violence

Sexual violence

Surveillance

Financial abuse

Isolation

Demeaning survivor's worth

Threatened or actual harm to others

Over the top attention or affection

Triggering extreme emotional reactions

Interpersonal factors: Social supports

Family and friends went along with gaslighting narratives

Family and friends provided valuable counter-narratives (resistance counter-

example)

Survivors connected with others who had similar experiences (resistance counter-

example)

Interpersonal/Institutional factors: System players

Therapists and advocates went along with gaslighting narratives

Police went along with gaslighting narratives

Therapists and advocates provided valuable counter-narratives (resistance counter-

example)

Ideological factors

Social messages about gender

Social messages about age or experience

Social messages about SES or education level

Social messages about immigration status

Social messages about racial identity